COMING IN FROM THE COLD: THE EXPERIENCE OF GROUP COACHING AS A SETTING FOR ENTREPRENEURIAL LEARNING AND CHANGE

A dissertation submitted

by

EREK J. OSTROWSKI

to

FIELDING GRADUATE UNIVERSITY

In partial fulfillment of the

requirements for the degree of

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

in

ORGANIZATIONAL DEVELOPMENT AND CHANGE

This dissertation has been accepted for

the faculty of Fielding Graduate University by

Steven Schapiro, EdD Committee Chair

1 cleanin

Committee Members:

Patrice E. Rosenthal, PhD, Faculty Reader Frederick Steier, PhD, Faculty Reader Julie S. Huffaker, PhD, Student Reader Claire M. Leitch, DPhil, External Examiner ProQuest Number: 10746488

All rights reserved

INFORMATION TO ALL USERS

The quality of this reproduction is dependent upon the quality of the copy submitted.

In the unlikely event that the author did not send a complete manuscript and there are missing pages, these will be noted. Also, if material had to be removed, a note will indicate the deletion.



ProQuest 10746488

Published by ProQuest LLC (2018). Copyright of the Dissertation is held by the Author.

All rights reserved.

This work is protected against unauthorized copying under Title 17, United States Code Microform Edition © ProQuest LLC.

ProQuest LLC.
789 East Eisenhower Parkway
P.O. Box 1346
Ann Arbor, MI 48106 – 1346

Coming in from the Cold: The Experience of Group Coaching as a Setting for Entrepreneurial Learning and Change

by

Erek J. Ostrowski

Abstract

The challenges of entrepreneurship make learning integral to the entrepreneurial process. However, many entrepreneurs work in relative isolation and lack opportunities to engage with peers in ways that promote meaningful reflection and learning. This study explores the experience of group coaching as a setting for meaningful learning and change in entrepreneurs. Scholars studying similar group settings have shown that social processes, including those related to peer learning and identity work, contribute to entrepreneurial learning (EL) and identity construction in important ways. Still, relatively little is known about how these social processes unfold or about the different types of social contexts in which EL occurs. This study advances the literature through a narrative exploration of eight entrepreneurs' experiences navigating challenges related to entrepreneurial learning and identity in the social context of their coaching groups.

Data collection was accomplished via one-on-one, semi-structured narrative interviews with each participant. The data were interpreted using separate and sequential narrative/performative and thematic analytical methods to produce an in-depth, multi-dimensional understanding of the data. Participants' stories depicted group coaching as a viable context for supporting entrepreneurial learning and change on multiple levels. In addition, the study findings contribute to an understanding of *where* or *under what conditions* EL unfolds within group coaching, and *how* or *in what ways* participant entrepreneurs

experience learning in this context. Finally, the relational context of the interview itself was found to contribute to participants' meaning making, directly influencing their constructions of past events and their meaning. The study presents practical implications for coaches, coaching educators, and entrepreneurs, as well as recommendations for future research.

KEYWORDS: ENTREPRENEURSHIP, ENTREPRENEURIAL LEARNING,
ENTREPRENEURIAL IDENTITY, IDENTITY DEVELOPMENT, COACHING, GROUP
COACHING, CRITICAL REFLECTION, EXPERIENTIAL LEARNING, SOCIAL
LEARNING, NARRATIVE INQUIRY, NARRATIVE ANALYSIS.

Copyright by

EREK J. OSTROWSKI

2018

Acknowledgements

Writing a dissertation can at times feel like a solitary process, but without the care and dedication of a special community of mentors, friends, and co-conspirators, it simply would not be possible. In my case, several extraordinary individuals helped coax, encourage, cajole, and carry me, sometimes kicking and screaming, toward the finish line.

I am profoundly grateful to each of my committee members. Steven Schapiro, you were the perfect chair for me. In your quiet and masterful way, you created a beautiful space of inquiry—not just for this research, but also for my development as a scholar-practitioner. Patrice Rosenthal, you provided clarity and distinction at all the most critical points. Your influence helped me recognize and claim my voice as a researcher and an emerging scholar. Fred Steier, you taught me to keep re-examining my understanding of the world and to embrace the products of that examination, no matter how inconvenient! Julie Huffaker, my wise friend. Partnering with you elevated this work in innumerable ways. I continue to learn and benefit from your example. Claire Leitch, I couldn't have asked for a more competent and discerning external examiner. Your insight was invaluable.

Many others in the Fielding community were generous with their support. I'm particularly grateful to Keith Melville, my faculty mentor and doctoral competency guru, without whom every stage of this journey would have been so much more difficult. Also, my amazing Fielding cohort, the Green Lanterns, whose steady light gave me the courage and strength of will to persevere.

I wish to thank each of the coaches who were generous enough to grant me access to their group coaching clients. Without you, this study wouldn't have been possible at all. Research grants from the Institute of Coaching and Fielding Graduate University also helped make this study possible, and for that I am grateful.

Nobody has been more important to me in the pursuit of this project than my family and friends. My good friend, Philip Bundman, you had more to do with this than you probably realize. Our many conversations on weekday mornings helped make the journey itself a profound and treasured learning experience. To my parents, Elaine and Joe Ostrowski, thank you for always believing in me and for granting me the freedom to follow my own path.

Finally, words cannot express the love, admiration, and gratitude I feel for my wife, Eileen Dimalanta, whose generosity, patience, and dedication made it possible for me to embark on this journey in the first place. Despite the tremendous challenge of managing a thriving career and a growing family, you never once wavered in your support. You held our lives steady when I could not.

Dedication

I dedicate this dissertation to my two children, Ali and Connor, who continue to enrich my life in ways I never even imagined possible.

Table of Contents

| CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION | 1 |
|---|----|
| Personal Interest in This Topic | 1 |
| A Case Example from Practice | 3 |
| Overview | 5 |
| CHAPTER TWO: LITERATURE REVIEW | 6 |
| Entrepreneurship | 7 |
| Challenges Inherent in Entrepreneurship | 8 |
| Entrepreneurial Learning | 14 |
| Experiential Learning Perspectives | 16 |
| Organizational Learning Perspectives | 23 |
| Social/Contextual Learning Perspectives | 28 |
| Learning and Entrepreneurial Identity | 37 |
| Linking EL and Identity | 38 |
| Construction of Entrepreneurial Identity | 39 |
| Discursive Resources and Identity Construction | 41 |
| Conclusions from the Entrepreneurship Literature | 47 |
| Learning how to Learn from Experience | 47 |
| Learning with and from Other Entrepreneurs | 49 |
| Constructing and Negotiating Entrepreneurial Identity | 51 |
| Group Coaching | 52 |
| Group Coaching: Definition and Context | 53 |

| Group-Based Learning and Change Mechanisms | 59 |
|---|-----|
| Participant Narratives in Group Coaching Research | 70 |
| Conclusions from the Group Coaching Literature | 72 |
| Conclusion of Chapter 2 | 74 |
| Focus and Significance of the Inquiry | 74 |
| CHAPTER THREE: METHODS | 77 |
| Research Design | 77 |
| Purpose and Research Question | 77 |
| Research Approach | 77 |
| Design | 90 |
| Protection of Human Participants | 105 |
| Researcher Statement | 106 |
| Pilot Study | 110 |
| Summary | 115 |
| CHAPTER FOUR: FINDINGS | 116 |
| Part 1: Conditions | 118 |
| Social Environment | 118 |
| Social Processes | 124 |
| The Coach's Presence | 135 |
| Conclusion of Part 1 | 138 |
| Part 2: Process Moves | 139 |
| Learning Vicariously | 139 |
| Learning Through Feedback | 149 |

| Counter-Narratives | 161 |
|---|------|
| Conditions and Process Moves: A Tentative Connection | 165 |
| Conclusion of Part 2 | 166 |
| Part 3: Relational Context of the Interview | 168 |
| Discursive Performances | 169 |
| Conclusion of Part 3 | 176 |
| Conclusion of Chapter 4 | 176 |
| Conditions | 177 |
| Process Moves | 180 |
| Relational Context of the Interview | 182 |
| CHAPTER FIVE: DISCUSSION | 183 |
| Contributions to Literature | 184 |
| Group Coaching Supports EL | 185 |
| Conditions Needed to Achieve EL | 189 |
| Different Processes of Learning and Change | 193 |
| The Research Process as a Continuation of the Coaching Experience | -202 |
| Limitations | 205 |
| Recommendations for Future Research | 207 |
| Entrepreneurship Research | 207 |
| Coaching Research | 208 |
| Implications for Practice | 209 |
| Coaching | 210 |
| Entrepreneurship | 212 |

| Conclusio | on | 213 |
|------------|----|-----|
| REFERENCES | | 215 |

List of Tables

| Table 1: Unaffiliated Group vs. Work Team Coaching | 58 |
|--|------|
| Table 2: Prominent Approaches in Group Coaching | 61 |
| Table 3: Description of the Participants | 96 |
| Table 4: Background Conditions | -179 |
| Table 5: Typology of Process Moves | -181 |

List of Appendices

| Appendix A: Colleague Recruitment Email | 233 |
|--|-----|
| Appendix B: Recruitment Flyer | 234 |
| Appendix C: Participant Setup Checklist | 235 |
| Appendix D: Informed Consent Form | 236 |
| Appendix E: Interview Guide | 240 |
| Appendix F: CITI Certificate of Completion | 243 |

Running head: THE EXPERIENCE OF GROUP COACHING

CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION

The purpose of this study was to explore the experience of group coaching as a setting for entrepreneurial learning (EL) and change. Although research on EL has expanded over the past decade, little is known about the social processes involved in EL and the different types of social contexts in which EL occurs (Wang & Chugh, 2014). Group coaching, meanwhile, has received scarce attention from researchers despite a surge in the commercial popularity of group-based coaching formats. The present study advances these literatures through a narrative exploration of eight entrepreneurs' experiences participating in group coaching. Specifically, this study explored individual entrepreneurs' experiences bringing issues and challenges they might otherwise engage with in isolation into a group coaching setting—a phenomenon I defined as "coming in from the cold." The study used a narrative approach to investigate the meaning entrepreneurs make of their experiences navigating learning-related challenges in the social context of their coaching groups.

The expression, "coming in from the cold" refers to the act of joining or rejoining a group or society after having been separated or excluded from it in some way. British author John le Carré helped popularize the term in his 1963 spy novel, *The Spy Who Came in From the Cold*. In it, the protagonist longs to abandon the morally corrupt work of Cold War espionage, but is asked to "stay in the cold" for one last mission. In the context of this study, coming in from the cold refers to the entrepreneurial journey out of isolation and loneliness and into a peer learning environment facilitated by a professionally trained coach. Coaching is a multidisciplinary approach to facilitating learning and change that has roots in psychology, adult learning, and organizational development.

Personal Interest in This Topic

My interest in this topic comes from personal experience. As a leadership and business coach I am deeply motivated by the desire to understand processes of human learning and change. When I started my first entrepreneurial coaching group I was already working with several business owners in a dyadic (one-on-one) coaching context. What struck me about this work was that many of my clients reported very similar situations, problem sets, choices, and dilemmas throughout the course of our work together. I began to wonder whether certain experiences in business ownership were inherent in the nature of starting and owning a business, and whether clients would find it valuable to engage collaboratively with their peers in order to learn from common challenges. In 2011, I designed and launched a group coaching program for entrepreneurs in the Boston area and groups have been a part of my practice ever since.

My interest also stems from my belief that group coaching may represent the future of the coaching field. As more individuals and organizations become familiar with the concept of coaching and its benefits, a need is emerging for new and affordable coaching formats.

Group coaching provides many of the benefits of dyadic coaching engagements, but at a much lower cost per person. In addition, the group environment offers some benefits that dyadic coaching does not. These aspects of group coaching are discussed in detail in the next chapter.

In my work with groups of entrepreneurs, I noticed group members sharing their personal stories, reflecting on and working through complex problems, and contributing their knowledge and experience to the group. I also witnessed what seemed like group members' identities evolving through learning and exchange, through the acquisition of new resources, and through generative dialogue. I am reminded of Jacqueline (a fictitious name), who

struggled with the idea of promoting herself and her business.

A Case Example From Practice

Jacqueline detested bragging, and believed that promoting herself or her enterprise was obnoxious and wrong. As a result, her business as a Pilates instructor had plateaued. She felt intimidated by the prospect of getting things unstuck, as presumably it would involve bragging and being obnoxious. In our coaching group, we talked about how Jacqueline was making sense of her situation, and about how she might interpret things differently. I pointed out that communication in our culture is gendered—and that girls, in particular, are socialized in such a way that from an early age they learn not to stick out or show off. They learn that bragging is undesirable, and that it leads to negative social consequences (ostracism, bullying, etc.).

This seemed to resonate with other women in the group. Some of them spoke about having experienced similar feelings. They also spoke about how realizing that culture and socialization had likely shaped many of their experiences over the years, was both freeing and frustrating. We talked about whether the way Jacqueline was viewing her situation was something inherited, versus authored. In other words, to what extent was she living out an inherited cultural story, rather than authoring her own? If she were to craft her own story now, how would it differ? I suggested that maybe this wasn't about selling anything. Maybe it was about communicating the value of her work so that people would have the opportunity to benefit from it. What if sharing these opportunities was really an act of generosity and caring? This interpretation seemed to stick, and the group listened, bearing witness, as Jacqueline articulated a new understanding of her situation which revolved around these themes of opportunity, generosity, and caring.

Jacqueline's story serves as an illustration of how learning for entrepreneurs is often stimulated by significant experiences in their lives and supported by various forms of social interaction. EL is thus an experiential *and* a social phenomenon. In the context of the group's conversation, Jacqueline changed her thinking about a specific business situation. As a result, this same situation lacked the "teeth" it had before, and Jacqueline found new power to confront it.

However, at times EL encompasses more than just learning about specific situations. On another level, it can also give shape to an individual's evolving sense of entrepreneurial self-identity or an individual's learning about *who he or she can be* as an entrepreneur. Jacqueline's sense of self also shifted. The notion of her entrepreneurial self as someone "impaired" or "deficient" in some way because of her distaste for self-promotion had given way to a more nuanced understanding. She now understood herself not as impaired, but as *embedded* in a very powerful cultural discourse. The shared experiences of her peers in the group helped legitimize Jacqueline's new understanding of self and situation.

Jacqueline's experience may not be representative of all interactions in entrepreneurial coaching groups. A very high degree of variation exists among group coaching formats, approaches, and methodologies. Yet the potential exists for group-format coaching to actively foster critical reflection and meaning making in entrepreneurs, and to facilitate their coming in from the cold. Jacqueline's story helps illustrate three fundamental learning-related challenges that are discussed in the EL literature and that characterize the learning journeys of many entrepreneurs: *learning how to learn from experience*, *learning with and from other entrepreneurs*, and *constructing and negotiating entrepreneurial identity*. I discuss these challenges in Chapter 2. Together, they helped shape the data-

gathering and interpretation phases of this research.

Overview

In the next chapter I place the study within the literatures on entrepreneurship and group coaching, and discuss theory and research related to common entrepreneurial challenges, entrepreneurial learning, and the role of entrepreneurial identity. Then, I describe several models of group coaching and discuss their respective mechanisms of learning and change. In Chapter 3, I outline the methods of inquiry used in this study, including methods of data collection and interpretation. Chapter 4 contains the study findings. This chapter is organized into three sections representing three different types of phenomena that research participants associated with their meaningful learning experiences in group coaching. In Chapter 5, I discuss the significance of the findings and outline the study's contributions to research and practice.

CHAPTER TWO: LITERATURE REVIEW

The goal of this study was to explore the experience of group coaching as a setting for entrepreneurial learning and change. Although academic interest in EL has grown in recent years, more research is needed to understand the social processes involved, as well as the different types of social contexts in which EL occurs (Fayolle, Pittaway, Politis, & Toutain, 2014; Wang & Chugh, 2014). Specifically, this study was concerned with individual business owners' experiences of "coming in from the cold," or bringing issues and challenges they might otherwise engage with in isolation into the social context of their coaching groups. A review of the literature did not find any existing studies of the narratives of entrepreneurs who participate in group coaching.

However, I found many narrative accounts in the literatures on entrepreneurship, entrepreneurial learning, and entrepreneurial identity. The literatures on group coaching and related group modalities help illuminate the practical and theoretical basis for coaching in group settings. I organized the following review of the literature around each of these literature areas, and divided it into two main sections.

Relevant literature on the lives and experiences of entrepreneurs begins the review. Included in this section are works that illustrate the challenges inherent in entrepreneurship, the nature of entrepreneurial learning and the mechanisms that support it, and related issues involving the construction and maintenance of entrepreneurial identity. For entrepreneurs, learning is about more than acquiring business knowledge. It is also about the acquisition of identity, or about *learning who one can be* (Higgins & Aspinall, 2011; Rae, 2000). Entrepreneurs face many learning-related challenges, including learning how to engage in critical reflection (Zhang & Hamilton, 2009), "learning to learn" from critical events or crises

(Cope & Watts, 2000; Deakins & Freel, 1998), and acquiring and maintaining a sense of self-as-entrepreneur (Mallett & Wapshott, 2015; Rae, 2000; Watson, 2009). I argue that the distinct challenges of entrepreneurship make learning integral to the entrepreneurial process, and that social interaction plays a key role in entrepreneurial learning.

The second section overviews the literature on group coaching. In this section I define group coaching and discuss various approaches to group coaching practice as well as knowledge from empirical research. I place special emphasis on how the literature conceptualizes the mechanisms of learning and change at work in group coaching settings. Relevant processes include the construction of transitional spaces or holding environments (Kets de Vries, 2014; Thornton, 2010), dialogue and exchange with other group members (Brown & Grant, 2010; Thornton, 2010), and/or collaborative meaning-making (Stelter, Nielsen, & Wikman, 2011). Given what is known about the impact of group and social processes on learning and identity, I argue that more research is needed on how these processes play out in the lives and experiences of entrepreneurs through their participation in group coaching.

Entrepreneurship

There is an extensive body of literature on entrepreneurship. Within this body, much attention has been paid to stages of organizational growth or "life cycles" of small businesses (Quinn & Cameron, 1983) and to economic perspectives on business development (Watson, 2009). At the individual level of analysis, past research has focused primarily on the psychological aspects of entrepreneurship—for example, the personality traits or characteristics of successful entrepreneurs (Harrison & Leitch, 2005; Watson, 2009).

However, the study of entrepreneurial personalities has been criticized for failing to take into consideration an entrepreneur's ability to learn and change over time and through experience (Gartner, 1988; Rae, 2000; Watson, 2009).

In the wake of this critique, a focus on entrepreneurial learning (EL) has helped reinvigorate the field (Wang & Chugh, 2014) by exploring the learning and developmental processes of entrepreneurship (Deakins & Freel, 1998, 2012) as well as the learning processes that influence "who an entrepreneur becomes" (Rae, 2000). Some assumptions guiding these areas of inquiry are (a) that understanding how and when learning happens is fundamental to understanding the entrepreneurial process (Wang & Chugh, 2014), and (b) that entrepreneurs develop and grow through learning (Cope, 2005).

The section below explores threads from this literature, including *how* and *what* entrepreneurs learn, what kinds of barriers prevent them from learning, and what mechanisms facilitate their learning. Before exploring these questions, it is necessary to consider the nature of the challenges inherent in entrepreneurship—challenges that provide a context for EL, and that make EL fundamentally important to entrepreneurial survival, let alone success.

Challenges Inherent in Entrepreneurship

Entrepreneurs engage with a different set of challenges than the organizationally employed—one that requires different avenues for learning and problem solving (Brett, Mullally, O'Gorman, & Fuller-Love, 2012). These challenges reflect the fundamental dynamism of entrepreneurship and the entrepreneurial life, as well as the substantial costs associated with pursuing an entrepreneurial path. I discuss several of these below.

Fundamentally dynamic. Entrepreneurship is fundamentally dynamic and non-linear (Cope, 2003; Deakins & Freel, 1998). The turbulence and uncertainty that

entrepreneurs face influence the development of their learning practices (Higgins & Aspinall, 2011). For example, entrepreneurial learning is less likely to occur in a planned or programmatic way, and more likely to occur as a result of knowledge accumulated over time and through reactions to specific situations or experiences (Deakins & Freel, 1998). "Discontinuous" or non-routine events act as a key mechanism to stimulate higher-order learning that fundamentally alters an individual's assumptions about effective action (Cope, 2003).

More at stake. Entrepreneurs frequently have more at stake in their work than the organizationally employed. Cope (2003) explained that the relationship between entrepreneurs and their businesses is complex and intimate. Many entrepreneurs invest significant personal resources in the creation of new ventures. This, in turn exposes them to "considerable financial, emotional and social risks" (p. 430). Cope argued that it is precisely these extremes of emotional and financial involvement that make entrepreneurship a unique context in which to study the phenomenon of learning.

Moving target. Entrepreneurs' needs are a moving target—they evolve throughout the business life-cycle (Cope & Watts, 2000). According to life-cycle theorists, all small businesses face similar growth challenges that advance along a more or less predictable trajectory (Churchill & Lewis, 1983). In response to these challenges, entrepreneurial firms must develop new management styles and strategies, and entrepreneurs must develop new skills. For example, as a firm grows and matures, its management is likely to become less centralized, more hierarchical, and more complex. This requires that owner-managers learn to delegate effectively rather than be personally involved in every decision.

Such a progression demands much individual learning and change on the part of

entrepreneurs. However, Cope and Watts (2000) explained that the literature in this area focuses primarily on the growth of the business itself and not on the corresponding developmental trajectory of individual entrepreneurs. In addition, life-cycle growth models in general have been criticized for their rigidity, their deterministic view, and their exclusively internal focus on the crises that drive growth (Deakins & Freel, 2012; McKelvie & Wikland, 2010).

Substantial costs. While owning a business can be significantly rewarding, research has found that the rewards often come at a high cost (Alstete, 2008; Boyd & Gumpert, 1983). In a survey of 450 New England entrepreneurs, Boyd and Gumpert (1983) found financial reward, independence, and sense of achievement to be among the biggest benefits of entrepreneurship. Participants reported that being accountable only to themselves, being able to make their own decisions, and being able to implement their own ideas and bring them to fruition, were among the most satisfying rewards. These findings were echoed by Alstete (2008), who interviewed 149 established entrepreneurs in the metropolitan New York area.

When asked about the disadvantages of entrepreneurship, participants mentioned stress, responsibilities and long hours (Alstete, 2008), as well as loneliness and isolation, immersion in business, and people problems (Boyd & Gumpert, 1983). Similar findings were reported by Gumpert and Boyd (1984), Jamal (1997, 2009), and Zhang and Hamilton (2009). The long hours required to achieve success were mentioned as contributing to stress and responsibilities (Alstete, 2008). Participants reported being "on call" all the time, bringing work home, and feeling mentally preoccupied with work when at home. Boyd and Gumpert (1983) found the concerns of professional life to be all-consuming for entrepreneurs—leaving little time for civic engagement, recreational activities, or family and

friends. Participants in their study spoke of this as a kind of "personal sacrifice" which entrepreneurship entails.

Jamal (1997, 2009), who studied the differences in the quality of work and non-work life between the self- and organizationally employed, found that self-employed individuals experienced higher job stress, burnout, and health problems than the organizationally employed. In addition, and contrary to prevailing logic, the self-employed *did not* experience higher levels of job satisfaction than the organizationally employed, but this outcome may depend on the self-selectivity of entrepreneurial career paths. It is presumed that those who are forced into entrepreneurial careers as a result of a layoff or other loss of employment may not find entrepreneurship to be as satisfying as those who self-select.

Isolation and loneliness. Chief among the costs or disadvantages of entrepreneurship is the experience of feeling isolated and alone (Boyd & Gumpert, 1983; Gumpert & Boyd, 1984; Zhang & Hamilton, 2009). According to Boyd and Gumpert (1983), although entrepreneurs are usually surrounded by others (employees, vendors, customers, competitors, etc.), "they are isolated from persons in whom they can confide" (p. 46). There are several reasons why.

First, the demands of work (especially the long hours) may prevent entrepreneurs from reaching out to friends and family for support (Boyd & Gumpert, 1983). However, entrepreneurs may also withdraw from friends and family simply because family members don't or can't understand, or because they have conflicting values related to work-life balance (Gumpert & Boyd, 1984). Zhang and Hamilton (2009) found that entrepreneurs are reluctant to confide in friends and family even when they do have time. An interview excerpt from Rose, a participant in their study, explains why:

Unless they're in business, their perspective is slightly skewed I think, because for example my ex-boyfriend, his view was always "well, you're the boss, you just do what you want", and in theory as the boss you can just do what you want, but in practice you need to take your team with you. You can't just impose from above. And because he'd always been an employee and always experienced business where things always were imposed from above, and he felt not included in the loop. That was his view. And I think while friends and family can be invaluable, unless they have some experience of running a business, the advice tends to be not objective.

What they want to do is help you feel better. (p. 615)

In essence, friends and family tend not to be objective, and unless they're involved in running a business of their own, they often lack the knowledge and experience to be of help.

Zhang and Hamilton (2009) found that the isolation participants experienced was not simply about finding someone else to talk to about business. It was about finding someone to talk to *about problems*. In Gumpert and Boyd's (1984) study, 68% of survey respondents reported not having a confidant with whom they could "share their deep concerns" (p. 19). In both studies, this finding came across as a reluctance to show weakness or to admit ignorance or difficulty. Participants spoke of a perceived need to project an image of strength, health, and reliability to suppliers and customers (Zhang & Hamilton, 2009), to hide weakness from competitors, and to convey confidence to employees (Gumpert & Boyd, 1984). As a result, entrepreneurs often lack colleagues or peers with whom they feel comfortable sharing ideas, processing experiences, or even simply commiserating.

In addition, events that bill themselves as peer networking opportunities often fail to establish a sufficient level of trust and openness to foster meaningful communication. Events

and conferences organized by professional associations or governmental agencies, for example, are more likely to be regarded by entrepreneurs as sales opportunities, which further encourage the projection of a professional image (Zhang & Hamilton, 2009). In addition, these events are often short-term and fleeting, which prevents people from getting to know one another well enough to speak openly about their problems. This contributes to a sense of isolation.

In a larger sense however, these findings raise important questions about the appropriateness and conduciveness of different relationships to sharing business problems. While the reluctance to show weakness is portrayed as an internal or subjective (self-imposed) pressure (Gumpert & Boyd, 1984), the context in which communication is considered also makes a difference. Research has shown that participation in peer learning programs with other non-competitive business owners fosters open communication, along with critical reflection and learning (Florén, 2003; Zhang & Hamilton, 2009). In a peer learning context, people develop trust and open up in ways that allow them to admit a lack of knowledge and/or to talk about problems that everyone has, but no one will publicly admit to. From this point of view, a reluctance to confide or show weakness may simply reflect a degree of pragmatism, and the absence of a dedicated peer learning network.

In any case, research shows that for entrepreneurs, isolation and loneliness go hand in hand (Boyd & Gumpert, 1983). The independence and freedom that characterize entrepreneurial positions may actually serve to keep loneliness concealed. Entrepreneurs clearly value their freedom, and as a result, they tend to lean toward solitary activities (Gumpert & Boyd, 1984). According to Boyd and Gumpert (1983), all of these factors—a lack of anyone to confide in, withdrawal from family and friends, a reluctance to show

weakness or admit difficulty, and an inclination toward solitary activity—contribute to the experience of loneliness.

Summary. As shown above, entrepreneurs face a different set of challenges than the organizationally employed. The dynamic nature of entrepreneurship means that many entrepreneurs face high levels of turbulence and uncertainty, while taking great financial, emotional, and social risks in order to pursue their entrepreneurial paths. In addition, as small businesses grow, their management challenges evolve, placing additional learning demands on their owner-managers. The literature shows that the demands of entrepreneurship overwhelmingly dominate the lives of entrepreneurs (Alstete, 2008; Boyd & Gumpert, 1983; Jamal, 1997, 2009). Despite being surrounded by other people for much of the time, entrepreneurs experience significant isolation and loneliness (Boyd & Gumpert, 1983; Gumpert & Boyd, 1984; Zhang & Hamilton, 2009).

Scholars suggest that peer learning networks can play a role in alleviating the experience of isolation and loneliness. The next section discusses the benefits of effective peer learning in the context of EL, as well as the conditions necessary for creating effective peer learning environments. To establish a foundation, the section first explores what is known about EL in general, including *how* and *what* entrepreneurs learn, what kinds of barriers prevent them from learning, and what kinds of mechanisms facilitate their learning.

Entrepreneurial Learning

Wang and Chugh's (2014) systematic review of the literature found 11 explicit and 10 implicit definitions of EL across 47 articles using the term, "entrepreneurial learning." These definitions vary according to a range of theoretical perspectives (i.e., learning

theories), learning types, and contexts. However, nearly all are fundamentally aligned in their concern with *what* and *how* individual entrepreneurs learn. This study focused on what and how individual entrepreneurs learn *from their group coaching experiences*. Therefore, experiential (D. A. Kolb, 1984), organizational (Argyris & Schön, 1978; Burgoyne & Hodgson, 1983), and social/contextual (Lave & Wenger, 1991; Wenger, 1999) theories of learning were important to consider in adopting a working definition of EL for the study.

I began with Rae's (2006) social/experiential definition of EL: "learning to recognise and act on [entrepreneurial] opportunities, through initiating, organising and managing ventures in social and behavioural ways" (p. 40). In keeping with the constructivist orientation of the study, however, I found it important to acknowledge the processes through which participants *construct* new meaning in relation to their experiences. I therefore incorporated Rae and Carswell's (2001) focus on the construction of meaning into my working definition. For the purpose of this study, EL is defined as *the construction of new meaning in the process of recognizing and acting on opportunities, through initiating, organizing, and managing ventures in social and behavioral ways.*

Research on EL has emerged partly in response to a past preoccupation with the psychology of entrepreneurship, which involves the study of personality traits and characteristics of entrepreneurs (Harrison & Leitch, 2005; Watson, 2009). This philosophical position assumes the character of the entrepreneur to be relatively stable and unchanging, and therefore amenable to categorization (Jones & Spicer, 2005). However, research in this tradition has failed to capture evidence of a set of universal, defining characteristics of the entrepreneur (Baum & Locke, 2004), and the notion of entrepreneurial character has been criticized for failing to take into consideration an entrepreneur's ability to learn and change

(Gartner, 1988; Rae, 2000; Watson, 2009).

In response, EL research has focused on studying the ways that learning and development shape entrepreneurial activities and the changing identities of entrepreneurs (Deakins & Freel, 1998, 2012; Rae, 2000). In the section below I discuss several contributions from the relevant literatures on experiential, organizational, and social/contextual learning in an entrepreneurial context. Drawing on Wang and Chugh's (2014) framing of the EL literature, I also highlight some of the issues and debates relevant to each of these areas.

Experiential Learning Perspectives

The literature shows that EL is primarily experience-based (Higgins & Aspinall, 2011; Zhang & Hamilton, 2009), and learning from experience is understood to be a key ability in entrepreneurship (Deakins & Freel, 1998). Entrepreneurial knowledge is most often gained through action taken in response to lived experiences and real world situations, rather than through formal instruction (Higgins & Aspinall, 2011). While some degree of formal training may be helpful, it cannot substitute for learning that comes from actual participation in entrepreneurial activity (Deakins & Freel, 1998). In essence, entrepreneurs learn by doing, and by reacting to specific issues and experiences.

Researchers have focused on two related concepts which are central to experiential learning in an entrepreneurial context. The first is the idea that entrepreneurship is characterized by critical learning events (Deakins & Freel, 1998). The second involves the role that critical reflection plays in learning (Cope, 2003; Cope & Watts, 2000; Zhang & Hamilton, 2009). I discuss each of these below, and then explore common constraints that can limit reflection and experiential learning for entrepreneurs. I then discuss the limitations

of the research in this area before concluding with a short summary.

Critical learning events. The idea that critical episodes and events can act as catalysts for learning has roots in Mezirow's (1991) theory of transformative learning. In Mezirow's view, these critical episodes could be described as *disorienting dilemmas*, or situations that pose a fundamental challenge to an individual's habitual ways of knowing. Mezirow (2003) theorized that these kinds of challenges stimulate critical reflection and learning that transforms problematic frames of reference (habits of mind, mindsets, meaning perspectives, etc.) to make them "more inclusive, discriminating, open... [and] reflective" (p. 58).

According to Deakins and Freel (1998), entrepreneurship is characterized by "significant and critical learning events" (p. 153). In their multi-case study, participants recounted critical experiences breaking into a close-knit industry, starting a new venture from scratch, navigating a major financial crisis, purchasing a second firm, and persevering through the retirement and succession of a founding team member. These experiences were observed and tracked over the course of 5-6 semi-structured interviews in order to understand the processes that led to each event, how the event was resolved, and what was learned from it.

Deakins and Freel (1998) found that all of these experiences served as catalysts for learning specific entrepreneurial abilities or competencies—for example, the ability to network, to assimilate experience and opportunity, to learn from past strategies and mistakes, to access resources, and to assemble an effective entrepreneurial team (pp. 150-153). Their study also demonstrated that in these cases, critical learning and growth opportunities occurred unpredictably, and without adequate training or preparation for the entrepreneurs.

As a result, learning and ability advanced through discontinuous "jumps" (p. 152) in response to specific problems unfolding in real time. Deakins and Freel claimed that the success of a firm depends on the ability of the entrepreneur to "maximize knowledge as a result of experiencing these learning events" (p. 153).

However, viewing critical incidents as discrete and isolated phenomena may not sufficiently capture their complexity or significance. In a phenomenological case study of six entrepreneurs, Cope and Watts (2000) found that entrepreneurs often face prolonged and traumatic critical "periods" or episodes, rather than discrete events with clear temporal and perceptual boundaries. While emotionally charged and difficult to resolve, these episodes were viewed by participants as significantly influential in terms of their learning and self-awareness.

More importantly, it was evident from participants' storied accounts that these critical episodes do not occur independently of any entrepreneur. Instead, they involve "a change in perception and awareness that stimulates the entrepreneur into action" (Cope & Watts, 2000, p. 113). In one example, an entrepreneur recalled making a serious marketing mistake that led to a financial crisis for his enterprise, and subsequently to a series of actions taken to resolve the situation. The entire critical episode involved many discrete events over time, inextricably linked and bound by context.

This finding echoes Deakins and Freel (1998), who asserted that learning occurs when reactions to critical events require the entrepreneur to process information in new ways, to adapt strategy, and to make important decisions. In many ways, learning and action are intertwined. EL involves change and difference that are enacted through language and behavior, not only through cognition (Rae, 2000). What the entrepreneur actually does must

change in order for it to be considered learning. In other words, entrepreneurs must identify the opportunities that arise out of experience and act on them (Deakins & Freel, 1998). The key to translating critical events or crises into actionable learning opportunities lies in critical reflection (Argyris & Schön, 1978; Mezirow, 1991), which I discuss next.

Critical reflection. D. A. Kolb (1984) referred to *reflective observation* as the mechanism responsible for transforming concrete experience into abstract concepts. In the context of entrepreneurial activity, critical learning events are defined by their ability to stimulate deep reflection that leads to experiential learning (Cope, 2003, 2005). The literature portrays this type of deep reflection as integral to effective EL (Cope & Watts, 2000; Zhang & Hamilton, 2009). In particular, critical reflection plays a key role in determining the learning and developmental outcomes of critical events in entrepreneurs' lives. One participant in Cope and Watts' (2000) study, for example, described experiencing his most significant learning through the process of retroactively reflecting on the actions he had taken during a crisis.

Reflectivity is described as "critical" when it generates insight into the underlying values and perceptions that shape behavior, leading to changes in self-awareness and personal understanding (Cope & Watts, 2000; Zhang & Hamilton, 2009). On a practical level, this kind of reflection involves "activity in which people recapture their experience, think about it, and mull it over, and evaluate it" (p. 49). While critical reflection is often thought of as a retrospective activity, it can also be proactive (Cope, 2005; Cope & Watts, 2000). Proactive reflection involves the "bringing forward" of experience (Gibb, 1997), or the extrapolation of one's learning from past critical events in order to anticipate or predict potential future events before they happen (Cope, 2005; Cope & Watts, 2000).

Whether retrospective or proactive, the processes described above involve reflecting on past or future actions and experiences. However, it is also possible to reflect in the midst of action, as Schön's (1983) seminal work on reflective practice illustrates. Schön theorized that professionals in practice draw from tacit knowledge when performing repetitive or routinized work. But when surprised by new or unique situations, they must grapple to make sense of these phenomena while they are still unfolding. In other words, they must think on their feet as they reflect in action.

Reflection-in-action (Schön, 1983) involves turning thought "back on action and on the knowing which is implicit in action" (p. 50). It is through this process that an individual may surface and criticize his or her implicit grasp of a situation, to construct a new understanding, and to test that new understanding through experimentation. This process is not always instantaneous, but is bounded by context. Reflection-in-action is "bounded by the 'action-present" (p. 62), the time period during which the situation can still be influenced by action. Such time can stretch over minutes or months, depending on the characteristics of the situation at hand.

These perspectives illustrate the importance of critical reflection to the experiential learning process. Indeed, learning from experience or crisis *requires* critical reflection (Cope & Watts, 2000; Zhang & Hamilton, 2009). Unfortunately, the nature of entrepreneurship presents certain constraints which frequently limit critical reflection and constrain learning for entrepreneurs.

Constraints on experiential learning. A number of constraints that are inherently characteristic of entrepreneurship act as barriers to reflection and learning (Brett et al., 2012; Higgins & Aspinall, 2011; Zhang & Hamilton, 2009). The principal issue here is one of

resources, including but not limited to time, knowledge, and experience. First and foremost, constraints on time often prevent entrepreneurs from engaging in reflective thinking (Brett et al., 2012; Zhang & Hamilton, 2009). Time is typically viewed by entrepreneurs as extremely limited, and some may feel as though their time is too valuable to be spent reflecting (Zhang & Hamilton, 2009). Time constraints may be physical (e.g., due to limited human resources), or they may stem from the prioritization of day-to-day work, or of "doing" over thinking. Whether the constraints are physical or subjective, entrepreneurs face a potential trade-off in terms of time when they choose to engage in critical reflection.

Second, isolation (discussed above) can function as a barrier to learning (Brett et al., 2012). Operating in isolation, entrepreneurs may bare sole concern for policy-related or strategic issues, and may lack appropriate others with whom to reflectively discuss problems (Gumpert & Boyd, 1984; Zhang & Hamilton, 2009). As a result, this lack of input from others (especially peers) can hamper learning and negatively affect decision making, while increasing the pressure associated with making important decisions (Gumpert & Boyd, 1984). As discussed below, social processes are an important factor in EL, and a lack of social interaction makes learning less likely to occur.

Third, a lack of knowledge and experience can prevent critical reflection and learning (Brett et al., 2012; Higgins & Aspinall, 2011). Entrepreneurs may not always know *how* to reflect or *what* to reflect on (Zhang & Hamilton, 2009), and/or they may lack the experience or skills to engage in critical reflection (Higgins & Aspinall, 2011). Boyd and Gumpert (1983), for example, wrote that the entrepreneurs they interviewed were not inclined toward introspection. Several indicated that their participation in the interview itself was the longest period they had spent reflecting on things—yet all found it to be time well spent. In light of

these facts, Higgins and Aspinall (2011) proposed that entrepreneurs often need some kind of conceptual framework to help organize their reflection and to facilitate learning. An effective conceptual framework could take the shape of an organized peer learning group or mentoring program, for example, that prioritizes critical reflection.

Limitations and questions. Although much of the EL literature is grounded in an experiential learning perspective, more research is needed on how experiential learning processes occur in entrepreneurial contexts. Wang and Chugh (2014), for example, called for new research that can contribute to an understanding of how the entire experiential learning cycle (from concrete experience through reflective observation, to abstract conceptualization, to experimentation which produces new concrete experiences, etc.) unfolds for entrepreneurs or in entrepreneurial firms. In addition, much of what has been written has focused exclusively on individual cognition while largely ignoring the social processes and contexts that contribute to an individual's learning (Fayolle et al., 2014; Wang & Chugh, 2014). To address these issues, Wang and Chugh (2014) recommended that researchers explore related questions, such as, "What factors play a key role in each stage of the experiential learning cycle?" and "What and how do entrepreneurs or entrepreneurial firms learn from the experience (successes and failures) of other entrepreneurs or entrepreneurial firms?" (p. 39).

Summary. Learning from experience is a key aspect of EL and a fundamentally important ability in entrepreneurship. Critical learning events can provide a catalyst for learning specific entrepreneurial competencies, as well as for learning that leads to new awareness or new perspectives. Critical reflection is a key mechanism and driving force for transforming these experiences into learning and developmental outcomes, but entrepreneurs often face constraints on their time and other resources that limit critical reflection. Critiques

of the EL literature have resulted in calls for more research that explores the entire experiential learning cycle in entrepreneurial contexts, and that takes into account the social processes and contexts which contribute to EL. Researchers agree that EL is fundamentally experiential in nature. However, learning can occur on multiple levels, and acquired knowledge can take many forms. In the next section I explore organizational learning perspectives rooted in Bateson's (1972) theory of learning types, including theories advanced by Argyris and Schön (1978) and Burgoyne and Hodgson (1983). Despite their organizational focus, these theories also shed light on the varied and multileveled learning processes which unfold in individuals.

Organizational Learning Perspectives

Knowledge derived from entrepreneurial experience can reflect different levels of learning (Cope & Watts, 2000; Higgins & Aspinall, 2011). Organizational learning theory tends to be concerned with how *whole* organizations (as opposed to individuals) learn. However, organizational learning theorists such as Argyris and Schön (1978) and Burgoyne and Hodgson (1983) have contributed significantly to an understanding of how individuals learn in organizational settings. Their perspectives are rooted in Bateson's (1972) seminal work on the logical categories of learning and communication.

Bateson (1972) described how learning in individuals can occur on different "ordered" levels. What Bateson (1972) called *Learning I* is characterized by a revision of choice within a set of alternatives. Learning I occurs when feedback compels someone to select a different option, make a different choice, or take a different action from among a set of options, choices, or actions. In contrast, *Learning II* refers to "a corrective change in the set of alternatives from which choice is made" (p. 293). In other words, Learning II occurs

when an individual steps back to examine the set itself and identifies new options, choices, or actions for altering the set. *Learning III* represents a change to the system of sets of options from which choice is made.

Multi-leveled learning models. Argyris and Schön (1978) and Burgoyne and Hodgson (1983) later adapted Bateson's ideas about learning in individuals for application in organizational and managerial contexts. Argyris and Schön (1978) proposed a framework to distinguish between two fundamentally different levels of learning—"single-loop" learning, and "double-loop" learning. Single-loop learning (encompassing Learning 1 and 2 above) is most often described as adaptive in nature. It is characterized by changes to existing actions or strategies in light of feedback generated through observation of the consequences of past actions. While learning at this level leads to new practices, the underlying "theories of action" that shape these practices remain unchanged.

Double-loop learning, in contrast, requires that learners critically examine their underlying theories of action, or the values and assumptions that guide their notions of effective action (Argyris & Schön, 1978; Cope, 2003). Cope (2003), for example, described how a participant named Andrew experienced double-loop learning as a result of a critical event involving a conflict with an employee. Though painful and difficult, the conflict caused Andrew to examine his own assumptions about how his employees should behave, and about his own role in managing the company. This led to significant change and the formalization of new systems to prevent the same problems from recurring.

Cope and Watts (2000) explained how a critical episode triggered a shift in self-awareness for one participant, which "fundamentally changed his outlook on how he conducted his business and his life" (p. 114). Such events or episodes are indicative of

"higher-level learning"—learning that can reframe an individual's understanding of the past, and help him or her prevent future incidents from occurring (Cope & Watts, 2000). Higher-level learning, in effect, involves "learning how to learn" from experience.

According to Higgins and Aspinall (2011), many entrepreneurs become proficient at single-loop, adaptive learning—responding to changes in the environment, correcting problems, adopting new methods, and so on. However, learning in these situations rarely involves critical reflection. Thus, the underlying values of the firm, and/or the entrepreneur's theories of action, remain unexamined and unchanged. Small firms cannot prosper from adaptive learning alone. In order to survive and grow, entrepreneurs must reflect critically on their own thoughts, feelings, and underlying assumptions.

Burgoyne and Hodgson (1983) adopted a similar framework for learning that takes place on three different levels. "Level 1 learning" occurs when an individual simply acquires new information which has an immediate impact on a situation at hand, without any long-term effect. An example of this could be a manager learning that a particular product is no longer being produced in-house, and is instead being ordered from an outside source. The information is factual and relevant, but has no impact on the manager's worldview in general.

Learning that takes place on "Level 2" reflects the acquisition of new knowledge that exhibits transferability beyond the present situation, yet is still specific to a particular type of situation, from the manager's point of view (Burgoyne & Hodgson, 1983). For example, a manager being caught off guard by an unexpected situation could cause her or him to be more alert in the future to similar situations arising, and may lead to new ways of coping with or avoiding said situations. A manager may even adopt "case laws" which establish precedents for responding to similar situations.

In a cumulative fashion, knowledge of such cases over time can gradually shift the manager's tacit attitudes or orientations toward things, events, or people. Burgoyne and Hodgson (1983) described this as a gradual change in "background consciousness," such as when a manager slowly changes his or her opinion about a customer or employee over the course of many interactions, without being consciously aware of the change. They explained that Level 2 learning can also occur through deliberate problem-solving, or through reflective learning. In deliberate problem-solving, a manager may proactively search for a solution to a problem through exploration and experimentation. An example might involve realizing that one's current time management system is not working, and consequently learning about and trying out different systems. Reflective learning occurs when managers are able to think about a particular problem and reflect on it while they are not directly engaged with it.

Reflective moments can lead to critical insights and new ideas.

Finally, "Level 3 learning" (Burgoyne & Hodgson, 1983) occurs when a manager becomes conscious about "his conceptions of the world in general, how they were formed, or how he might change them" (p. 395). In their study, Burgoyne and Hodgson recounted the story of one manager who, through an incident with an employee, became aware of her tendency to expect too much from other people, and subsequently attempted to change her approach. Another manager spoke of becoming conscious of her tendency to get irritated in certain situations, and of how she ought to work on controlling that. Burgoyne and Hodgson remarked that incidents reflecting Level 3 learning were comparatively rare in their study. Lower-level learning was far more prevalent.

Challenges and questions. Wang and Chugh (2014) noted that lower-level and higher-level learning correspond to the entrepreneurial processes of opportunity exploration

and opportunity exploitation:

Adaptive and lower-level learning involves modifying actions according to the difference between expected and obtained outcomes (hence exploitative in nature), whereas generative and higher-level learning involves questioning the values, assumptions and policies that lead to the actions in the first place, and searching and discovering new solutions (hence exploratory in nature). (p. 38)

While both of these processes are necessary in entrepreneurship (Shane & Venkataraman, 2000), more research is needed to understand how entrepreneurs learn to develop the different sets of skills and resources required for both exploration and exploitation. To address this issue, Wang and Chugh (2014) suggested that researchers explore related questions, such as, "How does the learning of entrepreneurs or entrepreneurial firms differ in the processes of exploration and exploitation?" and "What cognitive processes do entrepreneurs go through in different learning contexts?" (p. 38).

In addition, Zahra, Abdelgawad, and Tsang (2011) discussed the importance of "unlearning" (the intentional discarding of practices) in setting the stage for or inducing the actions or activities that can lead to learning. Wang and Chugh (2014) argued that higher-level (exploratory) learning involves a high degree of unlearning (e.g., distinguishing from failure what is not working and changing it). A key question for future research in this vein is, what and how do entrepreneurs actually unlearn?

Summary. Learning from experience can occur on multiple levels, and acquired knowledge can take many forms. Learning can be described as either lower-level, which consists of adaptive changes to existing strategies for dealing with specific situations or types of situations; or higher-level, which involves changes to underlying values or orientations

toward self and world in general. Further research is needed in this area to understand how entrepreneurs engage in both lower-level (exploitative) and higher-level (exploratory) learning, as well as what and how entrepreneurs unlearn when they engage in higher-level learning. The section that follows discusses the nature of social interaction in EL, the requisites for effective social learning environments, and the benefits available to entrepreneurs who engage in them.

Social/Contextual Learning Perspectives

As Jarvis (2012) wrote, "Learning is not just a psychological process that happens in splendid isolation from the world in which the learner lives" (p. 11). All learning occurs within a social context. A social learning perspective holds that learning is the product of social interaction or participation in the social practices of the communities to which one belongs (Lave & Wenger, 1991; Wenger, 2009). Learning is therefore a collective process and a situated activity, shaped as much by sociocultural influences as by the specific situation at hand.

Higgins and Aspinall (2011) argued that learning in small firms is based on contextualized action and social interaction. EL is highly contextual. Entrepreneurial issues and experiences do not occur in a vacuum. They are situated within an entrepreneur's environment and social interactions, and enacted through practice (Higgins, Mirza, & Drozynska, 2013), which is "emergent, negotiated, and temporary in character" (p. 472). As practice changes, so does knowing. Entrepreneurs must learn by reacting to specific incidents and problems they encounter in practice, as well as from the decisions and mistakes that they make, from their interactions with customers and competitors, and from failure (Deakins & Freel, 1998).

Although research suggests that entrepreneurs often feel isolated and alone, it is also true that social processes play a key role in EL (Cope, 2005; Hamilton, 2006; Higgins & Aspinall, 2011). Cope and Watts (2000) explained that entrepreneurs frequently need help or support translating the critical events they experience into opportunities for higher-level learning. This example highlights the importance of social processes in supporting EL, as well as the need for social contexts which can help facilitate learning. Discussion of two social contexts key to learning for entrepreneurs follows: mentorship and peer learning.

Mentorship. Social interaction in the form of mentorship can aid entrepreneurs in reconceptualizing critical events as learning events. Cope and Watts wrote that in order to fulfill this role, mentorship programs should aim to stimulate "proactive reflection on what happened and how effectively the problem or opportunity was dealt with" (p. 118).

The role of the mentor in this context is twofold (Cope & Watts, 2000): first, "to simply 'be there' for the entrepreneur when they are actually going through a critical incident" (p. 117), and to encourage them to step back and engage in reflection. Second, to help the entrepreneur "bring forward" past experiences in order to examine them critically. The point of this examination is to help the entrepreneur understand what happened, how it contributed to where the company stands now, and how to apply that learning proactively by anticipating and responding effectively to similar experiences in the future.

Peer learning. Personal (peer) networks are an important learning domain for entrepreneurs (Brett et al., 2012; Zhang & Hamilton, 2009). Comparatively less research has been done on the benefits of peer advice than on the benefits of professional advice in an entrepreneurial context (Kuhn, Galloway, & Collins-Williams, 2016). However, the role of peer interaction in EL is much more relevant to this study, given that many organized peer

learning networks or programs have much in common with group coaching.

The term "peer learning" as it is used here encompasses many types of organized peer interaction in which individual (versus collective) EL is the focus. Examples include owner-manager peer groups (Zhang & Hamilton, 2009), synergistic learning groups (Collins, Smith, & Hannon, 2006), peer advisory groups (Kuhn et al., 2016), collaborative learning groups (Florén, 2003), and entrepreneurial learning networks (Brett et al., 2012). While subtle differences in design, theoretical orientation, and practice exist between these different examples, they share much in common. More to the point is what these approaches convey about peer learning environments taken as a whole—particularly related to the beneficial impact of peer learning for entrepreneurs, and to the requisite conditions that allow for peer learning to take place in an entrepreneurial context.

Beneficial impact. Entrepreneurial peer groups or networks can provide a fertile context for learning by removing barriers or constraints on EL (Brett et al., 2012). In particular, peer networks can help ease isolation and loneliness, spread useful knowledge and ideas, and foster critical reflection and vicarious learning (Florén, 2003; Gumpert & Boyd, 1984; Zhang & Hamilton, 2009). The learning that takes place through peer interaction can be adaptive, or may involve higher-level processes, or a combination of both.

Reducing isolation and loneliness. As discussed above, isolation for entrepreneurs is often a result of not having anyone in whom to confide, or with whom to share and commiserate about the pressures of owning a business. Peer support helps reduce isolation by virtue of the fact that peers inherently share the same problems and can personally relate to each other's challenges (Kuhn et al., 2016; Zhang & Hamilton, 2009). Peers recognize and share common problems, despite differences in industry or business type, by virtue of

their "peer-ness." Learning in peer networks can overcome feelings of isolation and foster self-confidence, but not because peers necessarily share the same answers to common challenges. Rather, these beneficial effects stem from the fact that entrepreneurs *share the same types of problems* (Zhang & Hamilton, 2009).

In addition, common feelings of isolation and loneliness may actually "precondition" entrepreneurs to participate in and benefit from peer learning opportunities when they arise. According to Zhang and Hamilton (2009), the lack of learning opportunities in their other personal networks (family, customers, employees, vendors, competitors, etc.) results in the recognition that new learning opportunities are needed. In turn, this recognition can manifest as a readiness to engage with and learn from peers. In the context of this study, this notion raises the question of whether and how the specific challenges and learning needs of entrepreneurs may motivate them to seek out and benefit from group coaching or other similar peer learning environments.

Knowledge and ideas. Individual peers may possess relevant knowledge or experience, in which case networking with them can provide access to specialized and timely knowledge (Brett et al., 2012; Kuhn & Galloway, 2015). Over time, networking and collaboration between firms can establish a pool of best practices derived from collective knowledge (Brett et al., 2012). When conducted with an EL focus, peer interaction can also help stimulate the creation and exchange of new ideas, facilitate knowledge sharing through new connections, and provide useful opportunities for personal development (Brett et al., 2012; Collins et al., 2006; Gumpert & Boyd, 1984).

Critical reflection. While peer learning may aid entrepreneurs in solving concrete business problems or acquiring specific skills, it can also support the organization of new

ideas and/or the resolution of complex decisions (Collins et al., 2006). In this case, the role of peers is not necessarily to solve an individual's problems for them, but rather to help them clarify their thinking and consider alternative points of view (Zhang & Hamilton, 2009). This kind of clarification can represent a challenge to an individual's existing values and perceptions, which in turn can stimulate critical reflection and higher-level learning.

Critical reflection is considered a key mechanism through which EL occurs in peer networks (Florén, 2003; Zhang & Hamilton, 2009). According to Zhang and Hamilton (2009), exposure to alternative points of view helps entrepreneurs become more open and reflect critically on their own practices. Peer learning environments can proactively trigger reflection by encouraging the questioning of individuals' behaviors and assumptions (Florén, 2003). Of particular interest to Zhang and Hamilton (2009) was the fact that questioning and disagreement from peers seem to have a stronger impact on learning than consensus.

Vicarious learning. Finally, Zhang and Hamilton (2009) claimed that opportunities to observe or reflect on others' experiences contribute to the value of peer learning. Although learning from critical events is often portrayed as an internal cognitive phenomenon, reflection and learning can also be triggered by external events (i.e., the experiences of peers). In theory, this suggests that peer learning may lower the costs associated with experiential learning by allowing peers to learn from the mistakes and failures of others, without experiencing those failures directly.

Requisite conditions. The research on entrepreneurial peer learning (EPL) refers to several conditions, which when present contribute to making peer learning environments effective. They include a sufficient level of trust, a long-term commitment, and personal accountability.

Trust. Establishing a sufficient level of trust allows members of a group to let their guard down (Florén, 2003). This means there is less pressure to maintain "a professional front" or image (p. 215), making it more comfortable for members to pose questions or admit a lack of knowledge. Trust is fundamentally important to peer learning (Zhang & Hamilton, 2009), and the lack of trust present at many networking events, conferences, and professional seminars is one reason why they tend to be ineffective at supporting EL.

Trust and psychological safety are key to encouraging a fertile exchange of ideas and the sharing of personal experiences (Collins et al., 2006). Openness follows trust. An openness between entrepreneurs allows for the discussion of problems and challenges that everyone experiences, but no one can admit to in public (Zhang & Hamilton, 2009). This supports the notion that EPL may lower the costs associated with entrepreneurship, by providing opportunities to reflect on and solve costly problems that would normally be too risky to acknowledge outside of a trusted group of peers.

Commitment. Long-term commitment, another prerequisite for EPL, allows trust to develop between members, and to increase over time (Florén, 2003). Experiences shared between individuals over time help peers become familiar with each other's enterprises and problems or challenges. This allows for deeper and richer discussions to unfold in ways that aren't possible in shorter-term approaches to learning.

Zhang and Hamilton (2009) echoed this finding, and explained that long-term, stable peer networks provide time for members to get to know one another and to overcome their competitive mentalities. Strong relations with a small group of peers leads to sharing of both personal and business information. Without a long-term commitment to participating in this type of dialogue, a sufficient level of trust and safety cannot be developed. This in turn

greatly constrains possibilities for EL.

Cope and Watts (2000) advised that support for EL must be long-term, contextual, and individualized in order to be effective. In peer learning environments where trust has been established and members have formed lasting relationships, learning is contextualized through the sharing of personal experiences. However, as stated above, learning and action are intimately connected in EL. Sharing and reflecting on shared experience aren't necessarily enough to sustain a peer learning group or network. Action is also critically important (Brett et al., 2012).

Accountability. Brett et al. (2012) argued that in terms of building sustainable peer learning networks, a focus on personal accountability helps ensure that members actually implement change. In effective EPL, individuals become accountable to each other for implementing the ideas and changes that result from group discussion. Brett et al. recommended that EPL programs adopt an ethos of accountability, where members report the result of changes they implement in-between meetings. Such an ethos suggests that members need also discuss instances when individuals fail to take actions they committed to.

Debates and questions. A well-known debate in the entrepreneurship literature centers on whether entrepreneurial opportunities are discovered or created (Buenstorf, 2007). The main issue is whether opportunities exist independently of the entrepreneur (awaiting discovery) or whether they are created by leaps of perception or interpretation on the part of entrepreneurs. A social/contextual learning perspective enriches this debate and introduces possibilities for future research.

As noted by Wang and Chugh (2014), the two positions of opportunity discovery and opportunity creation correspond to two distinct learning types: *sensing* and *intuitive*. These

were originally developed as personality types by Jung (1971). Sensing learning relies on information received externally through the senses, while intuitive learning relies on internal conceptualization (Wang & Chugh, 2014). In entrepreneurship, sensing learning corresponds to the identification or discovery of existing opportunities in the external market environment, whereas intuitive learning corresponds to the creation of new opportunities based on abstract or creative conceptualization.

The research on EPL shows that the social processes involved in peer learning can facilitate both learning types; that is, learning that is external or concrete (acquiring new business knowledge and ideas from others), and learning that is internal or abstract (learning about one's own values and perceptions). However, more research is needed to understand the roles of intuitive and sensing learning, and how social processes can either support or inhibit them. A key question resulting from this discussion is how entrepreneurs search for and acquire external information, and how they make sense of this information through the learning process (Wang & Chugh, 2014). In addition, although previous research on mentorship and EPL has focused on the outcomes associated with participating in such contexts, more research is needed to explore other social contexts in which EL occurs, and to understand the social processes that support and inhibit sensing and intuitive learning in those other contexts.

Summary. Although entrepreneurs can often find themselves feeling isolated and alone, social processes play a key role in EL (Cope, 2005; Hamilton, 2006; Higgins & Aspinall, 2011). Social interaction can help entrepreneurs learn from past events by encouraging critical reflection and supporting action and decision making (Florén, 2003; Zhang & Hamilton, 2009). Peer learning networks or programs can help ease isolation (a

fundamental barrier to EL) by virtue of the fact that peers share common problems and personally relate to each other's challenges. In addition to the therapeutic benefit of "universality" itself (Yalom & Leszcz, 2005), overcoming isolation can help entrepreneurs gain access to timely knowledge, develop best practices and new skills, create and exchange new ideas, and clarify their thinking (Brett et al., 2012; Collins et al., 2006; Kuhn & Galloway, 2015).

EPL can also help challenge entrepreneurs' existing values and perceptions, and help encourage the questioning of long-held behaviors and assumptions. This stimulates critical reflection that leads to higher-level learning (Florén, 2003; Zhang & Hamilton, 2009). In order for EPL to be effective, a sufficient level of trust and safety must be established. The long-term commitment of participants helps establish that level of trust, which in turn allows for a rich and valuable exchange of ideas and sharing of personal experiences. In addition to trust and long-term commitment, action and personal accountability are necessary for building sustainable EPL networks or programs (Brett et al., 2012; Collins et al., 2006; Florén, 2003; Zhang & Hamilton, 2009). Further research in this area is needed to better understand (a) the roles of sensing and intuitive learning, (b) how entrepreneurs acquire and make sense of external information in the learning process, and (c) what other social contexts contribute to EL and what processes support or inhibit learning in these contexts.

So far, I have discussed the research and theory on EL from experiential, organizational, and social learning perspectives. I have argued that learning from experience is a key aspect of EL and a fundamentally important ability in entrepreneurship, and that critical reflection plays a major role in transforming experience into learning and developmental outcomes for entrepreneurs. I have shown that learning from experience can

occur on multiple levels and can be either adaptive (involving changes to existing strategies for dealing with specific situations or types of situations) or generative (involving changes to underlying values or orientations toward self and world in general). I have also described how social processes contribute to learning pertaining directly to enterprise ownership and management, and pertaining to the underlying values and assumptions that inform the actions and choices of individual entrepreneurs.

As mentioned above, there is also a dimension of EL that encompasses identity, or learning about *who one can be* (Higgins & Aspinall, 2011; Rae, 2000). This dimension involves the construction and maintenance of entrepreneurial identity, and the discursive activities that support these processes. I discuss entrepreneurial identity development and the discursive activities that support it in the following section.

Learning and Entrepreneurial Identity

How one defines oneself in relation to others determines how she or he makes sense of the world (Weick, 1995). Identity provides a frame of reference (Leitch & Harrison, 2016) for interpreting social phenomena and assessing potential actions and behaviors. In turn, the way individuals construct and enact their identities influences how others perceive them. From a sensemaking perspective (Weick, Sutcliffe, & Obstfeld, 2005), our notions of self-identity shape our actions and interpretations. This, in turn, affects how others view us and treat us, which either reinforces or destabilizes our identities. This reciprocal social process forms the background against which entrepreneurs construct and manage a sense of entrepreneurial identity.

Identities are created through the process of social interaction (Weick, 1995).

Therefore, one's sense of self shifts and changes in relation to various social situations. In addition, the psychological need to present a coherent and consistent sense of self to others helps determine the shape the self takes from one situation to the next (Goffman, 1982). However, as individuals define themselves differently in response to different social groups or situations, their sense of what is out there (i.e., external situations and circumstances) also changes (Weick, 1995).

From this perspective, entrepreneurial identity is as Leitch and Harrison (2016) described, "a complex, increasingly fluid, multi-level and multidimensional construct" (p. 179). In the sections below, I first review the literature linking learning and identity, then discuss the construction of entrepreneurial identity and the discursive resources employed in entrepreneurial identity construction.

Linking EL and Identity

EL is about learning how to recognize and act on entrepreneurial opportunities, how to create and develop small enterprises, and so on. However, it is also about acquiring identity, or about learning who one can be as an entrepreneur (Higgins & Aspinall, 2011; Rae, 2000). Rae (2000) explained that in EL, knowing, acting, and making sense are interconnected. Over time, as entrepreneurs put new functional knowledge into action, they further develop their understanding of what works. As a result, they come to know that they "can do it," which influences the way they construct their notions of self-identity. In other words, "People learn 'who they can be', construct stories of 'who they want to be' and work towards enacting their storied identity" (p. 151). In this sense, learning *is* becoming, and is therefore integral to the process of entrepreneurial identity development.

Higgins and Aspinall (2011) adopted a sociocultural view of this phenomenon.

Drawing from Lave and Wenger's (1991) theory of "legitimate peripheral participation," they stressed that individuals acquire their social identities by engaging fully in the sociocultural practices of their communities. Culture, after all, provides its own resources for self-construction, delimiting the ways in which we may "legitimately conceive ourselves and others" (Bruner, 1997, p. 147). As a result, entrepreneurs can be viewed as developing their entrepreneurial identities by learning and participating in the social practices of entrepreneurship.

Finally, from a social learning perspective, learning and identity are connected *biographically* (Jarvis, 2009). Jarvis argued that the perceived content of learning is reconfigured through cognitive, emotional, and/or practical processes, and then integrated into an individual's evolving biography. In essence, "it is the person who learns and it is the changed person who is the outcome of the learning" (p. 24). Learning is thus fundamentally connected to identity, as it is the person who learns and becomes a more experienced person as a result of her or his learning.

Despite increasing interest from researchers, the link between learning and entrepreneurial identity requires further study. More research is needed, for example, that asks how the link between learning and identity unfolds in an entrepreneurial context. In what ways does EL occur and shape identity, and what social processes either support or inhibit this type of learning?

Construction of Entrepreneurial Identity

In the same sense that identity is acquired socially, the construction of entrepreneurial identity is also a social phenomenon. Entrepreneurs negotiate their identities through language and behavior, in relation to various circumstances and social situations, and within

the social context of their communities. This activity was defined by Sveningsson and Alvesson (2003) as "identity work." Identity work involves "forming, repairing, maintaining, strengthening or revising the constructions" that result in a coherent and distinctive sense of self (p. 1165). Implicit in this definition is the understanding that identity work is dynamic and ongoing. Thus, from this point of view, identity itself is fluid and changing, rather than static or fixed (Leitch & Harrison, 2016).

Identity work is also deeply embedded in narrative accounts of people and events, as narrators construct their accounts in ongoing ways that position themselves in relation to others (Watson, 2009). Watson described these processes as "mutually constitutive," stressing that individuals strive to shape both a relatively consistent notion of personal self-identity, as well as various social identities, "that emerge in relationship to others in the various milieu in which they live their lives" (p. 257). Identity construction is therefore a relational or discursive activity—something that is accomplished through interaction with others and through mutual participation in a common discourse. It is also performative, in the sense that identities are managed or enacted through social exchange in ways that adhere to cultural rules and that attempt to fulfill personal desires (Beech, 2008; Goffman, 1959).

The subject of entrepreneurial identity has garnered significant interest from researchers over the years. However, Leitch and Harrison (2016) maintain that more research is needed which recognizes identity as a dynamic phenomenon, and which explores the processes of identity work through which entrepreneurial identities are created and managed. What, for example, is the role of identity work in entrepreneurship? What are the processes through which entrepreneurial identities are constructed and negotiated? How do identities form and change in entrepreneurial ventures over time?

Insofar as entrepreneurs construct and manage their identities through social processes, they draw from cultural narratives (discursive resources embedded in culture and environment) in order to do so (Down & Warren, 2008; Watson, 2009). The cultural or discursive resources available to an individual under a given set of circumstances both shapes and constrains her or his identity construction and sense making (Down & Warren, 2008; Watson, 2009). The review explores discursive perspectives on the construction of entrepreneurial identity below.

Discursive Resources and Identity Construction

In the entrepreneurship literature, the relationship between discourse and identity has been explored from several perspectives. Broadly speaking, the conversation is about the linguistic constructs used by entrepreneurs to "establish, maintain, and convey a sense of an entrepreneurial self in everyday settings" (Down & Warren, 2008, p. 6). These constructs take the form of discourses or cultural conversations about entrepreneurship.

Rae (2000), for example, stated that entrepreneurs "learn the language" of entrepreneurial discourse through social interaction. In his view, entrepreneurial capability and identity are at least in part developed through the social process of learning the language used in the cultural discourse on entrepreneurship. According to Down and Warren (2008), this position rests on an understanding of language as "menus of discursive resources which various actors draw on in different ways at different times to achieve particular purposes" (p. 7). In other words, entrepreneurs use discursive resources in a context-dependent way, to position themselves in ways that suit their needs in specific situations (Watson, 2009).

Framed by this broad understanding, studies have explored the discursive resources available to entrepreneurs. One area of focus is the prevailing cultural discourse on

enterprise and its role in shaping cultural notions of the "ideal" entrepreneur (Down & Warren, 2008; Nicholson & Anderson, 2005). Another is the marginalizing effect that these notions have on "non-normative" entrepreneurs (Mallett & Wapshott, 2015). Other researchers have questioned the hegemony of a single normative discourse on entrepreneurship, suggesting instead that entrepreneurs draw from a multiplicity of discursive resources in creative and nuanced ways (Fenwick, 2002; Watson, 2009).

Enterprise discourse. The cultural discourse on entrepreneurship influences how entrepreneurs negotiate their identity claims through social interaction (Mallett & Wapshott, 2015). Traditionally, this discourse has reflected the underlying assumption that entrepreneurship is the engine of economic growth in developed economies (Watson, 2009). As such, the received wisdom of enterprise culture is seen as privileging characteristics such as individual responsibility, competitive individualism, self-sufficiency, and continuous innovation (Dannreuther & Perren, 2013; Fenwick, 2002). Over time, the sedimentation of these hallmarks of "successful" entrepreneurship has led to a cultural notion of the "ideal" entrepreneur—a mythical or heroic and infallible protagonist (Down & Warren, 2008; Nicholson & Anderson, 2005).

Cultural narratives of entrepreneurship have legitimized these notions by portraying successful entrepreneurs as brave, ambitious, creative, risk-takers who thrive in conditions of pressure and uncertainty (Down & Warren, 2008; Downing, 2005). However, the pervasive and normative nature of this discourse causes problems for many entrepreneurs that don't fit the mold (Mallett & Wapshott, 2015). In addition, the idea that individuals are beholden to a single stereotypical ideal of entrepreneurship from which to fashion their identities (or fail trying) may not be as accurate today as it has been in the past (Fenwick, 2002; Watson,

2009).

Marginalizing effect of enterprise discourse. In their qualitative study on the identity work of "olderpreneurs" (older entrepreneurs), Mallett and Wapshott (2015) found that the consumption of enterprise discourse and the construction of a coherent, legitimized sense of entrepreneurial identity are sometimes at odds with one another. Such is the case when certain groups (e.g., olderpreneurs, women and minority entrepreneurs, etc.) engage in forms of enterprise that run counter to the norms of the prevailing discourse. Excluded groups such as these may become marginalized, as they lack suitable discourses to draw from in supporting their identity claims. The resulting "narrative resource poverty" makes it difficult for non-normative entrepreneurs to overcome marginalizing discourses and the sedimented assumptions embedded within them.

Mallett and Wapshott (2015) argued further that individuals may exert agency in resisting the normative discourse—for example, by disrupting its rules (Fenwick, 2002). However, innovation of new or alternative discourses is limited by the available store of discursive resources which achieve legitimacy in the eyes of others (Mallett & Wapshott, 2015). In other words, in viewing identity as a social construction, marginalizing discourses shape others' views of what constitutes legitimate and plausible identity claims. Mallet and Wapshott claim there is a need to "support individual agency and claims for legitimacy through the development of new, counter-hegemonic narrative resources" (p. 15). One interesting question raised by this line of inquiry is whether local peer networks (i.e., peer learning or coaching groups) can help provide these resources—and if so, how?

Multiple resources. Although Mallett and Wapshott (2015) contend that enterprise discourse legitimizes only certain narratives of entrepreneurship while marginalizing others,

they also explain that there is ongoing debate as to how much agency consumers of entrepreneurial discourse have in the construction of their identities. Watson (2009), for example, challenged the notion that individuals involved in entrepreneurial activity are bound within a single, encompassing hegemonic discourse. Instead, Watson argued that entrepreneurs draw from a variety of discursive resources and "institutionalized myths" in their identity work (p. 268). His single-case study of a growing family firm revealed how two principal figures engaged with discursive resources related to strategic management, family, and ethnicity—in addition to notions from enterprise culture.

These resources were used in creative, nuanced, and even contradictory ways as the two actors negotiated their identities in a three-way conversation with the interviewer (Watson, 2009). An example of this is when "Ali," who on his own portrayed himself in ways consistent with heroic mythology, later shifts in "Dina's" presence, abandoning the hero when a better discursive position ("we ordinary street business folk") serves him (p. 265). In Watson's view, the point of highlighting this exchange is to show that identity work is relational and dialogic, and that entrepreneurs use multiple discursive resources, in multiple ways, to make sense of what happens in their businesses, and to negotiate their identity claims with others.

This position stems from the underlying assumption that entrepreneurs are "whole people" and unique individuals first, before considering how their lives are influenced by entrepreneurial work (Watson, 2009). The "entrepreneurial identity" is simply one discursive resource which individuals make use of in their social interactions. Other research has shown that individuals may exercise agency, resistance, and/or pragmatism in their use of discursive resources to construct and negotiate their entrepreneurial identities (Down &

Warren, 2008; Fenwick, 2002; Storey, Salaman, & Platman, 2005).

Exercising Agency. Storey et al. (2005), for example, stated that rather than passively absorb the discourses to which they are exposed, individuals actively "incorporate, modify, or reject notions of enterprise" through their reflexively organized self-narratives (p. 1050). Participants in their study demonstrated agency by manipulating notions of enterprise in order to judge themselves and their failures, to protect themselves from failure and rejection, and to re-classify problems in ways that validated their present realities.

Exercising Resistance. In Fenwick's (2002) qualitative study of self-employed Canadian women, participants demonstrated ways of actively resisting competitive individualism, creating new models of enterprise and at the same time forging new enterprising self-identities. Many of these women were motivated by what Fenwick (2002) called "transgressive desires"—desires that transcend the traditional entrepreneurial discourse emphasizing profit, size, and growth. Examples included desires "to create nourishing workplace communities; to commit to sustainability before expansion; to honour 'right relationships' before competition; and to uphold ethical integrity before profit" (p. 717).

These desires prompted the women to break many business rules embedded in the conventional discourse (Fenwick, 2002) while defining their enterprises and their entrepreneurial selves. For example, a third of the women had not written business plans, and some reported setting their prices in ways that de-prioritized the maximization of profits. Others reported engaging in activities that did not contribute to business productivity, and maintaining interdependent alliances with would-be competitors. These actions reflect the participants' ways of constituting their entrepreneurial selves that resist the conventional

discourse.

Exercising Pragmatism. Down and Warren (2008) meanwhile, examined the pragmatic use of entrepreneurial clichés as discursive resources for freelance entrepreneurs. The metaphorical constructs of hero, warrior, explorer, wizard, or guru are commonly taken up as resources for entrepreneurial identity management. However, these constructs represent an oversimplified, gendered, and extraordinary version of entrepreneurial identity. Down and Warren found that clichés (risk-taking, bravery, ambition, self-sufficiency, etc.) in contrast, facilitate weak (breakable) attachments to entrepreneurial identities—attachments that can be jettisoned quickly if things don't go as planned.

Given the unpredictable nature of entrepreneurial activity, these tentative connections to entrepreneurship provided individuals with a means "to 'be' entrepreneurs without the potentially compromising authentic commitment in their self-identity narratives" (Down & Warren, 2008, p. 18). In this way, clichés may be adopted as "personal theories" (Rae, 2000)—analytical tools which help entrepreneurs determine what works (or what would've worked) as far as interpreting and acting in a given situation.

Summary. Through the lens of identity, EL is about the construction and maintenance of an entrepreneurial sense of self. In this section I have presented arguments about the ways entrepreneurs construct and negotiate their identities socially, drawing from various discursive resources. Some of these resources reflect a single hegemonic and marginalizing cultural discourse on entrepreneurship, while others reflect the multiplicity of discourses within which individuals are inevitably embedded. In addition, entrepreneurs draw upon these resources in different ways at different times, in order to position themselves in relation to others and to achieve desired ends. In the next section, I present

several tentative conclusions from the literature on EL. I then review the literature on group coaching in order to help bring the setting for the present study into focus.

Conclusions from the Entrepreneurship Literature

The distinct challenges of entrepreneurship make learning from experience integral to the entrepreneurial process. Yet learning presents its own challenges for entrepreneurs. Throughout the pages above, I have discussed theoretical and empirical perspectives on several learning-related issues presented in the literature. In the broadest sense, these can be organized into three basic types of learning-related challenges:

- Learning how to learn from experience
- Learning with and from other entrepreneurs
- Constructing and negotiating entrepreneurial identity

Together, they form a set of lenses used in the data collection and analysis phases of the present study.

Learning how to Learn from Experience

Entrepreneurship is characterized by critical learning events. These events are often experienced as prolonged and traumatic critical "periods" or episodes, rather than discrete events with clear temporal and perceptual boundaries. While stressful and difficult to resolve, these episodes are influential in terms of facilitating learning and self-awareness. Learning in this context is fundamentally intertwined with action and behavior, as changes in perception and awareness lead entrepreneurs to act in new ways to resolve new situations that arise out of experience.

Furthermore, critical events or episodes can act as catalysts for higher-level learning: learning that involves critical examination of one's underlying theories of action, or the values and assumptions that guide her or his understanding of effective action. In an entrepreneurial context, higher-level learning is about learning how to learn from experience, or how to translate critical events and crises into learning opportunities. These activities require critical reflection: reflection that generates insight into the underlying values and perceptions that shape behavior.

Both higher-level (exploratory, generative) and lower-level (exploitative, adaptive) learning are necessary in entrepreneurship, but each requires a different set of skills and resources. While many entrepreneurs are proficient at lower-level learning—responding to changes in the environment, correcting problems, adopting new methods, and so on—learning in these situations rarely requires critical reflection. As a result, their underlying values and assumptions about action remain unchanged. In order for their enterprises to survive and develop over time, entrepreneurs must engage in critical reflection that leads to higher-level learning. An entrepreneur's ability to engage in critical reflection plays a key role in determining the learning and developmental outcomes of EL, and in negotiating challenges of this type.

Although much of the EL literature is grounded in an experiential learning perspective, more research is needed to understand how the entire experiential learning cycle unfolds in entrepreneurial contexts, how different social processes and contexts contribute to EL, and how entrepreneurs learn to develop the different sets of skills and resources required for both exploratory and exploitative learning. It has been recommended that research in this area explore questions such as, "What factors play a key role in EL at each stage of the

experiential learning cycle," "what and how do entrepreneurs or entrepreneurial firms learn from the experience of other entrepreneurs," "what cognitive processes do entrepreneurs go through in different learning contexts," and "what and how do entrepreneurs unlearn?"

Learning with and from Other Entrepreneurs

All learning occurs within a social context. Learning is a collective process and a situated activity, shaped as much by sociocultural forces as by specific situations. Although EL depends on social interaction, isolation is a common reality for entrepreneurs and represents a significant barrier. Entrepreneurs often lack colleagues or peers with whom they feel comfortable sharing ideas, processing experiences, or even simply commiserating. Isolation stems from not having anyone with whom to discuss business problems, or in whom to appropriately confide. Since EL is both experiential and social in nature, isolation hinders one's ability to transcend the other two types of learning-related challenges. According to researchers, social contexts such as mentorship, peer networks, or peer learning groups can help counter the effects of isolation and foster EL.

In addition to reducing loneliness and isolation, peer interaction can produce a sense of universality, contribute new knowledge and ideas, stimulate critical reflection, and foster vicarious learning. Peer learning environments and other similar types of social interaction can proactively trigger reflection by exposing entrepreneurs to alternative perspectives, and by encouraging the questioning of ingrained behaviors and assumptions. In promoting higher-level learning, the role of peers is not necessarily to solve an individual's problems, but to help them clarify their thinking, consider alternative points of view, and resolve complex decisions. The value of peer learning is enhanced by the fact that peer learning

groups allow entrepreneurs to observe and reflect on others' experiences, which may lower the costs associated with experiential learning.

Within the debate on whether entrepreneurial opportunities are discovered or created, the challenge of learning with and from other entrepreneurs speaks to the roles of sensing (external) and intuitive (internal) learning. The research on EPL shows that the social processes involved in peer learning can facilitate both learning types; that is, learning that is external or concrete, and learning that is internal or abstract. However, more research is needed to understand the roles of intuitive and sensing learning, and to understand how social processes can either support or inhibit them. A key question resulting from this discussion is, how do entrepreneurs search for and acquire external information, and how do they make sense of this information through the learning process?

Furthermore, there are no studies that explore EPL or other social learning processes in a group coaching setting with entrepreneurs. Previous researchers have shown that group coaching can function as a sounding board for the discussion of business challenges, offering new perspectives and opportunities to learn from others (Van Dyke, 2012, 2014); and as a source of managerial skills development (Scamardo & Harnden, 2007). These results demonstrate that group coaching is worthy of consideration as a potential learning and developmental environment for entrepreneurs.

Although some past research has concentrated on the influence of social processes on entrepreneurship and EL, the context has been either peer communities or community-based action-research programs. Group coaching may differ from these environments in important ways. Thus, further research is needed to understand how the social and experiential processes of EL unfold for entrepreneurs specifically through their experiences in group

coaching. Therefore, another question arising from this inquiry is, given the influence of social processes on critical reflection and higher-level learning, how, if at all, do entrepreneurs experience the unfolding of these processes in a group coaching context?

Constructing and Negotiating Entrepreneurial Identity

Through the lens of identity, EL is about the construction and maintenance of an entrepreneurial sense of self. As indicated above, entrepreneurs construct and negotiate their identities socially, drawing from various discursive resources to position themselves in relation to others and to achieve desired ends. Learning-related challenges of this type involve the successful negotiation of identity, in relation to various circumstances and social situations, and within the social context of one's community. This is accomplished through identity work, which is the process of forming, repairing, and otherwise maintaining constructions that result in a coherent and distinctive sense of self.

Specifically, the challenges inherent in this work involve drawing successfully from existing discursive resources (learning the language of entrepreneurship), overcoming narrative resource poverty, creating new or alternative discursive resources, and learning to use existing resources in creative and nuanced ways. For some individuals, a principal challenge lies in overcoming the marginalizing effects of a prevailing discourse on entrepreneurship. They may do this by learning to exert agency, for example, by resisting and/or breaking the rules of the normative discourse.

The literature in this area leaves open key questions of import to the present study.

Concerning learning and identity, for example, how does this link between them unfold in an entrepreneurial context? In what ways does EL occur and shape identity, and what social processes either support or inhibit this type of learning? With regard to identity work in

entrepreneurship, what are the processes through which entrepreneurial identities are constructed and negotiated? How do identities form and change in entrepreneurial ventures over time? Finally, where group coaching is concerned, how does "coming in from the cold" and engaging with peers in a coaching context influence group members' constructions of entrepreneurial identity? What discursive resources does the group make available to its members, and how are those resources acquired? How do group members make sense of their participation in group coaching—specifically in relation to the construction and maintenance of their own entrepreneurial identities over time?

In the next section I review the literature on group coaching, including the characteristics of group coaching environments, the group-specific learning and change mechanisms at play in group coaching, and the storied experiences of group members.

Group Coaching

As stated above, coaching is a multidisciplinary approach to facilitating learning and change that has roots in psychology, adult learning, and organizational development. The International Coach Federation (ICF) defines coaching as "partnering with clients in a thought-provoking and creative process that inspires them to maximize their personal and professional potential" ("Coaching FAQs," n.d.). Others have defined coaching as a process that supports the achievement of specific personal or professional objectives (Grant, 2006; Kilburg, 1996; Stern, 2004), and as a process that facilitates personal reflection and meaning making (Stelter, 2012, 2014). For the purpose of this study, I define coaching as, *a process that supports personal reflection and meaning making, as well as the achievement of specific personal or professional objectives*. The emergent subdiscipline of group coaching is

concerned with the application of coaching principles in group settings.

Despite a recent upsurge in the number of theoretical works and empirical studies on dyadic (one-on-one) coaching (Grant, 2009, May; Passmore & Fillery-Travis, 2011), knowledge of the subdiscipline of group coaching is still in its infancy (O'Connor & Cavanagh, 2017; Stelter et al., 2011; Van Dyke, 2012). As a result, the literature base is limited, and conceptions of group coaching differ according to a variety of theoretical perspectives. Group coaching *includes* the coaching of intact work teams in organizations (team coaching), as well as coaching that involves other types of groups that may or may not have an organizational focus (Brown & Grant, 2010; Thornton, 2010). To date, researchers have given more attention to the study of organizational team coaching than to other types of coaching groups. However, in its latter form group coaching is becoming increasingly popular among practitioners and consumers (Britton, 2013; Ward, 2008).

There are no studies that specifically explore individual entrepreneurs' experiences of coming in from the cold, or wrestling with issues and challenges related to learning and identity in the context of a group coaching program. However, the literature does help illuminate the setting for the present study, by discussing common characteristics of group coaching environments. In addition, several texts serve to illuminate the group-specific learning and change mechanisms at play in group coaching environments (Kets de Vries, 2014; Stelter et al., 2011; Thornton, 2010), while others have explored the storied experiences of participants (Stelter, 2012; Van Dyke, 2012). This section explores these aspects of the group coaching literature, following a brief definition of the term *group coaching*.

Group Coaching: Definition and Context

Multiple and conflicting definitions of group coaching appear in the literature. This state of confusion stems from the fact that the term is sometimes used to describe both a broad category or class of modalities (as above) and an item within that class (i.e., group, as opposed to peer or team, coaching). In addition, there is no consensus on what constitutes group coaching, or on what parameters are appropriate for distinguishing group coaching from other group-level interventions.

For the purposes of this study, I define *group coaching* as (a) the application of coaching principles to a small group, (b) across multiple sessions, (c) facilitated by a skilled professional, and (d) in service of individual, collective, personal, and/or organizational learning and goals. This definition, while still very broad, excludes several examples of group-level activities or interventions that are represented as group coaching in the literature.

Green, Oades, and Grant (2006), for example, conducted a study on the effects of a 10-week cognitive-behavioral life coaching group program on 28 adults, and found an increase in well-being, goal striving, and hope for group participants. However, their methodology involved a combination of large group workshops and peer-coaching conversations conducted in pairs. Based on the definition above, this type of intervention does not constitute group coaching due to the size of the group, the dyadic (paired) coaching, and the lack of skilled professionals to facilitate the coaching exchanges.

Similarly, Barrett (2006) studied the effects of group coaching on the health and effectiveness of 42 members of an executive team. His findings showed that group coaching reduced burnout, but did not affect productivity. However, Barrett's methodology involved a single-day facilitated large group session, followed by telephone and email follow-up contacts with individuals as necessary. This type of intervention does not satisfy the above

definition of group coaching, due to the large group size, single-day format, and lack of small group interaction.

Kets de Vries (2005, 2011, 2014), Ward (2008), and Florent-Treacy (2009) have written extensively about psychodynamic group coaching in the context of organizational leadership groups or teams. Referred to as Leadership Group Coaching (Kets de Vries, 2005, 2011, 2014), or Psychodynamic Group Leadership Coaching (PGLC; Ward, 2008), these approaches were developed as part of an executive program at the INSEAD School of Business. However, the coaching interventions described by these authors utilize a short-term, single-day or 2-day workshop design. An orientation toward quick results—"change in a single session"—is, in fact, portrayed as a key characteristic of PGLC (Ward, 2008, p. 73). Florent-Treacy (2009), meanwhile, described small group sessions in which group members are coached by their peers in the program, as well as a single leadership 360° group coaching day facilitated by a trained executive coach.

Fusco, O'Riordan, and Palmer (2015) conducted an intervention that comes close to satisfying the definition of group coaching used above. Their format engaged small peer groups over three coaching sessions facilitated by the authors themselves. However, the coaching methodology they describe appears mostly to involve a combination of training and facilitation, supplemented by peer-to-peer coaching.

The aim of the present study is to explore the experiences of independent entrepreneurs (not affiliated with the same organization) who come together as a group and engage a professional coach for the purpose of advancing their individual knowledge and capability as business owners. Other examples of "unaffiliated" group coaching in this vein might include (a) a group of graduate students working with a coach to make faster progress

on their individual dissertations, (b) a group of single parents who work with a coach to help them navigate the challenges of parenting, or (c) a group of senior managers from different companies (or different functional areas of the same company) who engage a coach to help them develop their leadership and/or problem-solving skills.

O'Connor and Cavanagh (2017) pointed out that this type of group can benefit members in multiple ways. For example, a coach can help individuals in the group draw from the challenges, learning, and experience of the other group members. New "relationships and understandings" can emerge out of group interaction, linking individuals across their different situations and contexts. These relational learning and change factors are not possible in dyadic coaching.

Examples. A search of the coaching literature revealed four examples of studies focused on unaffiliated group settings similar to those described above. Van Dyke's (2012) study explored the experiences of 21 executives who participated in 19 different virtual group coaching programs. Her findings indicated that participants used their coaching groups as structures of accountability, as sounding boards for the discussion of business challenges, and as opportunities to gain perspective and learn from others.

Stelter et al. (2011) conducted a mixed-methods study on group coaching for young people who participate in elite sports. Their study found that group coaching facilitated social support measured in terms of social recovery. This resulted in the formation of durable social networks and the cultivation of social capital among group members.

Whitley's (2013) action research study explored how group coaching can be designed to support and facilitate lifestyle changes in people with long-term health conditions (LTC). Five group coaching sessions were conducted with six individuals over an 8-week period.

The sessions were designed to facilitate interaction between group members, SMART goal setting and subsequent action, and the development of a supportive peer environment in which participants could reflect on their experiences. Participants reported that the group helped them practice the skills needed to achieve their goals, thereby supporting them to make changes in their lives, and to cope with and manage their health conditions.

Finally, Scamardo and Harnden (2007) implemented group coaching for managers as part of an employee assistance program (EAP) at the University of Texas at Austin. Participants reported that the group helped them achieve their individual goals for management skills development, while also providing some of the psychotherapeutic benefits of group work discussed by Yalom (1995), including universality, altruism, and the installation of hope.

Other researchers have focused on the coaching of intact work teams within larger organizations—either by external coaches (Hackman & Wageman, 2005; Hauser, 2012) or internal managers (Fournies, 1987; Rousseau, Aubé, & Tremblay, 2013). Although the coaching of unaffiliated groups may appear to have much in common with organizational team coaching, their differences are also important. These differences are outlined in Table 1.

Table 1

Unaffiliated Group vs. Work Team Coaching

| Characteristics | Unaffiliated groups | Work teams | Noted by |
|-----------------|---|---|--|
| Focus | Individual goals and objectives | Team-level goals shared by all team members | (Britton, 2010, 2013; Cockerham, 2011) |
| Relationships | Bounded by the coaching agreement | Pre-established (co- workers or team members in the same organization) | (Britton, 2010, 2013) |
| Setting | Diverse—not necessarily organizational or business-focused | Organizational—within a single organization | (Britton, 2010, 2013; Cockerham, 2011) |
| Approach | Horizontal—comparable vocational levels; no hierarchically senior team leader or manager | Vertical—process focuses upward toward team leader's goals | (Van Dyke, 2012, 2014) |

In some cases the literature reflects a more porous boundary between these two coaching contexts. For example, the high school students who participated in the study by Stelter et al. (2011) belonged to the same school. Thus, it is reasonable to believe that they may have had pre-existing relationships before the beginning of their coaching program. Yet clearly they did not belong to the same work team, and the focus of the coaching was on their individual development.

Likewise, the managers in Scamardo and Harnden's (2007) study all worked for a single organization, but the focus of the coaching was on individual skill development, not on team or organizational goals; and the group members served at comparable vocational levels. Thus, the groups reflected a horizontal approach to group coaching, rather than vertical. In a

vertical approach, the coaching process focuses upward toward a hierarchically superior team leader's goals (Van Dyke, 2012, 2014). In these cases, it is difficult to classify the groups as unaffiliated. However, they were not affiliated in the same sense as intact organizational work teams, where the coaching is far more apt to be focused on team or organizational objectives, and where the approach is almost certain to be vertical rather than horizontal.

Group-Based Learning and Change Mechanisms

This study is concerned with how entrepreneurs experience navigating their individual challenges related to learning and identity in a group coaching context. I have defined group coaching and its context for the purposes of this study. I will now explore several ways of conceptualizing the impact of this form of group coaching on individual learning and change.

There is no single, unifying theoretical perspective on group coaching. Approaches mentioned in the literature draw from, and in some cases integrate, multiple philosophical orientations. These approaches are supported by a combination of practical, theoretical, and research-based knowledge. Orientations toward group-based learning and change vary depending on the approach used, and each orientation brings its own key mechanisms of learning and change. These mechanisms are likely to shape or influence the activities and conversations in which group members engage, as well as the nature of their experiences in group coaching.

In Table 2 below, I present four prominent approaches to group coaching and some of their key mechanisms for learning and change. I then discuss these approaches in detail. The first two, Learning Group Coaching (Thornton, 2010) and Leadership Group Coaching (Kets de Vries, 2005, 2011, 2014), draw heavily from the literatures on group dynamics and group

psychotherapy (Foulkes, 1948; Yalom, 1995; Yalom & Leszcz, 2005). Thus, there is significant overlap in the discussion between these two approaches.

A complete list of all the learning and change mechanisms that inform them is beyond the scope of this review. I have selected the following concepts based on their relevance to the present inquiry, and/or because they echo important themes and distinctions discussed earlier in the context of entrepreneurial peer learning. Other group psychotherapeutic factors, such as an emphasis on the here-and-now (Yalom & Leszcz, 2005) or on the enactment of social routines and social distortions in groups (Kets de Vries, 2014; Thornton, 2010), are not discussed in the context of entrepreneurial peer learning, but do appear in psychodynamic and group analytic approaches to group coaching.

Table 2

Prominent Approaches in Group Coaching

| Approach | Orientation | Key mechanisms for learning and change |
|---|--|--|
| Learning Group Coaching (Thornton, 2010) | Psychoanalytic theory (Winnicott, 1971), group analytic theory (Foulkes, 1948, 1990), group psychotherapeutic factors (Yalom, 1995) | Holding and exchange Connectedness and belonging Interpersonal learning |
| Leadership Group Coaching (Kets de Vries, 2005, 2011, 2014) | Psychodynamic theory, group dynamics (Bion, 1961; Foulkes, 1948), and group psychotherapeutic factors | The clinical paradigm— exploration unconscious forces affecting behavior Recognition and resolution of maladaptive patterns Mutual identification Vicarious learning Imparting information Altruism |
| GROUP model (Brown & Grant, 2010) | Dialogue (Scharmer, 2009), progressive developmental group theory (Tuckman, 1965) | Goal focus Understanding others Performing |
| Narrative- Collaborative Group Coaching (Stelter et al., 2011) | Social constructionism (Berger & Luckmann, 1966), narrative psychology (Bruner, 1990), communities of practice (Lave & Wenger, 1991) | Focus on values Collaborative meaning-making Narrative unfolding |

Learning Group Coaching (Thornton, 2010). In learning group coaching, group members come together for the purpose of individual learning. Thornton (2010) draws from psychoanalytic theory (Winnicott, 1971), group analytic theory (Foulkes, 1948, 1990), and group psychotherapeutic theory (Yalom, 1995) in her discussion of the mechanisms that facilitate learning and change in this type of coaching group. These include holding and exchange, connectedness and belonging, and interpersonal learning.

Holding and exchange. According to Thornton (2010), "All coaching is founded in a developmental relationship blending enough safety in the relationship to enable an encounter with new information" (p. 28). The potential for deep learning and change though group coaching is fundamentally connected to the coach's ability to create a safe, trusting, and intimate group environment (Kets de Vries, 2011; Thornton, 2010). Such an environment allows for meaningful dialogue, and fosters interdependence among group members (Cockerham, 2011).

Thornton (2010) explained this principle using two terms from psychoanalytic and group analytic theory—holding and exchange. The term "holding" was coined by Winnicott (1971), and represents the nurturing relationship that forms between mother and infant. A holding environment is the space of trust and safety that arises out of this nurturing relationship. Winnicott argued that the creation of a holding environment is integral to the practice of psychotherapy, and that holding environments can be constructed through the interaction between therapist and client.

When an environment of sufficient safety is created in a coaching relationship, it allows for an encounter with something new. Thornton (2010) labeled this type of encounter as *exchange*—a term borrowed from group analytic theory (Foulkes, 1948, 1986). Thornton

(2010) explained that there can be no change and development without an encounter with difference, or something that is new or unknown. At the same time, individuals must be able to stand on safe ground when they are challenged by exchange. Consequently, one can only engage with difference (exchange) in an environment of relative safety and trust (holding).

Thornton (2010) argued that these two principles of holding and exchange constitute the basis for effective learning in dyadic coaching. In groups however, holding and exchange become even more complex. An effective group coach must create a holding environment large enough for multiple people, must be able to process difficult feelings that arise for group members, and must create sufficient safety for group members to engage in the risks associated with learning. At a group level, exchange is characterized by a multiplicity of perspectives and assumptions, and requires a "continuous iterative process" (p. 40) of absorbing new information and its implications.

Connectedness and belonging. Thornton (2010) explained that connectedness and belonging are closely linked with the concept of holding. Groups that are "well-held" enable members to feel connected to one another and exude a sense of forward progress. The concept is also closely related to what Yalom and Leszcz (2005) referred to as group cohesiveness— "the attraction that members have for their group and for the other members" (p. 75). Members of a cohesive group convey mutual acceptance and support, and are likely to form meaningful relationships with one another, as well as positive regard for the group and its work (Thornton, 2010). This state of connectedness and the accompanying feeling of belonging act as a major catalyst for change (Kets de Vries, 2014). As Thornton (2010) explained, identification with a "good" group is experienced as a benefit in itself, while also boosting positive self-regard, confidence, and self-acceptance.

Interpersonal learning. A coaching group offers an ideal platform for reflecting on one's behavior and behavioral patterns (Kets de Vries, 2014; Thornton, 2010). Interpersonal learning takes place through the real-time enactment of social routines in the group, coupled with an intention to notice and observe these routines in order to deconstruct them (Yalom & Leszcz, 2005). This provides group members with opportunities to become aware of their behavioral patterns in relation to others (Thornton, 2010), to observe and develop a range of alternatives, and to experiment with different ways of doing things (Kets de Vries, 2014).

Leadership Group Coaching (Kets de Vries, 2005, 2011, 2014). As mentioned above, this integrative approach was developed as part of an executive program at the INSEAD School of Business. Leadership group coaching incorporates elements of motivational interviewing (Miller & Rollnick, 2002), group dynamics (Bion, 1961; Foulkes, 1948; Lewin & Lewin, 1948; Tuckman & Jensen, 1977), and group psychotherapy (Yalom & Leszcz, 2005). Of particular interest to this study are the following concepts: the "clinical paradigm," recognition and resolution of maladaptive patterns, mutual identification, vicarious learning, imparting information, and altruism.

The clinical paradigm. Kets de Vries (2011) argued, "a purely cognitive, rational-structural perspective... will be incomplete if it fails to acknowledge unconscious dynamics that affect human behavior" (p. xvi). The clinical paradigm (or psychodynamic lens) provides a way of viewing human phenomena and people's inner worlds. Through a clinical lens, people's behaviors and behavioral patterns are viewed as the result of unconscious forces that are hidden from view (Kets de Vries, 2014). Surfacing these forces can help group members explore the underlying reasons why they have behaved in particular ways under certain circumstances.

Recognition and resolution of maladaptive patterns. From this perspective, understanding recurring themes and patterns requires looking into the past, and especially at early attachment relationships (Kets de Vries, 2014). A goal of psychodynamic group coaching is to become aware of how present relationships are affected by unresolved and maladaptive patterns formed during these early relationships. Developing this awareness helps group members adapt their behaviors in ways that serve them in the present.

Mutual identification. Kets de Vries (2014) explained that while listening to the stories of others, participants "may come to realize that they are not alone... and that others... struggle with similar problems" (p. 89). In the group psychotherapy literature, this phenomenon is called "universality" (Yalom & Leszcz, 2005), and is defined as the realization that one is not alone in her/his struggles, and that others experience similar challenges (Holmes & Kivlighan, 2000). It has been demonstrated that participants in group therapy benefit from meeting people with similar problems, comparing their difficulties with others, and realizing that their own cases are not as extreme as they had imagined (Danino & Shechtman, 2012). Scamardo and Harnden (2007) found that the experience of universality helped resolve group members' isolation in a managerial context and temper their unrealistic self-expectations.

Vicarious learning. Group members learn through observing and reflecting on others' experiences (Kets de Vries, 2014; Thornton, 2010). In a comparative study of the therapeutic factors of group and individual treatment, Holmes and Kivlighan (2000) found that individuals experienced the therapy of other group members—both through observation and through direct participation. More recently, Kivlighan (2011) found that individuals experience greater session depth when other group members engage in vicarious learning.

Imparting information. Occasionally group members may benefit from receiving didactic instruction, direct advice, or suggestions related to a specific issue at hand (Kets de Vries, 2014; Yalom & Leszcz, 2005). This information may come from the coach or from one or more of the other group members. Kets de Vries (2014) claimed that explanation or direct advice from a coach can sometimes reduce anxiety and establish a sense of control in the face of particularly unsettling problems. Thornton (2010) wrote that feedback and advice related to a group member's specific dilemma invites reflection and thinking about next steps. Such instances often become the subject of follow-up in subsequent meetings.

Altruism. Ironically, helping others can elevate one's own sense of value and self-respect (Kets de Vries, 2014). Eventually, group members become invested in helping one another, and come to profit from the act of giving to others—not just receiving from them (Yalom & Leszcz, 2005). Scamardo and Harnden's (2007) findings echoed this notion. Participants in their study experienced pride and a sense of reward from the act of contributing to other managers. In addition, Yalom and Leszcz (2005) pointed out that group work (unlike dyadic therapy or coaching) encourages role versatility by offering opportunities for group members to alternate between the roles of helper and helped.

GROUP model coaching (Brown & Grant, 2010). Brown and Grant (2010) offered a goal-focused group coaching framework for organizational contexts adapted from the popular GROW model (Whitmore, 2009). Their model, called GROUP, begins with the same three phases as the original dyadic model (Goal, Reality, Options). However, in a group setting, two new phases—*understanding others*, and *performing*—are added.

Goal focus. An explicit focus on goals distinguishes this approach as an alternative to the psychodynamic approaches discussed above. Citing Hackman and Wageman (2005),

Brown and Grant (2010) contend there is little evidence to demonstrate that coaching interventions focused on improving interpersonal relationships result in improved performance. Instead, they argue that group coaching holds under-utilized potential as an instrument for creating goal-focused change in organizations.

Understanding others. The understanding others phase of the GROUP model is based on Scharmer's (2009) group dialogue process. According to Brown and Grant (2010), the goal of this phase is to engage the group in a generative dialogue—the purpose of which is to expand individual and group awareness, and to enable systemic-level responses to client challenges. The term *dialogue* in this context refers to a "flow of meaning" (p. 39) in which participants, thinking together, come to embrace new perspectives and alternatives, and to explore new possibilities through conversation together.

Drawing on the work of Isaacs (1999), Brown and Grant (2010) make an important distinction between dialogue and *discussion*. Where dialogue requires genuine openness, a commitment to embracing uncertainty, and a willingness to let go of being right, discussion involves arguing in favor of a specific position, in a back-and-forth exchange. The coach's role in this phase is to help group members "suspend judgment, become more comfortable with uncertainty and ambiguity, to be open, to listen to others, and... listen to their own personal internal processes" (p. 40).

Performing. The fifth phase of Brown and Grant's (2010) GROUP model focuses on "action design and implementation" (p. 40). Individual and group actions are discussed in the group, which helps to ensure transparency and accountability. Brown and Grant note that the performing phase extends to action taken both within and outside of the coaching session itself. Thus, actions taken in-between sessions are evaluated in subsequent sessions as part of

an ongoing and iterative learning process. A variant of the GROUP model called RE-GROUP is used to incorporate these sessions, when action steps from previous sessions are *reviewed* and *evaluated*, before group members establish new goals.

The importance of action and experimentation as catalysts for learning and change in group coaching has been widely noted (Britton, 2010, 2013; Stelter et al., 2011; Thornton, 2010). Stelter et al. (2011), for example, argued that group coaching shares much in common with communities of practice (Lave & Wenger, 1991; Wenger, 1999). Practice, as defined by Wenger (1999), is "a way of talking about the shared historical and social resources, frameworks, and perspectives that can sustain engagement in action" (p. 5). In a coaching context, the way that group members collectively talk about their challenges can influence their willingness to take action and their readiness for change (Stelter et al., 2011).

Britton (2013) emphasized the role of a group coach in creating a focus on goal-setting, action, and accountability. Implicit in this understanding is the notion that coaching (a) is incomplete without action, and (b) happens in between sessions as individuals take action to integrate their learning into their lives and work (Britton, 2010, 2013).

Narrative-Collaborative Group Coaching (Stelter et al., 2011). In the *narrative-collaborative* model of group coaching, the primary focus is on the generation and application of insights gained through the process of shared meaning making. The approach is founded in social constructionism (Berger & Luckmann, 1966) and narrative psychology (Bruner, 1986; Polkinghorne, 1988). Stelter et al. (2011) conducted their intervention along three dimensions (pp. 126-7): focusing on and reflection about values, providing opportunities in meaning making, and narrative unfolding.

Focus on values. Stelter et al. (2011) explained that the coaches in their study helped

group members reflect on the values "inherent in their intentions, wishes, aspirations, etc., as guiding markers" for organizing their careers, education, and private lives (p. 126). The aim of these conversations was to help the athlete coachees reflect on and better understand the why and how of their involvement in elite sports. Furthermore, the aim of this dimension was to help group members gain a better sense of how their actions and ways of feeling and thinking connected to aspects of self and identity.

Opportunities in meaning-making. Stelter (2007) argued that meaning-making is central to the coaching process. In their study, Stelter et al. (2011) had coaches work to surface their group members' personal processes of meaning-making formed through both experience and tacit knowledge. This work also involved highlighting the social processes of meaning-making occurring in the group dialogue through social negotiation and the sharing of narratives.

Space for the unfolding of narratives. Storytelling is fundamental to meaning-making (Polkinghorne, 1988). Human experiences are organized and made meaningful through the telling of stories. In narrative-collaborative group coaching, the coach allows space for the unfolding of group members' narratives. As group members share stories with one another, and listen to each other's stories, they form a basis for collaborative meaning-making, shared values, and a sense of belonging (Stelter et al., 2011).

According to Stelter et al. (2011), the most significant impact of their group coaching intervention was on the experience of social support measured in terms of social recovery.

This meant that participants learned to share their experiences, thoughts, and reflections as part of a collaborative dialogue, and to collaboratively form new stories about (reinterpret) challenging events and circumstances to convey them in a new light. In addition, the

participants reported changes in behavior reflective of becoming more socially aware and integrated with their peers—even outside of coaching. This was conveyed through the formation of durable social networks and cultivation of social capital among group members.

Participant Narratives in Group Coaching Research

The dominance of the expert or scholar-practitioner perspective limits the existing literature on group coaching. In other words, much of what is written about group coaching privileges the view of experts in the field rather than the rich and varied lived experiences of group coaching participants themselves. This is reflected in many of the works explored above, with the exception of Stelter et al. (2011), who embedded a qualitative interview of group coaching participants into their primarily quantitative study, and Van Dyke (2012).

As part of their study on narrative-collaborative group coaching for young athletes, Stelter et al. (2011) conducted an interpretive phenomenological analysis of participant experiences. Six group coaching participants were selected for mid- and post-intervention qualitative interviews, organized around finding out how group members made sense of their participation. The data indicated that interviewees found the coaching helpful in terms of clarifying their thoughts about self, life, and athletic training and competition. The clarifying action was perceived to be the result of receiving support from, and hearing the reflections of, other group members. Participants viewed the coaching group as a community of practice, which presented opportunities to learn from the experiences and perspectives of others. As a result, Stelter et al. (2011) claimed they came away from the group with new and meaningful strategies for effectively handling challenges in both sports and life.

Van Dyke (2012) conducted a qualitative research study exploring the experiences of 21 executives who participated in virtual coaching groups. Categorical content analysis of

participants' reported experiences revealed five major themes (p. ii): (a) business education, (b) group process, (c) group facilitation, (d) personal development, and (e) virtual community. Participants indicated that their coaching groups functioned as structures of accountability that helped them reach their business goals, as sounding boards for the discussion of business challenges and strategies, and as opportunities for gaining perspective and learning from others.

From a group process perspective, participants indicated that both group cohesion, and an atmosphere of trust and intimacy, contributed to creating sustained opportunities for learning and change. Also, the groups were perceived to function as support systems, as individuals developed deep relationships and a sense of camaraderie with other group members. These findings support the notion that one-off or single-day group coaching interventions fail to capitalize on one aspect of group coaching that participants consider valuable. The coach's facilitation skills were also noted as having a direct impact on the experiences of participants, but mainly in the sense of making things run smoothly, versus impacting on individual learning and change.

Treatment of narrative data. While these findings are important and begin to illuminate individuals' experiences in group coaching, both tend toward a more reductionist or paradigmatic (Bruner, 1986; Polkinghorne, 1995) treatment of participants' narratives. This means that in each case, many narrative accounts were examined for their common elements. These elements were then thematically categorized in order to present an overall view of how interviewees made sense of their experiences (Stelter et al., 2011).

As Riessman (2003) explained, thematic analyses of narrative data emphasize the content of a text—"what" is said, rather than "how" it is said. This allows for the reduction

of complex and nuanced stories of human experience into more manageable thematic material that can be used in the development of theory. However, thematic or paradigmatic approaches are not appropriate for conveying the uniqueness of a particular situation, how the situation came about, or the emotional meaning connected with it (Bailey & Jackson, 2003; Polkinghorne, 1995).

In addition, the contexts in which speech is uttered (cultural and institutional discourses within which participants' stories are embedded, as well as the relational context of the interview itself) are not usually examined. As a result, narrative data are decontextualized in the above studies, thus limiting the complexity and richness with which participants' experiences are conveyed. Missing from the literature are studies that emphasize (a) the contexts in which individuals' group coaching experiences are embedded, (b) the way that participants employ various discursive resources in their constructions of group coaching experiences, and (c) the full complexity, richness, and emotionality of human experiences within a group coaching context.

Conclusions from the Group Coaching Literature

The group coaching literature, though limited, offers knowledge and perspective on the different contexts in which group coaching occurs, its many approaches and theoretical orientations, and its key mechanisms of learning and change. As mentioned above, the present study is concerned with unaffiliated coaching groups—groups that mostly occur outside of a singular organizational or work team context. These groups are characterized by a focus on individual goals, relationships that are usually bounded by the coaching agreement, diverse settings, and a horizontal approach.

There is no single, unifying theory of group coaching. As this review shows, approaches draw from and integrate multiple orientations, including psychoanalytic and group analytic theory, group psychotherapeutic factors, dialogue, narrative psychology, and communities of practice. Different approaches utilize different mechanisms of learning and change, including holding and exchange, universality, interpersonal learning, goal focus, collaborative meaning making, and so forth, all of which were examined above.

While conceptual models of group coaching practice abound, empirical studies on the experiences of participants are few—especially in the context of unaffiliated coaching groups. Research shows that group coaching with a narrative-collaborative orientation can help individuals clarify their thoughts about self and life, learn vicariously from the experiences of others, and reinterpret challenging events and circumstances to convey them in a new light (Stelter et al., 2011). Virtual group coaching (Van Dyke, 2012) can serve as structures of accountability for executives, as sounding boards for the discussion of business challenges and strategies, and as opportunities for gaining perspective and learning from others.

Although no studies have specifically explored entrepreneurs' experiences navigating challenges related to learning and change in a group coaching context, the findings above may still hold relevance for the present study. In addition, they support many of the principles and findings described in the literature on entrepreneurial peer learning above. What is missing from the literature are studies that emphasize (a) the contexts (cultural and institutional) in which individuals' group coaching experiences are embedded, (b) the ways that participants employ various discursive resources in their constructions of their group

coaching experiences, and (c) the complexity, richness, and emotionality of entrepreneurs' lived experiences in group coaching.

Conclusion of Chapter 2

This review of the literature situates the present study in the scholarly conversations on entrepreneurship and group coaching. Relevant literature areas within these conversations include the experiential and social processes involved in EL, the construction and maintenance of entrepreneurial identity, and the mechanisms of learning and change involved in group coaching. With this review, I have also illuminated several debates and gaps in the existing literature, which provide a substantial rationale for this study.

Focus and Significance of the Inquiry

In the preceding review, I argued that the distinct challenges of entrepreneurship make learning integral to the entrepreneurial process, and that social interaction plays a key role in entrepreneurial learning (EL). I further asserted that EL is characterized not only by the acquisition of knowledge, but also by the acquisition of identity—which in a discursive sense involves a marshaling of resources to suit different relational purposes at different times. I showed that entrepreneurs tend to grapple with at least three types of learning-related challenges: (a) challenges related to learning how to learn, (b) challenges related to learning with and from others, and (c) challenges related to constructing and negotiating entrepreneurial identity.

I established that social processes, including those related to peer learning and identity work, contribute to entrepreneurial learning and identity development in important

ways. While researchers have begun to explore the impact of social processes on EL, further research is needed to better understand these processes as well as the social contexts in which EL occurs. Group coaching represents one such context, and the intersection of group coaching and EL has yet to be explored. Further research is needed to understand how the social and experiential processes of EL unfold for entrepreneurs, specifically in relation to their group coaching experiences.

The literature on group coaching is still in its infancy, and many texts have focused on establishing conceptual models of group coaching and/or on examining different mechanisms of learning and change that underlie coaching practice. Very few studies have focused on what people actually experience in group coaching, and none have focused on the experiences of entrepreneurs. I argued that there is a particular need for further research that emphasizes (a) the contexts (cultural and institutional) in which entrepreneurs' group coaching experiences are embedded, (b) the ways that entrepreneurs employ various discursive resources in their constructions of their group coaching experiences, and (c) the complexity, richness, and emotionality of entrepreneurs' lived experiences.

This study sought to explore the experience of group coaching as a setting for entrepreneurial learning and change. The research question was

Given the impact of social processes on learning and identity, what does it mean to entrepreneurs to navigate their learning-related challenges in the context of a coaching group?

This question takes on added significance when bearing in mind the loneliness and isolation that are characteristic of entrepreneurial lives. To what extent (if at all) do these individuals experience "coming in from the cold?" To the extent that they do, what does this mean to them in the context of their challenges related to learning and identity? Applying an awareness of sequence and temporal flow, how do entrepreneurs experience that path (from isolation into group coaching space), especially in relation to their learning-related challenges? How, at what point(s), and to what extent do they acquire new discursive resources, or new capacities for critical reflection (for example), along the way?

CHAPTER THREE: METHODS

This chapter outlines research approach and design, including methods of data collection and analysis, sampling strategy, validity, researcher reflexivity, and findings from the pilot study.

Research Design

Purpose and Research Question

The purpose of this research study was to explore the experience of group coaching as a setting for entrepreneurial learning and change. Although research has begun to explore the impact of social processes on EL, further research is needed to better understand the social processes and contexts that contribute to individual learning. Group coaching is one such context, and the intersection of group coaching and EL has yet to be explored. In addition, there is limited empirical research on group coaching, and existing studies of participant experience are rooted in paradigmatic orientations toward knowledge. This study emphasizes the contexts in which individuals' group coaching experiences are embedded, the discursive nature of narrative constructions, and the complexity, richness, and emotionality of lived experience.

The research question was, Given the impact of social processes on learning and identity, what does it mean to entrepreneurs to navigate their learning-related challenges in the context of a coaching group?

Research Approach

All research is bound within certain assumptions about the nature of the world and how it should be studied. This study is rooted in a *constructivist-interpretive* research

paradigm (Denzin & Lincoln, 2011), using a qualitative approach and narrative methods of inquiry and analysis. A constructivist viewpoint assumes that any understanding of the world is necessarily a construction, rather than an objective reporting of reality (Maxwell, 2013). From this point of view, meaning is understood to be subjective and varied. The focus of research is on interpreting the meaning that individual participants give to specific aspects of their world and their experience (Creswell, 2009).

In general, qualitative approaches are suitable when the research goal is to understand the meaning that participants attribute to specific events, situations, or other social phenomena (Creswell, 2009; Maxwell, 2013). Qualitative research emphasizes individual meaning, and often seeks to render the complexity of lived experience (Creswell, 2009). In addition, qualitative studies frequently examine the social contexts in which human activity occurs, as well as the influence of that context on the actions and meaning making of individuals (Neuman, 2012).

Where research on entrepreneurship is concerned, recent works have established the validity and appropriateness of narrative approaches for developing new insights into the nature of entrepreneurship and the lived experiences of entrepreneurs (Hamilton, 2006, 2014; Rae, 2000; Watson, 2009). With regard to EL, for example, narrative methods have been used to form new and more nuanced understandings of how individuals develop entrepreneurial capability through learning (Rae, 2000; Zhang & Hamilton, 2009). According to Rae (2000), narrative is a suitable mode of inquiry for exploring the "living theories" of entrepreneurship implicit in individuals' stories of experience, as well as the cultural discourses from which these theories are formed.

Narrative is a natural fit for examining the human, social, and cultural aspects of entrepreneurship, as well as the ways in which individual entrepreneurs engage with and shape their social world, and vice versa (Hamilton, 2006; Rae, 2000). Much research on entrepreneurial identity examines the role of cultural discourses and "master narratives" in shaping the self- and social identities of entrepreneurs (Watson, 2009). Such explorations of entrepreneurial discourse require methods that engage participants in the telling of stories. As Rae (2000) explained, "If we are to understand the life-worlds... of entrepreneurial people, we need an approach which enables exploration of the choices they make, through the accounts they give" (p. 148).

Riessman's (2008) writing on narrative methods emphasized the meaning-making function played by narrative. When individuals experience "biographical disruptions" or discontinuities, they make sense of these events through storytelling. This perspective bears much in common with entrepreneurship researchers' conceptions of learning through critical episodes (Cope & Watts, 2000) or discontinuous events (Deakins & Freel, 1998), discussed above. For all of these reasons, a narrative mode of inquiry is well-suited for addressing the research aims and questions posed by this study.

Narrative inquiry. The terms *narrative inquiry* and *narrative research* are used synonymously throughout this study. A narrative perspective in research operates on the assumption that human experiences are organized and made meaningful through the telling of stories (Polkinghorne, 1988; Riessman, 2008). Narrative researchers explore the stories or storied descriptions of events that take place in the lives of individuals (Pinnegar & Daynes, 2007; Polkinghorne, 2010).

Narrative inquiries may lead to general knowledge about a phenomenon (knowledge that arises out of a search for common elements across multiple accounts). However, they may also lead to knowledge of the uniqueness of specific situations, or of how and why a specific situation came to be (Bailey & Jackson, 2003; Polkinghorne, 1995). In either case, data in narrative or storied form are special because of their ability to convey the richness and meaning of human experiences. Polkinghorne (1995) argued that the storied linguistic form is unique in its ability to convey the complexities of human activity, encompassing temporal sequence, human intention, and both interpersonal and macro-institutional contexts.

What qualifies as a story in narrative research, as well as the methods chosen to study participants' stories, varies. Different researchers use different strategies of inquiry and analysis, (Lieblich, Tuval-Mashiach, & Zilber, 1998; Riessman & Quinney, 2005). These strategies break down along different ideological, epistemological, and ontological understandings of the narrative phenomenon (Clandinin, 2007). In terms of analysis (see below), some approaches mimic more "objectivist" modes of research, while others take a more holistic and/or relational view (Riessman, 2003). Choices related to methods of inquiry and analysis bear heavily on the outcomes of narrative studies. Therefore, design choices in narrative research must be consistent with the study goals and philosophical orientation of the inquiry at hand.

Fundamental tensions. The multiplicity of approaches to narrative research, coupled with a lack of consensus about the meaning of the term "narrative," has led to a number of fundamental tensions in narrative research. Polkinghorne (1995) has helped to disentangle some of these, by distinguishing between non-narrative and narrative data, and by drawing

on Bruner's (1986) work to distinguish between two different modes of cognition and their influence on narrative research. These distinctions are explored below.

Narrative data. According to Polkinghorne (1995), narrative data are set apart by their storied form, whereby events and situations are organized in terms of a conceptual theme or "plot." A plot carries a notion of temporal sequence, and provides contextual meaning by which individual events are configured into a unified and coherent whole. A story combines individual events and happenings in such a way that they acquire relational significance. Non-narrative data, on the other hand, are pieces of information which lack a sense of historical or future meaning (Bailey & Jackson, 2003) and which merely provide factual information that is devoid of relational or contextual significance.

Paradigmatic vs. narrative reasoning in narrative research. Polkinghorne (1995) argued that narrative inquiries can be divided into two groups according to Bruner's (1986) narrative and paradigmatic modes of cognition. Paradigmatic approaches in narrative research use classification and categorization in order to produce general knowledge of a phenomenon (Bailey & Jackson, 2003). The process involves examining stories for their data in order to produce categories from common elements across multiple stories (Polkinghorne, 1995).

In contrast, studies that utilize narrative reasoning emphasize the particular characteristics of specific situations and lives, the temporal context of human experiences, and the intentions and consequences associated with various actions (Bailey & Jackson, 2003; Polkinghorne, 1995). Whereas paradigmatic reasoning focuses on elements of commonality, narrative reasoning focuses on what makes each instance of human action

unique and remarkable. According to Josselson and Lieblich (2003), the search is for "truths unique in their particularity, grounded in firsthand experience" (p. 259).

Whether a study is grounded in paradigmatic or narrative cognition carries implications in terms of both method and outcome. Analytic methods, for example, can vary greatly depending on a study's cognitive orientation (Bailey & Jackson, 2003; Polkinghorne, 1995; Riessman, 2003). Paradigmatic modes of analysis tend toward a more thematic and reductionist treatment of narrative accounts (e.g., a search for common elements across the entire data set) in order to produce general knowledge from the particulars of individual stories. Narrative modes, on the other hand, tend toward more holistic and relational treatments (e.g., an exploration of the particularities of a given situation) in order to produce a higher-order, storied understanding of an individual's experience.

While the tension between these approaches is important to understand and acknowledge, not every narrative study falls neatly into one category or the other. In practice, these distinctions are often blurred, and different approaches borrow elements from both cognitive modes (Riessman, 2003). The importance of mentioning it here is not to position this study as either paradigmatic or narrative, but rather to provide context for some of the methodological choices involved in conducting narrative research.

Fundamental assumptions. Rae (2000) emphasized the fact that life stories are inherently "subjective, socially constructed accounts in which the teller is both actor and narrator" (p. 150). Narrative researchers embrace this assumption, and the related idea that narrative data are co-constructed as part of a collaborative relationship between the researcher and the researched (Riessman, 2008; Riessman & Quinney, 2005). Narrative, in contrast to more positivistic modes of research, does not assume or seek to establish

objectivity (Josselson & Lieblich, 2003). Instead, narrative researchers acknowledge their own reflexivity and transparently explore their active role in shaping the research outcomes (Bell, 1999; Kroll, 2015).

The aim of narrative research is "to create interpreted description of the rich and multilayered meanings of historical and personal events" (Josselson & Lieblich, 2003, p. 259). This involves looking beyond (or beneath) the material "facts" of a story, at the shape and significance of participants' selective renderings of experience (Josselson, 2006). Riessman's (2003) explanation succinctly captures this notion:

Narratives do not mirror, they refract the past. Imagination and strategic interests influence how storytellers choose to connect events and make them meaningful for others. Narratives are useful in research precisely because storytellers interpret the past rather than reproduce it as it was. The "truths" of narrative accounts are not in their faithful representations of a past world, but in the shifting connections they forge among past, present, and future. (p. 6)

For this reason, analytical attention must be paid to *how* a story is being told, for *whom*, and for what purpose. What cultural discourses contribute to the story's telling? Why are events ordered in *this* way, as opposed to another, and so on. (Riessman, 2008; Riessman & Quinney, 2005)?

Validity in narrative research. "Validity" can be a loaded word in interpretive research as it tends to be associated with more positivist approaches. In much qualitative research, validity is based on establishing the accuracy of a study's findings (Creswell, 2009). Qualitative researchers utilize a variety of methods to help ensure validity, including triangulation (using multiple, converging data streams), member checking (taking themes

back to participants to check for accuracy), clarifying researcher bias, and using rich, thick descriptions to convey findings.

Neuman (2012), however, commented that qualitative researchers are often concerned more with "authenticity" than with validity. Authenticity, in this context, means "giving a fair, honest, and balanced account of social life from the viewpoint of someone who lives it" (p. 125). Polkinghorne (1988, 2007) argued similarly that validity in narrative research arises out of the believability or *verisimilitude* of a statement or claim. Validation, in this context, serves the purpose of convincing readers of the strength of a claim, and of its merit as a basis for understanding. According to Polkinghorne (2007), the kind of knowledge claims that narrative research makes are claims about "the meaning life events hold for people... [and] about how people understand situations, others, and themselves" (p. 476). Readers assess narrative research for the believability and trustworthiness of its claims, rather than for accuracy in any objective sense.

Narrative researchers recognize that storied evidence differs from numbered evidence or direct observations (Pinnegar & Daynes, 2007; Polkinghorne, 2007). The point of narrative research is not to determine whether life events as described conform to actuality, but rather to determine something about the personal meaning experienced by individuals (Polkinghorne, 1988, 2007). Storied evidence provides support for claims about personal understandings of human experiences. However, the descriptive value of storied accounts should not be fully ignored either. Lieblich et al. (1998) charted a "middle course" in approaching narrative texts:

We do not advocate total relativism that treats all narratives as texts of fiction. On the other hand, we do not take narratives at face value, as complete and accurate

representations of reality. We believe that stories are usually constructed around a core of facts or life events, yet allow a wide periphery for freedom of individuality and creativity in selection, addition to, emphasis on, and interpretation of these "remembered facts". (p. 8)

Threats to trustworthiness in narrative research arise out of the fact that the storied descriptions of the meanings of events experienced by participants are not an exact reproduction of experienced meaning (Polkinghorne, 2007). The limitations inherent in language and personal awareness, the social intentions of participants, and the socially constructed nature of storied accounts, are all potential sources of disjunction between experienced meaning and storied description. In order to establish the trustworthiness of their claims, researchers must address each of these concerns. The principal task is to reduce the distance between participants' stories about their experienced meaning and the experienced meaning itself.

Riessman (2008) recommended that narrative researchers employ several strategies to ground their claims for validity. These include "reliance on detailed transcripts; attention to language, contexts of production, and... to structural features of discourse; (c) acknowledgment of the dialogic nature of narrative; and (if relevant) a comparative approach... [to interpreting] similarities and differences among participants' stories" (p. 193). In addition, Riessman noted that proceeding along a "methodical path," carefully documenting all procedures and knowledge claims, and practicing critical reflexivity, all contribute to claims for validity.

Reflexivity. Riessman (2008) defined reflexivity as "critical self-awareness about how the research was done and the impact of critical decisions made along the way" (p. 191).

This includes personal awareness of one's role as a constructor of knowledge (Josselson & Lieblich, 2003), and direct acknowledgment of the fact that the researcher is an active participant in the research process (Curtin & Fossey, 2007). A reflexive stance takes into account the researcher's own personal background and experiences, as well as her or his positioning with regard to gender, age, race, nationality, and other sociocultural factors (Bailey & Jackson, 2003; Josselson & Lieblich, 2003). It requires researchers to be explicit about their own personal biases, assumptions, and values (Curtin & Fossey, 2007). Narrative studies are strengthened by the inclusion of a personal statement reflecting on these issues and on the researcher's personal inclinations and characteristics that are likely to influence the research (Josselson & Lieblich, 2003). I have included a personal statement near the end of this chapter.

Narrative Analysis. The term *narrative* is used to describe both a type of qualitative inquiry (discussed above), and a family of analytical methods used in the interpretation of storied data (Riessman, 2008). Several typologies have been developed in order to help distinguish and classify different narrative analytical methods. In particular, the works of Polkinghorne (1995) and Riessman (2003, 2008) provide a useful framework with which to position the current study in terms of analytical strategy.

First, Polkinghorne (1995) noted two primary types of narrative analytical methods, corresponding to the two kinds of cognition (paradigmatic and narrative) described above. *Analysis of narratives* employs paradigmatic reasoning and processes. Researchers collect stories and analyze them in order to produce descriptions of themes that run across the stories, or across the characters or settings that appear in different types of stories. Paradigmatic analysis, according to Polkinghorne, is "an examination of the data to identify

particulars as instances of general notions or concepts" (p. 13). The researcher inspects several stories in order to distinguish common conceptual themes which appear in all of them.

The second method, *narrative analysis*, is based on narrative reasoning and processes (Polkinghorne, 1995). It entails collecting descriptions of "events and happenings" and organizing them into a *higher-order* plot or story that is informed by theoretical knowledge, context, and actual events (Bailey & Jackson, 2003; Polkinghorne, 1995). In narrative analysis, the researcher configures elements of the data into a coherent explanatory account. The process involves a synthesizing of the data rather than a separation or reduction of the data into their constituent parts.

Riessman (2003) outlined a range of analytical approaches, although elements of her typology reflect Polkinghorne's essential distinction. *Thematic analysis*, for example, places emphasis on the content of *what* was said—the *told*, rather than the *telling*. The process involves collecting many stories and "inductively creating conceptual groupings from the data" (p. 2). Like in "analysis of narrative," the search is for common thematic elements or categories that stretch across multiple stories, participants, and events. Riessman noted that the thematic approach views language as an unambiguous resource, rather than as a topic of investigation in itself. The relational context of the interview, and the cultural and institutional discourses that inform participants' stories, are usually not explored.

In *structural analysis* (Riessman, 2003, 2008), attention shifts to *how* participants' accounts are constructed in order to achieve strategic ends. Thematic content is not ignored, but an emphasis on narrative form introduces new possibilities for interpretation beyond the

referential meanings of a text. Narratives are examined for the specific devices narrators use in order to accomplish communicative work.

Finally, dialogic/performance analysis (Riessman, 2008) refers to a holistic interpretive approach, which "interrogates how talk among speakers is (dialogically) produced and performed as narrative" (p. 105). Whereas thematic and structural models ask what and how, respectively, dialogic/performative analysis asks who (or to whom speech acts are directed), when, and why (or for what purpose)? As in Polkinghorne's (1995) "narrative analysis," careful attention is paid to the interactional, historical, institutional, and discursive contexts in which narratives are produced.

Although Riessman (2008) does not say so explicitly, *who* can also apply to the identity of the person narrating. This approach assumes a performative definition of identity and identity construction. According to this view, identities are dynamically constituted in social relationships and "performed" with specific audiences in mind. As a result, dialogic/performative analysis is useful for exploring the construction and maintenance of identity as a social/discursive activity.

Choices related to analytical method. The present inquiry is a multi-faceted exploration of entrepreneurial learning and identity in a group coaching setting. As such, different aspects of the inquiry call for different analytical strategies. For example, questions related to how EL unfolds in a group coaching context are best served by a thematic approach to analysis (analysis of narratives). The goal of the inquiry would be to identify common themes across multiple accounts, in order to create general knowledge of the relationship between EL and group coaching.

Similarly, a thematic approach would be appropriate for producing general knowledge about navigating entrepreneurial challenges in a group coaching setting. A thematic analysis could also produce general knowledge about the path from relative isolation into group coaching space (coming in from the cold), and about the meaning that path holds for entrepreneurs. Here however, an added structural emphasis could help uncover how individual entrepreneurs accomplish the communicative task of conveying their own movements along their respective paths, or conveying the significance of events that unfolded along the way. This would allow the study to compare and contrast the narrative devices used by different participants.

On the other hand, a dialogic/performative analysis of how entrepreneurs experience the path from isolation into group coaching space could reveal the influences of various discourses (family, enterprise, culture) on participants' sensemaking and rendering of their experiences. Such an analysis could potentially shed light on entrepreneurs' acquisition of new or alternative resources used in the construction and maintenance of their entrepreneurial identities. It would also bring the researcher's voice into the analysis, reflexively exploring the ways in which narratives are/were co-constructed throughout the interview process.

The present study blended multiple analytical approaches to produce both general and specific knowledge. The question is about which analytical strategy moved to the fore (which became the lead), and which became secondary or supplemental? For example, the study could've led with a thematic focus on how EL unfolds in group coaching, or with a performative/dialogic focus on the construction and maintenance of entrepreneurial identity, and/or on the discursive resources acquired by entrepreneurs as they navigate their challenges in a group.

The pilot study (discussed below) gave me an opportunity to experiment with both narrative and thematic analytical strategies, and to resolve this choice. Having explored the appropriateness of different analytical methods in relation to the collected pilot data, and having compared the preliminary findings resulting from both analytical paths, I chose to lead with a narrative analytical strategy, and to use thematic methods to supplement and strengthen my analysis and findings. However, in keeping with Josselson and Lieblich's (2003) advice, I remained flexible and open to change throughout the study, rather than clinging tightly to a rigid plan.

Design

This study used a qualitative approach and narrative methods of inquiry and analysis, as described above. The section below outlines the research design and methods used.

Semi-structured in-depth interviews. The study utilized qualitative interviewing as the principal means of data collection. Interviews are well suited for examining personal meaning, lived experience, and self-understanding (Kvale, 2007). According to Chase (2003), "When we listen carefully to the stories people tell, we learn how people as individuals and as groups make sense of their experiences and construct meanings and selves" (p. 80). In addition, interviews are effective at producing deeper understandings of the complexities of individuals' social worlds, as well as the social resources (cultural, historical, discursive, etc.) that shape and influence how their stories are constructed and told. I describe the interview protocol and strategy, as well as the researcher's stance as an interviewer, in greater detail below.

Participant selection. The meaning of the term *entrepreneur* is debated in the literature and in popular use. Throughout much of the literature reviewed for this study the

terms "entrepreneur," "small business owner," and "small- and medium-sized enterprise (SME) owner-manager" are treated synonymously. The definition implicit in these texts depicts owner-managers of small firms, who have an outsized financial stake in their businesses, and who are the primary decision makers in their firms (Cocker, Martin, Scott, Venn, & Sanderson, 2012). However, some researchers draw a clearer distinction between entrepreneurial and non-entrepreneurial activities and settings.

For example, Wang and Chugh (2014) contend that an individual's attitude and behavior with regard to exploring and exploiting entrepreneurial opportunities distinguishes entrepreneurs from non-entrepreneurs. Opportunity exploration and exploitation are widely acknowledged as central processes of entrepreneurship (Shane & Venkataraman, 2000). Thus, they inform the fundamental activities of entrepreneurs. In line with this view, Wang and Chugh (2014) proposed that entrepreneurial and non-entrepreneurial be taken to represent ends of a spectrum, rather than separate sides of a polarity.

In popular use in the United States, entrepreneurship and small business ownership are described in distinct terms. Entrepreneurs are often thought of as bringing innovative ideas or product offerings to market, embracing new risks and the unknown, and focusing on rapid scaling and high returns (Seth, 2014, September 25). In contrast, small business owners are often thought of as working with known products or services, tending to focus more on achieving stability or controlled growth, and on managing known risks. This study focuses on the experiences of those who in the US might commonly be called "small business owners" rather than entrepreneurs.

However, holding this distinction too tightly runs the risk of discounting the lived experiences of some entrepreneurs. Nearly all of the participants in this study, for example,

consider themselves to be entrepreneurial, despite the fact that several of their businesses tend toward the non-entrepreneurial end of the spectrum. Their claims to entrepreneurship are important constructs in their notions of self-identity and in their organization of experience. This mirrors my own experience in practice. Many small business owners, for example, must think and act in enterprising or entrepreneurial ways in order to survive. They must often learn to identify and exploit new opportunities in the marketplace in order to achieve and sustain success, even when stability is their stated goal. They must also grapple with new risks and the unknown as the environment moves and changes around them.

Therefore, my use of the terms "entrepreneur" and "business owner" more closely resemble their use outside of the US where the distinctions between them are somewhat less pronounced. Adopting Wang and Chugh's (2014) notion of the entrepreneurial spectrum, my research participants' stories place them at different points on the entrepreneurial spectrum at different times, though none can be considered non-entrepreneurial. In addition, all of the participants identified themselves as entrepreneurs rather than as business owners, and several described what they saw as considerable differences between the two.

Selection method. Purposive or purposeful sampling (Creswell, 2009; Neuman, 2012) was used in order to select participants and cases that met the study's criteria for inclusion. Two sets of criteria were used—one to determine whether group coaching programs were eligible for inclusion in the study, and one to determine whether individual group members were eligible.

Criteria for inclusion of group coaching programs. In order for their group members to be considered for inclusion in the study, the group coaching programs met all of

the following criteria, consistent with the definition of group coaching offered in Chapter 2 above:

- 1. The program is targeted toward entrepreneurs and/or small business owners.
- 2. The program is organized around the application of coaching principles to a small group.
- 3. Group members engage with one another over time and across multiple sessions.
- 4. The program is facilitated by a skilled coaching professional.
- 5. Group members come together in service of individual, collective, personal, and/or organizational learning and goals.

Criteria for inclusion of individual participants. In order to be included in the study, individuals met the following criteria:

- 1. Participants must own and operate their own business or entrepreneurial venture.
 - a. Ideally, businesses must have 50 or fewer full-time employees.
 - b. Businesses must earn no more than \$15 million in gross annual revenue.

The U.S. Small Business Administration (SBA; 2016) generally defines small businesses as employing 500 or fewer employees, with average annual receipts of \$7.5 million. However, exact standards vary widely according to industry. As this study is concerned with sole owners of "simply structured" businesses (Hatch & Cunliffe, 2013), I adopted the 1996 European Commission small and micro enterprises standard (Deakins & Freel, 2012) of 50 or fewer employees instead. Since the study is not concerned with any one particular industry, I established an annual revenue standard of \$15 million or less. This figure is consistent with the

- SBA's standards for the advertising, public relations, and business support services sectors, as well as other sectors not specifically named.
- 2. If a startup, the owner must have considerable financial investment at stake (not venture-funded). The study focuses on entrepreneurs who are independent owners and who do not share stake in their businesses with a larger entity. This helped to ensure that all participants had exposure to the financial and related risks that accompany entrepreneurship (discussed above in Chapter 2).
- 3. Participants must have actively participated in an eligible group coaching program for at least 2 months, and at least three group sessions over time. In keeping with the study's definition of group coaching, this limited the sample to only participants who had at least had the opportunity to learn and change over time in their coaching groups.

Individuals who did not meet the criteria were thanked for their time, interest, and willingness, and instructed that the present study is primarily interested in exploring the experiences of entrepreneurs who meet the preceding criteria for inclusion.

Size. Nine participants met the criteria for inclusion and chose to participate in the study. Of these nine, two participated in the pilot study and seven in the main study. Data from one of the pilot interviews were later added to the main study, bringing the total number of participants in the main study to eight. This was an appropriate number given the design of the study. It enabled me to pay close attention to the complexities of each individual's social world, as well as the social contexts (cultural, historical, discursive, etc.) that shaped and influenced how participants' stories were constructed and told. It also allowed me to write up the participants' higher-order stories as longer-form narratives in order to convey

this level of detail. A smaller number would have failed to capture a robust enough variety of experiences, and would have limited my ability to draw meaningful thematic findings from across the entire collection of stories. A larger number would have risked becoming unwieldy for the reader.

Six participants in the main study were referrals from two different groups led by the same group coach. The other two were each referred by different coaches and participated in separate group coaching programs. A summary of the participants' ages, genders, years in business, coaching group affiliation (by coach's name), and lengths of time participating in group coaching is listed in Table 3 below in the order they were interviewed.

Table 3

Description of the Participants

| participation in group coaching |
|---------------------------------------|
| 8 weeks |
| 6 months |
| ~2 years |
| 8 months |
| ~4 years |
| ~4 years |
| ~3 years |
| ~5 months |
| - |

Recruitment. I recruited group participants through the groups' coaches. The initial recruitment strategy consisted of two steps. The first step involved (a) finding and contacting coaches who provide group coaching services for entrepreneurs, (b) determining whether their programs meet the inclusion criteria, and (c) determining the most appropriate method for extending an invitation to group members to participate in the study. The second step involved formally inviting individual entrepreneurs to take part in the study.

Finding and contacting coaches. I began by circulating a Colleague Recruitment Email (Appendix A) to my extended professional network and to associations with which I

am affiliated, such as the International Coach Federation (ICF), the Institute of Coaching Professional Association (ICPA), and the Graduate School Alliance for Education in Coaching (GSAEC). In response, two of these organizations (the ICF and the ICPA) distributed research notices about the study to their members. The ICF maintains a database of members who are interested in participating in research and notified these members by email. The ICPA posted a description of the study with a call for volunteers on their LinkedIn group page.

I also conducted an internet/social media search for coaching practitioners nationwide who offer group coaching services for entrepreneurs, and I contacted the authors of popular books on group coaching practice. I assumed the authors might coach entrepreneurial groups themselves, or they may have been able to refer me to other coaches who do.

Having found several interested and willing coaches, I determined whether the types of group coaching they conducted met the inclusion criteria stated above. Three coaches' programs met the criteria. I then worked with the coaches to determine an appropriate process for forwarding or distributing a recruitment flyer to their groups (Appendix B), or having me speak to their groups in person about the study, and so on. The goal was to informally invite group members to join the study.

Formally inviting participants. After determining the best way to approach group members and extending informal invitations (via recruitment flyer, their coach, or directly from me, etc.), the next step occurred when interested individuals contacted me for more information or indicated that they wanted to join the study. I began by providing general information about the study and its purpose, answering any questions, and determining their eligibility. I used a checklist (see Appendix C: Participant Setup Checklist) to help ensure

that this information was provided to every participant. Other items on the checklist included thanking the participant for his or her interest in the study; discussing potential risks and benefits, informed consent form, and types of interview questions likely to be asked; and scheduling the interview itself.

Once individuals indicated that they wanted to proceed as participants in the study, and after their eligibility had been confirmed, they received the following documents either electronically or by posted mail:

- 1. An Informed Consent Form (see Appendix D) confirming their participation in the study and outlining general information about the project.
- 2. An outline of the types of questions that were likely to be asked of participants (Appendix E).

I then scheduled the participants' interviews and obtained signed copies of the Informed Consent Form before each interview took place.

Data collection. Data collection was accomplished via one-on-one, semi-structured interviews with each participant. Six interviews were conducted face-to-face, and three (including two pilot interviews) were conducted via Zoom web conference (audio only). The interviews ranged from 60-96 minutes in length. Qualitative interviewing can take many forms, and the term "semi-structured" can be used to describe a wide range of interview formats. The interview protocol for this study was designed according to Kvale's (2007) recommendations for conducting semi-structured life-world interviews, and Chase's (2003) advice on interview questions in narrative research.

Interview procedures. Kvale (2007) stated that the semi-structured life-world interview "seeks to obtain descriptions of the life-world of the interviewee with respect to

interpreting the meaning of the described phenomenon" (p. 51). The interview format should follow a sequence of themes that reflect the theoretical frames presented in the literature review, with some potential questions that point toward each theme. However, it is important to be open to changes related to the sequence and formulation of questions, in order to follow the story as it is told by the interviewee.

Chase (2003) went a step further, advising students of narrative research to write "lengthy, detailed interview guides" (p. 83) which reflect the anticipated conversational flow of the interview. Then, apart from asking one opening question that invites a life story, interviewers should ask only questions that "follow from a close listening to the narrator's story" (p. 83) rather than adhering to the questions in their interview guide. According to Chase, the purpose of writing an extensive interview guide is to prepare the interviewer to be open to a wide range of possible stories from participants, and to cement a general awareness of what the interviewer wants to know.

Kvale (2007) also commented on the importance of *setting the stage*, or establishing a sense of trust and rapport, during the first few minutes of each interview. He recommended that interviewers first conduct a "briefing" in which the interviewer "defines the situation for the subject" (p. 55). The briefing should include stating the purpose of the interview, explaining the use of any recording equipment, and addressing any questions that the participant might have.

Applying these recommendations from Kvale (2007) and Chase (2003), I formulated an interview guide (Appendix E) based on my discussion of the theoretical literature in Chapter 2. I designed the interviews to elicit storied descriptions of group coaching experiences that participants found personally meaningful or impactful. I began each

interview with a briefing. In order to understand the context in which these defining events occurred, I also asked the participants to tell me about how they became entrepreneurs, and about how they became involved in group coaching. I directed the conversations away from participants' stories about their entrepreneurial histories and toward their stories about their group coaching experiences at around the 20- to 30-minute mark during each interview.

The interviews were mostly unstructured, with the exception of the prompts I used to move each interview through these three broad areas of inquiry. As the participants related their stories, I responded with questions that clarified, probed, and developed the emerging storylines. Kvale's (2007) typology of interviewer questions (pp. 60-62) aided in this purpose, as did Chase's (2003) discussion of question formulations that evoke stories of experience rather than generalities. All interviews were recorded (audio only) and transcribed for analysis.

Given this predetermined structure of the interviews, most of them followed a similar overarching sequence of events in participants' lives, though not always in chronological order. All of the interviews, for example, reached back into the past to explore participants' entrepreneurial beginnings. This yielded rich stories of their transitions into entrepreneurship and the genesis of their entrepreneurial careers. All of the interviews explored participants' stories about becoming involved in group coaching. This produced highly vivid accounts of their experiences joining with other entrepreneurs, finding commonality and close-knit relationships with peers, and exchanging feedback and support. The interviews probed participants' meaningful or defining moments in group coaching, which resulted in stories of learning and change and detailed accounts of the impact of these learning experiences.

Finally, a fourth component of the interviews involved looking backward from the present,

reflecting on all of these past experiences, and reconstructing their meaning in the relational context of the interview itself.

Interviewer's stance. In narrative research, narration is understood as having an interactional or dialogic component (Chase, 2003; Riessman & Quinney, 2005). Narratives are jointly produced, or co-constructed, by both teller and listener (Bell, 1999). Salmon and Riessman (2008) explained that audiences, whether physically present or not, play a crucial role in shaping what is and is not expressed in interviews, as well as *how*. In research interviews, "the personal account... which has traditionally been seen as the expression of a single subjectivity, is in fact always a co-construction" (p. 80). As a result, it is important for researchers to maintain reflexive awareness of how they act jointly to construct narrative accounts in their interviews. A more detailed discussion of reflexivity in this study is included in the Researcher's Statement below.

Data analysis. Drawing from the discussion of narrative analytical approaches above, I chose narrative analysis (Polkinghorne, 1995) as the primary analytical strategy for the study. This strategy emphasizes placing stories within their wider relational, discursive, and macro-institutional contexts. In line with Polkinghorne's advice and Bell's (1999) exemplary analysis of women's health politics and DES survivors, such an emphasis lends itself to the creation of higher-order explanatory stories about entrepreneurs' personal experiences in group coaching.

My framework for narrative analysis was based on Riessman's dialogic/performative approach (2008) and Polkinghorne's work on narrative configuration (1995). The process involved the following steps:

- After the interview data are collected, begin by listening to each recorded interview, all the way through. The purpose of this step is to familiarize oneself with the data.
- 2. Then, listen again, while following along with each interview transcript. On the transcripts, make note of each of the following:
 - Speech elements including use of *direct speech*, descriptive *asides*, repetition, expressive sounds, and historical present tense. These are all linguistic features of the performance genre which help convey the relational context of the interview environment, as well as the speaker's preferred selfpresentation (Riessman, 2008).
 - Scenes bounded segments of text, portraying unfolding action and its result.

 Scenes, which often include characters with distinct speaking roles, indicate the speaker's choice of a dramatic presentation of her or his story, rather than a mere report of what happened. Dramatic presentations are designed to draw the audience in, and to influence what the audience believes about the story, the characters, and the narrator (Riessman, 2008).
 - Contextual information thematic material from other parts of the interview;
 as well as references to cultural, historical, and/or economic contexts, public discourses, and so on. This information helps illuminate the broader context in which the narrated story is embedded.
- 3. Having marked the transcripts in this way, work to configure all of the resulting data elements into an over-arching and emergent plot or higher-order story of each interview (Polkinghorne, 1995). The purpose of configuring the data in this

- way is to organize and give meaning to the data elements as pieces of an unfolding temporal process.
- 4. Develop the stories further by citing specific quotes and examples from the data and connecting elements of the stories to the broader cultural/historical discourses in which they are embedded.

As mentioned previously, the pilot study offered an opportunity to experiment with both narrative and thematic analytical strategies and to compare their findings. This imparted me with a strong sense of how the two strategies could be used in concert to strengthen and inform one another. As a result, I chose to supplement the narrative analytical process described above with a separate thematic analysis of the data. Using thematic analytical methods allowed me to cut across the entire collection of higher-order stories that result from my narrative analysis, thereby strengthening my research and findings by making meaning of the entire collection of stories taken together. For my thematic analysis, I used the six-phase process defined by Braun and Clarke (2006):

- Familiarizing yourself with your data Listen carefully and completely to each recorded interview.
- 2. Generating initial codes Read through each transcript, noting interesting and relevant features of the data to generate an initial set of codes.
- 3. Searching for themes Search for potential themes across the data set and experiment with different ways of organizing the codes by theme.
- 4. Reviewing themes Review and refine the themes.

- 5. Defining and naming themes Create a thematic map of the analysis, and weave together an overall story of the analysis.
- 6. Produce the report.

Validity. As indicated above, validity in narrative research arises out of the believability or verisimilitude of statements or claims about personal meaning (Polkinghorne, 1988, 2007). Threats to validity arise out of the fact that the storied descriptions of the meanings of events experienced by participants are not an exact reproduction of experienced meaning (Polkinghorne, 2007). With regard to validity, the chief task for narrative researchers involves reducing the distance between participants' stories about their experienced meaning and the experienced meaning itself.

This study used the following strategies suggested by Riessman (2008) and adapted from Mishler (1986) to help ensure verisimilitude:

- Analysis relied on detailed transcripts of the interview conversations.
- Attention was paid to language, contexts of production, and (if appropriate) to structural features of discourse, including (a) the limitations inherent in language and personal awareness, and (b) the social intentions of participants
 (Polkinghorne, 2007).
- Attention was given to the dialogic nature of narrative, including the socially constructed nature of storied accounts (Polkinghorne, 2007).
- A comparative approach was used to interpret the similarities and differences among participants' stories.
- Thick, rich description was used to convey findings (Creswell, 2009).

- All procedures and knowledge claims were carefully documented.
- The researcher attended to and practiced reflexivity, including clarifying researcher bias (Creswell, 2009).

Presentation of findings. The use of multiple analytical methods resulted in multiple types of findings, each reflecting different aspects or dimensions of the research phenomenon. I handled this by dividing Chapter 4 into three distinct sections. The first conveys findings from thematic analysis, while the third reflects narrative analytical principles. Part 2 sits between them and draws from both narrative and thematic methods. I explain this in further detail in Chapter 4 below.

Data management. All electronic communications, interview transcripts, and digital recordings of interviews were stored electronically on the researcher's secure hard drive, as well as on a secure backup external drive. All printed copies of electronic files and signed informed consent forms were kept in a locked file cabinet in my office. The key connecting participant identifiers with pseudonyms was kept on a secure, cloud-based drive separate from the hard drive where all other research data were stored. At the conclusion of the study, I will erase this key, along with all electronic communications and participant identifiers. I will erase all other data files (including digital interview recordings and transcripts) and shred all printed copies within 3 years of research completion.

Protection of Human Participants

Voluntary participation. Participation in the study was voluntary, and participants were notified of their option to withdraw from the study at any time without penalty or negative consequences. At any time up until completion of the study, participants may

request that previously provided information be removed from the study. Each participant was informed about the potential risks and benefits associated with participating in the study. All of this information was provided in an Informed Consent Form (Appendix D) and reviewed verbally with each participant.

Confidentiality and anonymity. All responses and related study records were held in confidence. Participants were asked to select a pseudonym to be used in place of their name in the transcripts and in the research report. The key connecting participant identifiers with their pseudonyms was kept on a secure, cloud-based drive separate from the hard drive where all other research data are stored. Identifying references to participants' businesses, coaches, or coaching groups were also anonymized through the use of pseudonyms.

Individuals' consent to participate in the study included consent for the researcher, supervising faculty, and (if applicable) a confidential research assistant to review the data. Research records may also be inspected by authorized representatives of Fielding Graduate University, including members of the Institutional Review Board or their designees. The published results of this research including the final dissertation, subsequent journal articles, books, or professional presentations may include the use of direct quotes from interviews. In such cases all identifying information will be removed. Direct quotes will be attributed to the pseudonyms chosen by or assigned to participants. This information was provided to participants by way of Informed Consent (Appendix D).

Researcher Statement

As indicated above, a reflexive stance in research takes into account the researcher's own background and experiences, as well as her or his personal biases, assumptions, and values. Since narrative research does not assume objectivity (Josselson & Lieblich, 2003),

narrative studies are strengthened when researchers acknowledge and inquire into their own subjectivity. This often includes stating philosophical, professional, and/or personal assumptions and biases that have the potential to influence the research project. I discuss my own biases and assumptions about coaching and enterprise below. In addition, the narrative-constructionist orientation of this study calls for a deeper exploration of the concept of reflexivity—beyond the impact of personal biases and assumptions. This idea is also taken up below, and discussed in terms of (a) audience, (b) the notion of the "coaching interview," and (c) thinking about rapport.

Biases and assumptions. As a professional certified coach and organizational consultant who specializes in working with entrepreneurs in both one-on-one and group settings, I bring to this study a range of experiences and assumptions that are likely to intersect with this research project. First, anecdotal evidence from my practice has demonstrated that some forms of coaching, including certain types of group coaching, support and facilitate entrepreneurial learning and development. This has not yet been established through empirical research. In addition, I have witnessed the construction, evolution, and maintenance of entrepreneurial identity in many of my clients. It is my belief and assumption that my work with these clients has contributed to these processes in a significant way. These experiences may interfere with my ability to acknowledge evidence and examples to the contrary if and when they do appear.

Second, I bring my own biases about what does and does not constitute effective coaching and consultation. For example, I tend to view long-term engagement with clients as necessary for cultivating deep and systemic growth and change. Whereas, many in the coaching field would argue that an orientation toward short-term results is fundamental to

effective coaching. I may inadvertently discount or dismiss possibilities for learning and change as a result of a specific coaching program's design, orientation, or methodology.

Finally, my political and philosophical views tend to support models of business and entrepreneurship that demonstrate social and ecological awareness and responsibility. I am often critical of businesses that celebrate competitive individualism, exploitative or dishonest business practices, and/or a "win at all costs" mentality. Particularly given this study's goal of exploring the discursive resources that influence entrepreneurs' sense making and identity construction, it is important for me to remain open to the stories of entrepreneurs who do not necessarily share my convictions.

Audience. Given the narrative-constructionist orientation of this study, issues of reflexivity go beyond acknowledging the influence of the researcher's biases and personal characteristics. Narratives are constructed with specific audiences in mind. In the context of my interviews, I am an audience member affecting how participants' stories are constructed. Given that this is the case, it is important to think about how the participants relate to me as an audience member, and how they construct their accounts in light of this. Who is the Erek in the interview? Do they see me as a doctoral student? As a coach? As a friend of their coach? Does this impression change over the course of the interview?

These questions were critically important to interpreting participants' discursive constructions and storied accounts. Although it is impossible to answer them in any objective fashion, Schön's (1983) work on reflective practice suggests that it may be possible to maintain an awareness of this line of questioning during the interviews (reflection-inaction), as well as through retrospective reflection and analysis (reflection-on-action).

The coaching interview. As I was a coach interviewing people about their experiences in coaching situations, the study also presented an opportunity to explore the recursive nature of the interview process itself. It was not my intention to approach the interview as I would a coaching session, or to coach my research participants through their interviews. However, by nature of the types of questions I asked, it is possible that my participants gained knowledge or insight from the interview process that closely parallels (or extends) the learning that they described retrospectively through their stories.

It is also possible that through our conversations participants learned something about *how* they learn in their coaching groups. I attempted to include these phenomena in the study by asking what was happening in the interview itself that was furthering this learning. The study presented an opportunity to embrace (rather than bracket or mitigate) these dynamics, and to explore the interview even as its own kind of coaching interaction—the "coaching interview" (F. Steier, personal communication, October 4, 2016). I was able to explore this issue directly during the interviews by asking how my participants made sense of what happened in the interview itself. As an entry point for this inquiry, I included the question in my interview guide (Appendix E), "What are you taking away from our conversation today?"

Thinking about rapport. Although it is common for researchers to think of rapport in an instrumental sense or as a means for acquiring high-quality data (Jorgenson, 1995), the notion of reflexivity explored here suggests that rapport should be viewed as a social or relational process instead. Jorgenson suggested that rapport arises out of "the situation between researcher and collaborators" (p. 167). Making this shift requires a reprioritization—an increased emphasis on interview process, and a decreased emphasis on interview content. Attention is paid to supplying the requisite conditions for rapport

(empathy, social skills, sensitivity to others' experience, etc.), and to exploring (rather than ignoring or suppressing) the divergences and contradictions that surface in respondents' stories. Within these seemingly peripheral comments lie clues about the respondent's identity construction.

Here again, a reflexive stance requires recognizing that the respondent's notion of the interviewer is both (a) a social construction and (b) subject to change from moment to moment. Jorgenson (1995) explains,

How respondents construct the interviewer as a social type profoundly influences the form of their responses—whether they see her as a detached scientist, as a knowledgeable expert with valuable resources, as a critic, or as a comember of a particular social category... will shape their interpretation of her questions, and consequently, their responses. (p. 166)

To summarize, I have suggested several ways that issues involving reflexivity were likely to influence this study. I began with an evaluation of my own biases and assumptions, and then explored the notion of audience, the idea of the coaching interview, and thinking about rapport as a relational phenomenon. A key principle underlying this discussion is the idea that participants' constructions of the interviewer (a) can change from moment to moment, and (b) hold major implications for data collection and interpretation.

Pilot Study

Pilot studies are conducted in order to test the proposed methods for a research project, and to use knowledge gained from the test to make any necessary changes to the study design. For my pilot study I conducted interviews with two small business owners who participated in group coaching programs. The study offered a valuable opportunity to

experiment with narrative interviewing, and to explore two different strategies of analysis (narrative and thematic) in order to compare and contrast their findings. In the paragraphs below, I discuss my preliminary findings from the pilot data, as well as key takeaways for improving the study and my skills as a researcher.

Preliminary findings. I conducted both narrative (Polkinghorne, 1995; Riessman, 2008) and thematic (Braun & Clarke, 2006) analyses of my data set. This enabled me to compare and contrast the two processes and their respective outcomes. Both analyses were aimed at addressing the same research question stated above: *Given the impact of social processes on learning and identity, what does it mean to entrepreneurs to navigate their learning-related challenges in the context of a coaching group?*

Findings from narrative analysis. Narrative analysis of the pilot data indicated that group coaching intersects the life and business trajectories of entrepreneurs in both simple and complex ways. In the simplest sense, these group members found group coaching to be meaningful as a source of practical knowledge that helped them navigate common business challenges, such as identifying a target audience, developing a business plan, or accumulating wealth. Through their interactions with peers and coach, they also acquired a meaningful sense of commonality, and benefitted indirectly from opportunities to step into the coaching role themselves in order to help their peers.

In a more holistic sense, their group coaching provided an environment where they could engage in higher-level learning by identifying and interacting with their long-held beliefs and assumptions about themselves, about business, and about success. The data indicate that the participants entered into their coaching groups with long-standing notions about business and success, influenced by early childhood experiences and broader cultural

discourses. Through their group coaching experiences, they were prompted to reflect on and critically deconstruct these lifelong trajectories, and to acquire new (alternative) resources which they used to construct new personal theories of self, entrepreneurship, and success.

The group environment helped legitimize these emergent narrations of self and business in ways that one-on-one coaching cannot. This is due to the fact that social support from peers was perceived to be more convincing ("they're not getting paid to tell you you're great") than from the coach alone. Also, some role versatility was present in the groups (group members provided coaching and feedback for their peers, putting them in the role of the helper), whereas the roles of coach and client are more rigidly defined in a dyadic coaching relationship. The interview process itself helped reinforce this learning by forcing interviewees to resurface and articulate what they had learned.

Findings from thematic analysis. Thematic analysis of the pilot data revealed a story about how individuals enter into group coaching, what they experience while they're there, what they achieve as outcomes of their participation, and how those outcomes influence their meaning making with regard to self and entrepreneurship. Both participants in the pilot study entered into group coaching at specific inflection points in their lives and businesses. Prompted by a search for direction and a clear path forward, these business owners found group coaching to be a fertile learning environment. The particular characteristics of group coaching environments, coupled with the coaches' roles as group facilitators and purveyors of knowledge, set the stage for meaningful peer learning on multiple levels.

Outcomes from participation ranged from the acquisition and application of practical business knowledge, to increases in self-awareness and personal understanding consistent with higher-level learning. More importantly, the data showed an evolving discourse on

entrepreneurship characterized by the deconstruction of old assumptions about business and success and the acquisition of new discursive resources. Participants drew from these resources in their groups and in the interviews to construct new personal theories of entrepreneurship and emergent notions of self-as-entrepreneur.

Key takeaways from the pilot. The pilot study demonstrated that my chosen methods were well-suited for my inquiry, and that only minor changes to the study methods were necessary. Additional takeaways included lessons learned about narrative interviewing, and further learning that influenced the design and products of this study. I describe all of these takeaways in detail below.

Minor changes to the study methods included

- Revisions to my Interview Guide (Appendix E) to make it simpler and more
 practical, to improve its organization, and to make it more useful as a tool for
 tracking conversations with participants.
- The addition of a Participant Setup Checklist (Appendix C) to help me keep track
 of all the information I need to convey to participants in advance of their
 interviews.

The pilot study also provided opportunities to practice narrative interviewing, which allowed me to identify ways of improving my interviewing skills as I engaged in data collection for the main study. Key takeaways included

- Learning to recognize avenues for personal story when I hear them.
- Learning to ask simpler questions.

• Learning to listen on multiple levels (e.g., for personal story, for discursive resources, and for relational context) to what is occurring in the interviews.

On a deeper level, the process of collecting and analyzing data led to rich learning that further influenced my thinking about the design and products of the study. Specifically, the pilot study influenced my thinking about (a) my participants' life stories, (b) how I would present those stories in the final report, and (c) incorporating thematic methods. I discuss each of these below.

Participants' life stories. I was surprised by the extent to which my participants described some of the historical aspects of their lives (family, education, upbringing, life paths, etc.) that have influenced their assumptions about entrepreneurship. I had expected to hear stories bound within concrete experiences of group coaching, but instead gained a sense of the broader life trajectories of both participants, and of how their group coaching experiences intersected with those trajectories. I began to think more about eliciting life stories (versus bounded events in a group coaching context) as a result. Turning the study in this direction allowed for a deeper exploration of participants' identity work and discursive constructions as entrepreneurs, and of the role group coaching has played in influencing/supporting/challenging/developing those constructions.

Presentation of stories. Given the nature of the life stories that my participants told, I found it important to think carefully about how the higher-order stories constructed from my narrative analysis should be presented in the final report. This led to my choice to present the stories as longer-form narratives, rather than as smaller fragments that might be used to support a thematic presentation of the findings. Casting participants' narratives in a more

holistic and detailed form allowed me to deeply explore the differences between them. It also helped to place participants' group coaching experiences within the broader context of their long-held assumptions about entrepreneurship and entrepreneurial identity.

Incorporating thematic methods. Presenting only long-form narratives as findings would've limited the study by failing to explore the meaning of the entire collection of stories taken together. The stories themselves may be interesting and informative; but taken as a whole, what do they convey about the meaning entrepreneurs make of their experiences in group coaching? This question called for the addition of a thematic component to analysis. As discussed above, I have therefore included both narrative and thematic analytical methods in the main study, and this is reflected in the way my findings are organized and presented in Chapter 4.

Summary

In this chapter I have described in detail my proposed research approach and design; including methods of data collection and analysis, sampling strategy, validity, researcher reflexivity, and preliminary findings and takeaways from the pilot study. I have argued that a narrative-qualitative approach is appropriate for exploring the research phenomenon under investigation in this study. I have also documented some of the fundamental challenges and tensions in narrative research, and have explored the ways in which those tensions intersect with the study. Finally, I have positioned myself as a researcher by attending to several issues of reflexivity and anticipating their influence on the research project.

CHAPTER FOUR: FINDINGS

This study explored the experience of group coaching as a setting for individual learning and change in entrepreneurs. The research question was, *Given the impact of social processes on entrepreneurial learning and identity, what does it mean to entrepreneurs to navigate their learning-related challenges in the context of a coaching group?* In this chapter I present the findings from the study.

The study revealed three different types or categories of phenomena that participants either directly associated with their meaningful group coaching experiences, or that they illustrated through their storied accounts. The first are the *background conditions or characteristics* that participants associated with their coaching groups. The second is *a range of "process moves"* reflected in participants' stories of their defining moments in group coaching. The third category is comprised of the *discursive moves or actions performed within the relational context of the interview itself* that contributed to participants' meaningmaking processes. These discursive moves can be thought of as elements of the unfolding conversation between interviewer and participant that directly influenced participants' constructions of past events and their meaning. This chapter is organized into three parts, each reflecting one of these three types of phenomena.

In Part 1, I discuss the background conditions described in connection with participants' meaningful experiences in group coaching. These include characteristics of the social environment, characteristics of the social processes at work in the group, and characteristics of the coach's presence in the group. In Part 2, I present a collection of vignettes illustrating a range of process moves (processes of learning and change) that unfold over time and through specific sequences of events in group coaching. The data revealed two

broad categories of process moves: moves that reflect *learning vicariously* and moves that reflect *learning through feedback*.

Finally, in Part 3 I present a series of vignettes which illustrate the impact of the relational context of the interview itself on participants' retrospective constructions of their meaningful group coaching experiences. I explore three types of exchanges between participant and interviewer that influenced participants' constructions of their past events: negotiating belonging, co-creating successful entrepreneurship, and co-creating conscious learning. These "discursive performances" highlight the co-constructed nature of narrative data and the influence of the researcher on participants' meaning making and learning. My interpretations and discussion are presented in Chapter 5.

The three sections also reflect the influence of different analytical paths taken in this research. As described above, I used both narrative and thematic methods to analyze my data, and these different methods led to different types of findings. Part 1, for example, draws primarily from a thematic mode of analysis, where participants' descriptions of the coaching environment are taken at face value and categorical groupings stretch across the data. Results from narrative analysis on the other hand help locate participants' stories in their historical and relational contexts. They emphasize individual meaning making and include information about the narrator's intention and the researcher's influence on the production of the data. The results in Part 3 reflect these narrative principles. Viewed as a continuum, the process moves described in Part 2 sit in between these influences and draw from both narrative and thematic methods. They represent higher-order themes that stretch across the data set, but they also illustrate distinct temporal sequences and explore that narrator's use of language.

Part 1: Conditions

Common conditions or characteristics of the coaching group and its activities form a backdrop for group members' meaningful experiences. The background conditions that participants described in connection with their meaningful group coaching experiences fall broadly into three categories: characteristics of the social environment of the group, characteristics of the social processes at work in the group, and characteristics of the coach's presence in the group. These conditions are reflected in the ways that participants talked about their coaching groups and what happens in them. I discuss each of these categories in detail below.

Social Environment

Meaningful experiences in group coaching rest importantly on the other people in the room. The first category of background conditions that participants described in connection with their meaningful group coaching experiences includes characteristics of the social environment of the group. The stories that participants told bring to light two interrelated aspects of the group social environment: *cohesiveness* and *commonality*. Group cohesiveness, as defined by Yalom and Leszcz (2005), refers to the "groupness" or "attractiveness of a group for its members" (pp. 54-55). I use the term here to represent the spirit of belonging and togetherness that participants described through their stories about their coaching groups. I use the term "commonality" here to refer to the sense that one's experience is shared and/or deeply understood by others; in other words, the sense that one is not alone in her/his experience.

Cohesiveness. Entrepreneurs form close relationships with their peers in the group. Where cohesiveness is concerned, most participants described their groups in terms of the warm and caring relationships they developed with other group members, their fondness for the group itself, and their sense of belonging. Several participants described their peers in the group as friends or close friends despite never having met before joining their groups. Rigsby, for example, spoke about having a camaraderie with her peers in the group, while Lynn described the other members of her group as "very good friends."

Here, Belinda talks about her friendships with group members and her relationship to the group itself:

I didn't know the other members of the group at first. But, um, no, now—now we're like a really close-knit group.

I feel like these are friends now that, like, you know, occasionally they'll check in and just be like, "Hey, just—you know, you had—you were having surgery this week, how're you feeling?" and that sort of stuff.

I mean, it's a group of people that I think you develop relationships with that are looking out for you personally and for your business.

I mean, I really—I have a hard time imagining not having the group.

Belinda's comments indicate that her relationships with group members extend outside of their monthly sessions, and that she views her group as something more than a place she visits once a month to learn about business. It has become an enduring resource for friendship and caring relationships in her life, both business and personal in nature. Her words, "I have a hard time imagining not having the group" illustrate the close-knit nature of these relationships and the importance she places on her membership in the group.

The notion of belonging is echoed by Ted, despite his initial reluctance about joining the group:

[Julie] strong-armed me into it. [laughs] She did.

...because, I hate to say this, but it's like, I never saw myself as needing a business coach. It's like I know what I know, I'm right, I don't need somebody telling me what to do. That's why I left corporate America. And—and I think part of it is some of the answers to questions that I might have, I already know the answers to, but they're answers I don't want to know, I don't want to hear, and I don't want to be held accountable. That's it. [laughs] I'm admitting it.

...and that's why I really wasn't thrilled with it.

And, um, [Julie] invited me back. I still didn't wanna go. [laughs] I did see value, but I didn't wanna go back. But as I got to know these folks, it, um, it's become my little group now. So they're not just people that are there, they've become acquaintances. Or—or colleagues.

It just—you know, the longer I would go and we would have interaction, it became comfortable. And when I became comfortable then, yeah, this is—this is our group, you know? I belong, we belong, you know, all that.

Ted's comments suggest that the value he derives from group coaching comes more from having found a group of peers he feels comfortable with than from the kind of accountability-driven coaching approach he expected. The experience of belonging that develops over time allows him to overcome his own reluctance and skepticism. As these comments illustrate, participants found the cohesiveness of their groups to be an important aspect of their meaningful group coaching experiences.

Commonality. Meaningful bonds between group members emerge through shared experience. Several participants made reference to feeling as though others in the group understood and could relate to their entrepreneurial experiences. In particular, they noted feeling that their peers share similar goals and challenges, feeling a "common bond" with their peers in the group, and feeling as though they are not alone. Eleanor, for example, talked about struggling in other business-related group situations and finding her coaching group to be a very different type of experience.

That—that was tough for me to get used to. I am very introverted and, um, that's why I like working alone.

Uh, so getting out there in a group, like in person, like networking, that's very difficult for me. And in fact, it, you know, two years ago I just totally gave up networking. I just didn't wanna deal with it anymore.

But the, uh, but the group coaching, because we were in similar situations and had likeminded goals and objectives for ourselves and we're experiencing the same kinds of challenges, obstacles, that didn't feel like it was a networking group. It didn't feel like I was out there selling myself. It felt like I was there to support someone who was going through something and giving the expertise that I had and the experience that I learned, and I was getting that in return.

Eleanor's comments indicate that the similar situations, goals, and challenges experienced by members of the coaching group helped her view this group as an opportunity to support others and learn from their expertise, instead of to sell. Her words paint a stark contrast between how she experiences her group (supporting and supportive) and how she experiences other types of networking groups ("out there," selling herself, etc.). Rigsby described a similar sense of commonality in her group, noting that although different group members have different businesses, they face common challenges:

And it's just been cool to see different people come in and out and, um, different businesses but always similar challenges. Um, and you usually find, you know, depending on the size of the group, there's usually someone in the group that's totally going through what you're going through or that just dealt with it.

While Eleanor and Rigsby spoke mostly of commonality in terms of the circumstances of their businesses (i.e., situations, goals, challenges, etc.), Pierre spoke about how sharing vulnerability with other group members ultimately made him feel less alone. In the excerpts below, he tells the story of his initial doubts about the group, his surprise at hearing common themes in other group members' stories, and the impact of developing this common bond.

I was reluctant. I was really reluctant. And, umm, I just kind of jumped in anyway. And I thought, "Okay, if this is a disaster after the first couple meetings, umm, then, you know, I'll bow out, but I'll at least try. I'll give it a chance."

I had pre-judged it in my own mind that I was gonna get much more out of a one-on-one with a coach than I was out of a group. Umm, and, uhh, and so I ended up being mistaken about that. Umm, and, uhh, so I—I had some prejudice, definitely, going in.

Pierre's initial prejudice against the group environment bears similarity to Eleanor's experience, but they are alike for different reasons. Eleanor's reluctance stemmed from her introversion and the pressure she felt in business networking groups to get "out there" and sell herself. Pierre admitted that his reluctance stemmed from his concern that being in a group meant less time devoted to his own challenges, and hence less value overall. He explains below how his view shifted.

...what I found very early on, umm, was that, uhh, basically you're—you're involving yourself in a partnership, and—and so, umm, there's a sense of community when you start sharing your—your story with other people, and I was super surprised at all the common themes.

I really shifted gears into, umm, not coming from the perspective so much of, "What am I going to get out of this? How much can I get out in the shortest amount of time?" which is why I was thinking, you know, one-on-one was better, umm, but embracing the fact that, uhh, you're in an environment where the whole point is to share your vulnerabilities.

By doing that and being as honest as I could about, umm, things that I didn't feel good about or shortcomings or any of that, umm, and everybody else trying to do that as well, umm, you sort of—you start to get a bond going and it's just—it's a sense of community where you feel like, "Oh, I—I used to think all my inadequacies were mine on my own little desert island, and now I realize that, no, these are things that, like, everybody's facing and, umm, you know, you're not—you're not alone in this."

Umm, so that was—that was kind of the bond between all of us. Even though we'd be sharing different problems, umm, you know, you—you felt like you weren't alone in—in your situation and you shouldn't be as embarrassed as you are about not knowing what to do with that.

Pierre's use of concepts like shortcomings, inadequacy, and embarrassment give added meaning to the experience of commonality and its importance as a background condition of the group coaching environment. Knowing that others shared similar feelings helped challenge a deeply held assumption he held about himself—that his perceived shortcomings separate him from other entrepreneurs. The knowledge that others face similar challenges helped reduce his embarrassment and strengthen his sense of belonging.

According to some participants, another related aspect of their coaching groups had to do with how difficult it can be to find people outside of their group who can understand and relate to what it's like to be an entrepreneur. Lynn, for instance, spoke about how her priorities and her relationship to her work separate her from friends.

Well, it's hard to sit down with a group of people, just friends or whatever, and talk about what it's like to be an entrepreneur when they work for somebody else because they don't have the risk. In most cases they don't have the commitment. Um, it's not a priority. Work is not a priority. Work is something that they do to pay the bills. Um, in many cases they don't enjoy it. Um, we truly enjoy what we do.

Rigsby mirrors Lynn's thoughts below, adding that although her friends and family are supportive, her ownership of her business makes her situation different.

I mean, my family and friends were supportive, but, yeah, I don't think—I don't they—they don't—they still don't really understand. Like I'll talk—my mom's a manager at a hospital and I'll talk to her about things, but there's—it's still different when you own it, you know? It's—yeah. So it's hard to relate to people that aren't—you know how that is, like, that aren't in the same situation.

The comments above illustrate the value of finding a sense of commonality with other entrepreneurs who can understand and relate. Participants in this study associated knowing that their peers share similar goals and challenges, feeling a common bond, and feeling as though they are not alone, with their meaningful experiences in group coaching. Group cohesiveness and the experience of commonality were the two most often-noted background

conditions related to the group social environment. In the section below, I discuss another category of background conditions: the social processes that participants described in connection with their meaningful group coaching experiences.

Social Processes

Meaningful experiences in group coaching arise out of specific types of social interaction between group members. This second category of background conditions that participants described in connection with their meaningful group coaching experiences includes characteristics of the social processes at work in the group. Throughout the interviews, participants frequently described or made reference to three types of social processes at work in their coaching groups: *social support*, *exchange*, and *accountability*. In the context of their stories, social support refers to acts of personal and/or emotional support and encouragement. Some participants talked about receiving this type of support, while others talked about providing it. The term *exchange* is defined by Thornton (2010) as "an encounter with new information." Its use here encompasses the interchange of ideas, information, and feedback between group members. *Accountability* refers to a process whereby group members hold one another to their word for the actions and/or goals they commit to.

Social support. Entrepreneurs benefit greatly from receiving emotional support and encouragement from their peers. Overwhelmingly, participants described their coaching groups not only as a source of business knowledge and expertise, but also as a source of personal and/or emotional support and encouragement. They spoke of this type of support as a meaningful and potent aspect of their group experiences—whether they were giving or receiving it, and regardless of whether the focus of the support was business-related or

personal in nature. This aspect of the groups prompted some comparisons to therapy, as Eleanor commented below.

It was—some of those sessions were a little like therapy, you know? Um, it was someone saying, you know, "You really—look, you've had this—you know, you've done this for, you know, this many years, um, you have this many clients, you know, you have, um, a great support network back in California. What makes you think that, you know, people here [in Arizona] aren't going to recognize the same things?" So it was a lot of that just emotional-type support and encouragement.

Eleanor had moved from California to Arizona and was struggling to establish herself in her new locale when she joined her coaching group. The group's encouragement, coupled with advice she received from group members, helped boost her confidence and enabled her to start networking and building support for her business.

Rigsby and Belinda describe their groups in similar terms below, emphasizing the fact that the support given to group members extends into the context of their personal lives.

Rigsby spoke about supporting another group member whose entrepreneurial path was adversely affecting his family.

Personal stuff comes into it too. Like, um, one of the other people in our group, um, his spouse, you know, has a lot of issues with his entrepreneurial side, you know, so things like that where it's like—it's more than just your business, it's like, "Business is affecting my family, my spouse. You know, how am I gonna deal with this?" And so sometimes it turns into more like therapy in a way because it's like, "Well, have you considered this? You know, maybe she's feeling this way," or—or whatever.

Belinda described how her group supported her during a recent bout with several health issues, noting that it makes a difference for her just to know there is a group of people who care about her.

I just ran into this, like, really bad cycle of health issues and, like, it just kept getting worse and worse and worse and, like, you know, I was incredibly depressed and, um, I've since had two out of three surgeries that are gonna be, like, associated with all of this timeframe.

But, you know, like, meeting with the group once a month, like, it was, you know, it wasn't really even asking me about my business. And, you know, like, they would and they'd ask, you know, "What have you got going on?" and "Is there anything we can help you with?" but it was more, "What's going on? What's—what's next? What have you learned from those tests?" Like, you know, so it was just—it kind of almost was more like group therapy at times.

The group has been very supportive and—and it's just nice to have that outlet, uh, and, you know, it gives you a place to unload some of your baggage but also, like, to reload some support and, you know, know that there are people out there that care.

I was surprised by how centrally the role of social support factored into some participants' conceptualizations of their groups' activities. Scott, for example told a story about supporting a woman in his group who was going through a difficult time. In this particular session the group bypassed its planned agenda and focused on letting the woman talk though her circumstances. Scott explained that he likes that fact that his group prioritizes its group members' most pressing needs above any planned agenda.

There was one woman who was going through very, very tough things at home and in work. And she had one night where, I mean, all of us in the group just let her kind of bounce her thoughts off us and we just—the whole group focused on her issues and her things and tried to boost her and tried to help her. It was a really, I mean, that was a great session.

So, I mean, so that's the thing. It's—the thing I like about the coaching is it doesn't have to be, you know, we always sort of have a lesson plan and we always sort of touch base with each other on successes and challenges, but if somebody's really got an issue and they need help, the coach sort of goes, "Okay, we'll put that aside and let's—let's help you out." And I like that.

Finally, for participants in this study, social support also encompasses encouraging and validating group members' ideas and choices. Lynn, for example, reflected on how her group encouraged and supported her when she decided to start her tech business.

So I took it to my group and I said, "I think I'm gonna try this. I don't know how, I don't—I can't develop software, I need resources, I've never done this before. This is completely out of my element. I know how to market it, but I don't really know the foundations of building it. And I've got the go-ahead at home."

They were like, "That is awesome. Totally think you should do that. That would be great." So supportive.

In addition to her description of the group's response to her idea, Lynn's use of language in this section underlines something about the process of social support that she finds meaningful. Her words, "So I took it to my group," convey a sense of easiness and familiarity. Taking it to her group, as opposed to "presenting it" or "proposing it" (for example) shows that this process is both familiar and informal—something she does on a regular basis. It is something she feels confident (if not comfortable) doing. In this context, the process of social support began for Lynn with her way of relating to the group—as a resource for support, rather than as an evaluative, critical, or competitive audience.

In summary, participants in this study described their coaching groups as a source of personal and/or emotional support and encouragement, and told stories of both supporting their peers and being supported. The focus of social support can be personal, business-related, or both—as in Rigsby's case. Furthermore, the processes of helping and supporting group members can sometimes bypass or derail the group's planned agenda, and this is both expected and appreciated. The groups are seen by their members as a resource for support and encouragement (sometimes resembling therapy), and the paths by which members access this support are familiar and informal. In the next section, I explore participants' descriptions of another social process at work in their groups—exchange—which encompasses the interchange of ideas, information, and feedback between group members.

Exchange. A vibrant interchange of ideas, information, and feedback functions as an engine of learning and change for group members. Several participants described or told stories about meaningful interactions of this nature. These encounters with new information (Thornton, 2010) were seen as a central component of the groups' regular and ongoing

activities. Participants noted the reciprocal nature of exchange in their groups (receiving and giving), and the fact that it can occur either during or outside of group coaching sessions.

The exchange of ideas came up frequently in my interviews. Rigsby recalled having an opportunity to shadow a more experienced peer in her group outside of their monthly group coaching session. After sitting in on some of his meetings and then debriefing together, he gave her ideas for how to incorporate learning and development into her staff's day-to-day work.

In another example, Eleanor talked about getting an idea to create a guidebook on employee turnover to help clients of her HR consultancy cope with their staffing challenges. The idea came from another group member who had created a guidebook for parents of troubled children who were clients of her therapy practice. Ted talked about receiving an idea from another group member to send handwritten postcards to potential clients as a way of building business relationships and differentiating himself from competitors.

In addition to exchanging concrete ideas for generating business and managing relationships with customers and staff, several participants described exchanging information and advice with other group members. For example, Eleanor spoke about learning from other group members how to use social media to market her business after her move to Arizona. Having access to this information through her coaching group ended up saving her time and energy in ways she never expected.

Um, so I was open to, uh, more social media interaction or using social media to market the business more. And, um, some of the women in the group had those experiences already. They had been active in social media or they had created networking groups in their own communities.

So having those different... perspectives also from women who had already set up, um, you know, shopping carts on their website and were very active on LinkedIn and, um, could tell me, "Oh, get—go—sign up for Hootsuite because that's gonna help

you. You know, you can load all your social media in there for the week and time it to go out so you're not sitting there every day posting something." Well, I had no clue about that. So, wow, did that save me time and energy, you know?

Some of the participants specifically emphasized the reciprocal nature of exchange in their groups. In other words, exchange can also be about contributing ideas, information, and advice to others. Ted shared with me that when other group members talk about their challenges, he listens to see if he can add or interject anything from his own experience that may be helpful. Lynn indicated that she values the opportunity to provide input into other people's challenges.

I also loved giving input. Who doesn't like to give their opinion? I love to give my opinion! [laughs] Just give me an invitation! So, you know, we'd sit around the table and they'd be like, "Oh, I'm really struggling, I'm trying to do this," and you're—it's an opportunity to motivate people, it's an opportunity to have input into a different area of life that maybe you've never dabbled in before.

For me, I just—I love it because I'm like, "Well, have you ever thought about doing this?" "Hmm." Or, "Yes, I did. I tried that and it didn't work." "Okay, well, you know." We all have so much knowledge and why not swap it? [laughs] Share with one another.

Both she and Eleanor mentioned that it was important to them to help others avoid the kinds of difficulties that they had faced along the way. In the excerpt below, Lynn notes how helping others avoid some of the mistakes she made herself can be very rewarding.

I may feel unfulfilled at a particular time in my life and I may be very confused about it, but being able to help somebody else is still gonna give me a satisfaction of knowing that, like, you know, well, you know, at least—my—my whole thing my whole life has been through—I've made some really bad choices and done some bad things, but when it comes down to it, if I can take the knowledge away from it and give that to somebody else to help them to maybe not go through the same thing, I would love it. And we all know that our children aren't gonna listen to us, so I might as well give that knowledge to somebody who actually wants it.

Finally, the processes involved in exchange include giving and receiving feedback to and from other group members. This feedback can be either affirming or challenging in

nature. Feedback can function as a sounding board for group members' ideas and/or as a mirror for their behaviors and choices. In addition, group feedback sometimes functions as an interruption or a challenge to modes of thinking and/or action that group members consider to be unproductive or ineffective.

Lynn used her group as a sounding board when she presented her idea for her tech business (see above). She was able to receive feedback on her plan before making the final decision to start Tagsale.com. Scott had started hiring contract employees over the past year and received feedback from his group that helped him create policies and procedures for hiring. Rigsby received feedback from a group member about what motivates her and how she approaches her work (I present a detailed account of this experience and what she learned from it in Part 2 below).

Perhaps more surprising is the role that interrupting or challenging feedback played in several of the participants' stories. For example, Pierre received feedback from group members that challenged his long-held assumptions about his abilities as a writer (this story is also told in detail in Part 2 below). Lynn remarked that her group members will "point out, like, when you're crazy, you know? Which is actually pretty good." Rigsby recalled an incident below that pushed her to challenge a group member's relationship with a business partner.

One woman just joined our group and she has a partner, a business partner. And they're already having issues, like, three months into their partnership.

And, you know, it's the kind of place where you can say, "This is alarming. Like, this might be an indicator that you need to cut ties with this woman and do this."

And I expect the same from them. And you need that. I mean, sometimes you just need somebody to call you out and, um—and maybe they haven't thought of it, but if someone else is pointing it out and it's that obvious that someone else can point it out, well, maybe that's something I need to think about. You know?

Feedback that challenges or interrupts, according to stories like these, is given from the same background of caring and support from which affirming feedback is given. The difference is that challenging feedback is given out of concern when a group member appears to be veering down an unproductive path or viewing a situation from a limited perspective. When asked what distinguishes the feedback provided in group coaching as opposed to other business community groups or activities, Scott replied, "I think it creates a setting where people can challenge you. You know... if you're heading in directions or making statements that, um, people with maybe more experience than you know aren't valid, they'll challenge you. And that's great."

To summarize before moving on, participants in this study highlighted the exchange of ideas, information, and feedback as important social processes at work in their groups. Their stories revealed that exchange encompasses concrete business ideas, but also information and advice aimed at specific situations or challenges, and feedback that either affirms or challenges a group member's thinking and actions. The reciprocal nature of exchange was also important to some group members as it allowed them to contribute in ways that presumably helped others avoid mistakes they had made themselves. Having explored the phenomena of social support and exchange above, I explore social processes related to accountability in the next section below.

Accountability. Entrepreneurs crave accountability and find this through group coaching. Accountability refers to a process whereby group members hold one another to their word for the actions and/or goals they commit to. Participants repeatedly mentioned accountability as an important function of their groups and a useful source of motivation.

Below, Scott talks about the structures his group uses to set and manage group members' goals and commitments.

One of the things with—with our coaching group is every time we meet there—there are forms we get that challenge us to reflect on things or to do homework for the next time to think about how we're growing our business, um, you know, definite—definite steps. Quarterly we look at where are we at quarterly, what have we accomplished, are we taking steps to truly, like, grow. Um, and the group holds you accountable to that.

He goes on to explain how this structure of accountability helps him step outside of the dayto-day work of his business and pay attention to the bigger picture.

I think my biggest struggle is I have a tendency to quickly fall into the, "I've just gotta do my job." I'm not thinking about, "I'm a business. Am I keeping—looking at the big picture too?" So for me, having people kind of go, "Well, what did you do this month to, you know, think about your business?"

When speaking about being asked about his actions, Scott's choice of the word "people" implies a collective understanding of how accountability functions in the group. In other words, it is understood to be something the group holds collectively for its members, rather than a conversation imposed solely by the coach or another individual. Other participants' stories corroborate this understanding.

According to Belinda, the idea of having a group of people to help hold her accountable was part of what motivated her to join her group.

We talk about our goals and we have people that are there to help hold us accountable to them, and I was like, "That's probably not a bad idea for me," because I can—I can be a little squirrel chaser sometimes and it's—for somebody to be like, "Hey, [snaps fingers] hello!" [laughs]

She also spoke about how accountability is woven into her group's activities and expectations about behavior. Here she talks about another group member who veered away from her stated goals:

And then the next month she was buying a house and, like, suddenly, like, all of these things that, like—in terms of the accountability group, you know, you set these goals and, like, you talk about where you are in your life and what's going on and, like, all of a sudden she's buying houses and we're like, "What? That wasn't on her goal sheet. What is she doing?"

This example suggests that the social expectation of accountability affects the way group members relate to each other's actions and behaviors. The data also show how Belinda responds to this expectation herself by taking action she wouldn't otherwise take:

Like I feel like it helps, having these other people that are watching me and paying attention to whether or not I'm reaching my goals. And so how does that make me look if I'm not reaching them? So how—how... [are my peers] going to talk about me if I'm not getting somewhere towards my goals? You know, if they—if they keep seeing me being lazy or failing or whatever the case may be, how is that fair? So—or how is that—how is that going to make it look to them?

Like I can't imagine not being part of the group because it makes—it motivates me just a little bit. If it's just this much, I need it.

Her comments reveal the social pressure or group-level dissonance generated by the expectation of accountability. Belinda's concern about how she will look or how the group will view her if she fails to make progress toward her goals is a significant motivator for her. At the same time, these data show a connection in Belinda's mind between the way she wants to be known by her group (her identity) and her ability to follow through on her commitments.

Another illustration of this process came from Eleanor, who described some of the actions she committed to and alluded to the same social pressure to keep her commitment:

...and then it was, uh, "Report back to the next meeting"—you know, we made a commitment at the end of each meeting that we were going to accomplish something, um, before the next meeting that we had on the phone. So some of my assignments were to attend, you know, X number of networking meetings, to make, uh, uh, you know, maybe two or three coffee dates with individuals that I would like to get to know better or that were in my target market, that kind of thing. So, um, having that accountability to the women in the group was very helpful because I didn't wanna disappoint them.

Eleanor states that her motivation comes at least partly from not wanting to disappoint her peers. She doesn't explicitly connect the risk of disappointing others with the maintenance of her identity in the group, as Belinda did. However, the fact that she mentions not wanting to disappoint them implies that she views keeping her word as a way of negotiating her identity claims.

In contrast to all of these accounts, Mila indicated that the social structure of accountability provided by her group was not meaningful or valuable to her at this stage of her development as an entrepreneur. She stressed the importance of finding the right fit in a group, and talked about why this aspect of her group wasn't working well for her.

M: I like group settings, I have no problem with that, but it's finding the right group setting. That's the biggest thing.

With the one what I'm doing with Julie... where are you at with your goals? Not doing it for me anymore. If you're a little bit more advanced, you gotta find a group that's gonna advance you even further. I don't need to go back and do goals every week, goals every week and meet once a month.

In the beginning I needed that to—to say, um, uh, checks and boundaries, you know, am I doing this? Somebody who could make sure that I'm doing it. But now I think I'm a little bit past that, that I can do that for myself to figure out what I'm doing and stuff. So for me now it's knowledge as far as figuring out where I wanna take the business. I need to learn more about, um, what'd I just tell them? That damn cash flow.

Even though Mila was the only participant who expressed these feelings about accountability and goal setting, the idea of finding a group that offers the right fit was echoed by Scott. For Mila, fit is about offering the right type of support at the right stage of personal development. For Scott, fit is about partnering with other entrepreneurs who share his level of commitment and experience.

To summarize, accountability refers to a process whereby group members hold one another to their word for the actions and/or goals they commit to. This phenomenon turned up in the majority of interviews as an important function of the coaching groups and as a useful source of motivation. According to the participants in this study, the social expectation of accountability is held collectively by their groups and carries implications not only for action, but for identity negotiation as well. In the next section I will explore the third broad category of background conditions: those that relate to the coach's presence in the group.

The Coach's Presence

Meaningful experiences in group coaching are shaped and influenced by what coaches bring to the table. The third category of conditions that participants associated with their meaningful group coaching experiences includes characteristics of the coach's presence in the group. Given the similarities apparent in their descriptions of their coaching groups above, one might assume that the coaches themselves influenced the groups in mostly similar (if not identical) ways. Surprisingly, this was not the case. Participants described the role and influence of each of the three coaches in distinct ways. According to these descriptions, each coach contributed their own emphasis or approach to their group(s). Broadly speaking, the various emphases were applying cognitive models or frameworks (Naomi), asking the right questions (Susan), and managing accountability (Julie).

In Naomi's case, Pierre described two different cognitive frameworks that Naomi used as lenses for coaching activities and discussions in his group. One was called the "New Money Story." Naomi used it to help Pierre and his peers surface and examine their unconscious beliefs about money and self-worth. The second, called "the saboteur

assessment," involved identifying different internal voices that occupy the roles of sage and saboteur. Pierre referred to working with both of these models as important and meaningful components of his group coaching experience. None of the other participants in this study mentioned any specific cognitive models or frameworks used by their coaches.

When Eleanor spoke about Susan's role as a coach, she focused on Susan's ability to ask the right questions "to keep the discussion going and guide us in a way that we came to our own conclusions." She likened this role to that of a flagger on the airport tarmac.

She was there to give us a lot of, um, I don't know, maybe like when the, um, airplane is, um, trying to taxi into the, you know, into the gate and the guys are out there waving their directional, you know, they're not flags, they're those little, like, flashlight kinds of things. And they're guiding—the pilot knows exactly where to go, right? He knows or she knows where the gate is, but here's this person giving them, "A little more to the left," you know, "Forward, forward," that kind of thing. So I—that, I think, was Susan's, um, uh, big contribution to this whole process.

Eleanor also recalled how Susan's precise questioning helped her learn vicariously from another group member. This story is told in detail in the next section.

Participants in Julie's groups, on the other hand, focused on her ability to manage accountability with each group member. This involved following up on each group member's goals and commitments, directing them toward actionable steps, holding them to account, and so on.

Rigsby: She's always checking in with us, you know, "How's it going on your 30-day goal or—or your overall goal?" And she, like I said, she's not—her big plus is that she's not afraid to call you out on stuff.

Belinda: So, you know... she recognizes that sometimes our coaching sessions are going to be Belinda meltdowns because of X, Y, and Z. And so, like, sometimes she just plays the role of therapist during our coaching sessions. And then it's, "Okay, so we got that off our chest. Now what goals do you have for this month? And let's write them down so that way you at least have them and move forward," and then she'll check in on me, you know, like, just make sure that I haven't fallen off the face of the planet.

Lynn: Helping you keep your priorities lined out to where you don't lose yourself in the mix or forget about the things that you really wanna do. You know, she's like, "Well, how are you gonna do this and still, you know, hang out with your kids this summer?" Or, you know, whatever it happens to be.

In each of these examples, Julie provides a structure of accountability to hold group members to their commitments, direct them toward future actions, and so on.

It is very likely that each of the coaches draws from other categories at different times, and in a few cases the data support this notion. For instance, Eleanor also described how Susan would direct the group to commit to actions they would take in between sessions, and Pierre mentioned that Naomi was not afraid to hold people to account and often did. A comprehensive exploration of how and what coaches generally contribute to their groups is beyond the scope of this study. What is relevant to this study, however, is that in their descriptions the participants gravitated toward certain features of the coach's contribution to the group, and that these features differed from coach to coach. This despite many similarities across the groups themselves with regard to characteristics of the social environment and social processes discussed above.

In summary, participants described the role and influence of each of the three coaches in distinct ways, broadly influencing the group through applying cognitive models or frameworks (Naomi), asking the right questions (Susan), and managing accountability (Julie). These differences are surprising given the similar ways in which participants described conditions related to the social environments and social processes of their groups. However, it is also important to note that participants' comments about how their coaches approached their groups should not be taken as an accurate or complete representation of the coaches' methods. They are, rather, reflections of what participants spoke about most in connection with the influence of each coach. In addition, it is likely that all three coaches

borrow from all three categories at different times and in response to different situations that arise in their groups. Further research is needed to better understand how and when coaches draw from different approaches or methodologies in their practice with groups.

Conclusion of Part 1

As discussed above, the background conditions that participants described in connection with their meaningful group coaching experiences fall broadly into three categories: characteristics of the social environment of the group, characteristics of the social processes at work in the group, and characteristics of the coach's presence in the group. These conditions are reflected in the ways that participants talked about their coaching groups and what happens in them.

The participants characterized the social environment of their groups in terms of cohesiveness and commonality. Cohesiveness represents their warm and caring relationships with other group members, their fondness for the group itself, and their sense of belonging. Commonality refers to feeling that their peers share similar goals and challenges, feeling a common bond with their peers in the group, and feeling as though they are not alone.

The study identified three types of social processes at work in the groups: social support, exchange, and accountability. Social support encompasses the idea that the group can be a source of personal and/or emotional support and encouragement for members. Exchange refers to the interchange of ideas, information, and feedback—both general and specific in nature. Accountability refers to a process whereby group members hold one another to their word for the actions and/or goals they commit to. Finally, participants described the role and influence of each of the three coaches in distinct ways, broadly influencing the group through applying cognitive models or frameworks (Naomi), asking the

right questions (Susan), and managing accountability (Julie). In Part 2 (of three) below, I discuss a range of possible process moves illustrated by participants' stories of their defining moments in group coaching.

Part 2: Process Moves

Against the background conditions discussed above, group members engage in dynamic and impactful processes of learning and change. The study revealed a range of possible process moves illustrated by participants' stories of their meaningful or defining moments in group coaching. The moves reflect individual and social processes of learning and change that unfold over time and through specific sequences of events. Two broad types or categories of moves emerged from the data: moves that demonstrate *learning vicariously* and moves that demonstrate *learning through feedback*. In Part 2 below, I present a series of short vignettes illustrating moves from each of these categories. For each category I provide a detailed analysis of the process moves and their impact on the participants' lives and businesses. Before concluding, I explore the counter narratives of two participants who do not describe their group coaching experiences in terms that reflect meaningful learning or change.

Learning Vicariously

Group members' meaningful experiences in group coaching often involve engaging with and learning from their peers' experiences. The first three vignettes illustrate different process moves demonstrating vicarious learning (learning from the behavior of others) and change. They are participants' stories about being deeply involved in another group

member's unfolding experience, learning from that involvement, and applying their learning in specific ways.

In the first, Belinda tells the story of helping another group member go through a transition, and what she learned from being involved. In the second, Scott tells the story of another group member's attempt to start a business and what he learned from it. In the third, Eleanor recalls learning from a business idea another group member implemented. I follow the vignettes with an analysis of the different but related process moves they illustrate.

Going Through That With Her (Belinda)

In this vignette Belinda talks about helping another group member, Lynn, as Lynn goes through a major transition with Tagsale.com, the business she founded. Belinda, the owner of an interior design business, describes the events, the role the group played in helping Lynn navigate her transition, and what she learned from this experience below.

B: Lynn... has always been, like, super energetic and ambitious and during—because I've—I've been there long enough that I saw some of this transition as Tagsale.com was really growing, but then as it started to, like, level off and started to shrink, like, Lynn started to really, like, fold up and get really angry and upset about how things were happening and, like, how people were treating her as the owner of the site. Like, I mean, it was just really—like, she was getting a lot of animosity, like, from a lot of different people and it just—it didn't make sense and she was frustrated and it was visible.

So she started talking about, like, closing down Tagsale.com. And this was her baby and, you know, it had come so far and so part of the—the role of the group was to help her make that decision and—and help her make that transition. And so, like, I—I remember going through that with her where, you know, she finally decided, like, "Okay, I'm going to do this."

And so we all—those of us who have closed businesses in the past, you know, I'm like, "Okay, well, I had to have my attorney draft letters, um, to all of my clients because I would be surrendering assignments in some cases and, um, you know, so I

had an attorney involved for mine." And so she, you know, talked to people and figured out what she needed to do. And so, like, I just—I remember, like, the group really just helping her through that.

And once it was closed, um, you know, there were a few things that, like, every month we, you know, we'd check in like, "What's left to do to, you know, finally close it out?" and it was, you know, releasing the website, you know, and stop paying for the domain so it's back out there in the world and all that sort of stuff.

And—and, you know, she would talk about, like, "It's really hard for me to just let go of tagsale.com because that's my thing and now it's gonna be out there for somebody else if they wanted it." But so, you know, it was just a process. So I just remember that process for Lynn, that it was everybody contributing what they knew about the process and encouraging her and telling her, you know, that "This—this is the best move for you." And it has been. She's definitely a much happier human being.

In the section below, Belinda talks about what she learned from this experience and how she applied it in her own business.

B: I don't know what [the "takeaway"] would be off the top of my head, but, um, like, recognizing what's not working and where you need to be spending your time, I think. Um, and since that time, I mean, I have—I mentioned partnering with a real estate company. It's a way for me to keep, I guess, a more steady income going. So that's just kind of like a—a good—and that's honestly how I've managed to bring the business out of the red is to be able to have this home showing aspect of what I do.

E: So, great example. Help me connect that back to Lynn's story.

B: Well, just that you—she was identifying what worked and what didn't work. And so I was—I, you know, I knew that I wasn't making any money with my business and people were hounding me about getting into real estate for a long time and I'm like, "I don't wanna do it, I don't wanna do it." So when this opportunity came up to just be a showing agent instead of a full-fledged real estate agent, like, "Okay, I can do that!" Like I—I can do all of it. So, yeah. So when that opportunity [arose], um, it was, you know, kind of one of those things where it's like, you know, look outside of your box. Um, but yeah, just be able to—to see beyond what you're, like, focusing on and—and see other opportunities outside of it. So I guess that's it.

This is My Job! (Scott)

In the next vignette, Scott tells the story of how another group member (Rebecca)

took some initial steps to launch a business, and how he subsequently challenges her when she is reluctant to continue with the business. Through this sequence of events, Scott learns that he pursues his own business with a completely different mentality.

S: There was a woman who was trying to, in our group, that was trying to take a hobby of hers, which was baking, and she loved to bake desserts and would make all kinds of really, I mean, delicious sweets for people. Um, and Julie was challenging her or giving her opportunities, actually, to expose her business, um, on some events. And, you know, we, um—so we had a situation where she provided stuff for an event and it went, um, I mean, honestly, the event was huge, people loved her stuff, but she was sitting there talking about all the things that went wrong, you know?

E: What was she saying?

S: Oh, it was, um, she got ill, like, the day before because of the stress of it and, um, and she over—you know, she, like, overcooked everything, like, too—made too many of something, you know. And even though it was a success, you know, she had to take some stuff home. And people were asking her about price and she got all stressed out about having to provide a price for her products. And she started back stepping and basically saying, "I don't think I really wanna do this. I don't think I—" you know. I mean, this was, like, her first time actually trying to actually get exposure and instantly she's ready to give up on it. And, you know, she's like, "Well, but I have this job in a... setting where I'm helping as an, you know, administration," and on and on. And I, you know, and I looked at her and I'm like, "You're doing what you love, right?" I'm like, "So why are you even talking like—" I—I just—I got really upset that she was giving up so easily.

S: And, you know, and to me, that was kinda that ah-ha moment for me where I did say, "Look, I don't look at it as, 'I can go to something else,' I go, 'I don't have a plan B or C or D. I'm not—' I'm like, 'This is it. I have to make this successful.'" I go, "I don't—I—I just—I don't even understand someone like you who is saying you wanna do what—your—you love, and yet the first time you have a—a little bit of roughness you're ready to chuck it." I can't—I just—that's so different than my mentality.

So, you know, and I—and I was challenging her. I'm like, "Well then why—why are you even in this group? Because if it's just a social circle, then you're—you, you know, you're in here—I guess that gives you some kind of satisfaction, but that's not helping your business. That's not helping you achieve what you said you loved and wanted to do. This was your passion you were gonna pursue." So, I mean, again, it got pretty confrontational about it. And—and the other people around the group kinda challenged her too, of, you know, "Hey, you just had a success."

E: Wow. So what did you—what did you learn from that whole exchange?

S: I mean, again, I—it just solidified in my head that—that for me, my business isn't a hobby. It is truly my passion, it's, um, I guess I just, um, I really don't want it to fail.

I Really can do This (Eleanor)

In this vignette from Eleanor's interview, she tells the story of how hearing another group member's idea triggers her to develop a similar idea for her own business. She talks about how the whole series of events changed the way she thinks about her business and herself as an entrepreneur.

El: I guess a way the group worked that was really helpful is, um, one—one of us would talk about, you know, where we are right now, you know, what is it that's been happening that, um, we need some—some help with. So someone is, say, talking about, um—one was... creating a guidebook, um, for, um, for her clients to deal with their, um, adolescent children. And so she was developing this guidebook, um, to help with coping mechanisms, um, things to say, um, how to redirect the youngsters, that kind of thing.

Um, well, in that particular session I was able to hear how she was working on developing the guidebook and, uh, kind of a lightbulb went off in my head. And when she was done speaking and then each of us had a turn to provide feedback, my feedback was, "I can't believe it. This is exactly what my clients need in terms of working with difficult employees. And, um, and Tamara, I can see that the steps that you've taken, um, are steps that I could take, with different resources, of course, but steps that I could take to develop a similar sort of set of guidelines, um, you know, to help my, uh, my small business clients."

And one of the problems that my small business clients had and still have is turnover. And they have, um, you know, it's really hard for them to—to keep good employees for a number of reasons, and, um, I was exploring, you know, what to do about that. Well, out of that discussion and future discussions in this group I created a small book that, um, I've been selling on, uh, tools to—to handle turnover. And what that means, how much that costs an employer when turnover keeps happening and happening and what things you need to look at and identify. And it's not just, um, the wages that are impacted, um, for the business owner, it's the time that's spent, it's the non-productivity, it's the disappointment from the customers because, uh, you know, um,

"There's always somebody new handling my account," that kind of thing. So based on Tamara's discussion of her handbook for—or guidebook for parents, I got the idea and moved forward in creating this, um, little book on, uh, turnover.

Yeah, yeah, that was the big one because it was after that I then did really seriously work on the book. And then, um, from working on the book I worked on a set of tools that, um, we included in the book but then were also available as a standalone on my website. So it was creating, you know, a couple of different products from one idea.

Er: Huh. Wow, that's cool. That's very cool to see how that develops. Um, did that—thinking about that experience, uh, did it affect or change the way you saw yourself as an entrepreneur?

El: Um, I think so. I think, um, you know, it was like, well, I could—you know, I really can do this. You know, I—I really can, um, do something other than just, um, coach my own clients, you know, in terms of, um, how they handle employee issues, um, or go in and do some transactional work for them or create their handbook or, um, you know, make responses to the unemployment claims that people are filing. I could do something that was, um, more foundational, um, something that they could use to really look at their business in a different way and, um, maybe head off some issues that, um, that they—if they had—they acknowledged to see that there were some of these issues in their future, there were ways they could handle them and, um, mitigate the—the pain that, you know, some of that can cause in the business.

Analysis. All three of the vignettes above illustrate processes of learning vicariously by being deeply involved in another group member's experience. These processes unfold over time and in relation to specific sequences of events. Belinda, Scott, and Eleanor all learn from these experiences and apply their learning in specific ways. However, there are key differences in the ways that these participants engaged with their peers' experiences, the content of their learning, and the impact of their learning. I discuss these differences below.

Ways of engaging with peers' experiences. Learning from others' experiences rests partially on how group members engage with those experiences. These three vignettes illustrate at least three ways or "modes" of engaging with peers' experiences: through empathy, through challenge, and through observation.

Empathy. Belinda's vignette shows her engaging with Lynn's experience through empathy. She frames her account of this experience with the words, "I remember going through that with her," indicating that she doesn't view herself as a mere observer, but as someone deeply connected to Lynn's experience and the events in Lynn's life. She describes Lynn's emotional state around the time of these experiences ("angry and upset... frustrated") and uses language throughout that shows her attention to Lynn's changing disposition and her feelings about going through this transition ("it's really hard for me... She's definitely a much happier human being," etc.). Although Belinda is describing events in Lynn's life, her genuine care and concern for Lynn and her emotional investment in Lynn's journey are palpable.

Challenge. In the story that Scott tells, his primary way of engaging with Rebecca's experience is through challenge. As he lays out the context for the story ("so we had a situation"), he paints her experience in stark terms: "people loved her stuff, but she was sitting there talking about all the things that went wrong." He draws attention to Rebecca's reluctance and his frustration with her. He describes confronting her and challenging her decision to give up "so easily," then challenging her place in the group. Though his description makes him seem almost combative, he conveys that he cares about Rebecca's business and wants her to succeed at pursuing her passion.

Observation. While Belinda and Scott both describe engaging with their peers' experiences in vivid, relational terms, Eleanor describes engaging with Tamara's experience in a more transactional mode. Eleanor's attention is on Tamara's idea and its applicability in her own business. She engages through observing as Tamara shares her idea for a guidebook with the group. Eleanor recounts hearing about the development of the guidebook and

having a light go off in her own mind. She describes Tamara's experience in terms of the steps Tamara took to develop the book.

Content of learning. Learning from the experiences of others in the group takes multiple forms. The three vignettes vary in terms of the content of participants' learning as well. The stories illustrate the synthesis of new theories of effective action, the adaptation of new business tactics, and the evolution of entrepreneurial identity.

New theories of effective action. Belinda indicated that Lynn's experiences taught her to recognize what's not working as well as where she should be spending her time. This is how she understands the progression she witnessed Lynn going through as she decides to close Tagsale.com down. She also mentions learning "to see beyond what you're... focusing on—and see other opportunities outside of it." These articulations of her learning can be described as general "rules" or theories for effective action. They help Belinda conduct herself and her business in new ways, leading to the identification of new opportunities (see below).

New business tactics. From listening to Tamara's idea to develop a client guidebook, Eleanor got the idea to adapt this tactic for use in her own business. Not only does she adapt Tamara's idea in a general sense, she also describes having observed the steps Tamara took to develop her product, and seeing how she could take similar steps. She realizes that she can implement this idea as a way of addressing her clients' unmet needs in a new way.

Evolution of entrepreneurial identity. Scott and Eleanor each learn something important about themselves as a result of what another individual in the group said or did. Scott describes experiencing an "ah-ha moment" when he tells Rebecca, "I don't have a plan B or C or D... This is it. I have to make this successful." Through this interaction he

realizes that his mindset for dealing with challenges and his commitment to be successful distinguish him from other would-be entrepreneurs who may not be as serious about success. The experience solidifies his claim to entrepreneurial identity ("my business isn't a hobby") and reinforces the notion that his work is his true passion.

Through the process of implementing her new business idea, Eleanor learns that she can elevate the level of her work and be a more foundational resource for her clients. Her words, "I really can do this," show how this realization changes her view of herself and what she can accomplish through her work. She goes on to describe how these events enabled her to envision herself helping her clients look at their businesses in a different way, and helping to mitigate their pain. Later in the interview she puts this realization into context by sharing with me about her vision as a person and how she has approached her business as an expression of her purpose:

My, um, vision as a person is to... be my brother's keeper in some ways, be my sister's keeper, um, be there to support human beings in whatever their path might be. Um, and I think I—that's when—when I started the business I tried to translate that into business terms, which was to be a guide and a support for the small business owner trying to grow the business and make a life for him or herself as well as supporting their employees in a healthy and positive way. So I think that that's my mission in life is to just be there, um, to support, and, um, and give whatever knowledge or information or wisdom that I may have gathered over 71 years to help someone, um, be successful.

Her comments indicate that what she learned from this experience in her coaching group has significance beyond her business results. Doing more foundational work with clients and helping to mitigate some of their pain connects her to her sense of purpose and enables her to live her vision of being her sister's keeper in new ways.

Impact of learning. The primary impact of Scott's learning in this vignette are his strengthened claims to entrepreneurial identity described above. The impact of Belinda and

Eleanor's learning is visible in the specific actions they took as a result of their experiences.

Their actions help illustrate the impact of their learning on their lives and businesses.

Belinda describes capitalizing on a new business opportunity, while Eleanor talks about developing new products.

Capitalizing on a new opportunity. According to Belinda, learning to recognize what's not working and where she needs to spend her time helped her identify and capitalize on an opportunity to partner with a real estate company as a showing agent. She recalls not making any money in her interior design business but also not wanting to become a full-fledged real estate agent even though it might be more lucrative. She realizes that her current situation isn't working and by "looking outside her box," identifies an opportunity to become a showing agent. This helps to expand her professional network while also exposing her to home buyers who could potentially be clients for her design business in the future.

Developing new products. As a result of Eleanor's learning about offering more foundational resources to her clients, she develops a guidebook to help small businesses deal with employee turnover. In addition to selling the book, she develops a set of tools from the book into separate standalone products sold on her website. In her words, "it was creating, you know, a couple of different products from one idea."

Process moves related to learning vicariously. Entrepreneurs learn different things in different ways when they engage vicariously in other group members' experiences.

Participants' ways of engaging vicariously, coupled with the content or products of their learning, form three distinct but related process moves which all revolve around the notion of learning vicariously:

• Learning new theories of effective action by engaging empathetically in another

group member's transition.

- Learning about one's entrepreneurial "self" by observing or challenging another group member's idea or decision.
- Learning new business tactics by observing another group member's idea.

As described above, the impact of these process moves on the lives and businesses of the participants varied as well. The primary impact of these processes included (a) strengthening claims to entrepreneurial identity, (b) capitalizing on a new opportunity, and (c) developing new products. The entrepreneurs in this study also learned through receiving and responding to different forms of feedback from their group members. In the next section I present three vignettes illustrating different processes of learning through feedback.

Learning Through Feedback

Entrepreneurs benefit in multiple ways from receiving feedback from other group members. The next three vignettes illustrate process moves related to learning and changing through direct feedback from other group members. They are participants' stories about receiving feedback from others in the group, learning from this exchange, and applying their learning in specific ways.

In the first vignette, Pierre receives feedback from his group that changes the way he thinks about his writing skills. In the second, Lynn talks about how the group grants her "permission" to reprioritize and what this means to her. In the third, a member of Rigsby's group shares an insight about her that fundamentally expands Rigsby's awareness of her own behavior.

"Becoming" a Skilled Writer (Pierre)

Pierre's story below illustrates how consensus feedback from the group can challenge an individual's beliefs and assumptions. In this case, Pierre discusses how his coaching group's positive feedback shifted his beliefs about his own writing skills, which in turn allowed him to pursue a new business opportunity he wouldn't have otherwise thought himself prepared for.

I'm kind of insecure about my writing, umm, because when I sit down to write something, umm, sometimes I can get into a flow, umm, but more often than not it's like pulling teeth. And I will spend forever, umm, trying to put the idea I have in my head, explain it the right way with words. And, umm, so I've always been kind of self-conscious that I—I don't write as well as—as the ideas come out and I'm a little frustrated with that.

And through the process of the group we had to read, uhh, out loud to the other members certain assignments that Naomi had given us, umm, uhh, which involved, you know, a type of journaling or a type of essay on how you feel about this or that. And, umm, I was really surprised to find that other people responded in—when I read my statement that—that they related so well or they thought, "Wow, you really put that into words that I wouldn't have thought to do that that way, and that really resonated with me."

And that felt amazing to me because I really felt like, you know, when it came time for that session where we all had to read our stuff that mine was just gonna be the most disjointed, not really cohesive bundle of, you know, umm, stream of consciousness.

And, uhh, so it really, umm, it was—it was an area where I didn't feel like I had a strength, and through the group they were able to say, "No, you know, that is—that is a good element of, you know—keep working on that, keep doing that because you've got something there." Umm, which was great.

And I think hearing that from the group was better than hearing it from the coach because the coach almost sometimes is like Mom, like you know your mom's gonna think you're great... I did feel like the group was more of a consensus, and so it wasn't like one person telling you, "Oh yeah, I think you're good at that," it was the whole group going, "Oh wow, that was a really good essay," whereas, you know—so that was really cool.

And—and now with this—this new venture that I'm working on, it's absolutely

essential because I'm having to dictate lesson plans, I'm having to dictate procedure on a lot of stuff with this new company, and it's all gotta be written down in like a, you know, SOP kind of thing. Umm, and a year ago or two years ago I would've been so uncomfortable with that. Umm, but now it's—I'm able to put those ideas into a format and, umm, and get it out.

And then—and then you create a feedback loop, which is another new experience for me. So, umm, in the past I'd been keeping all these ideas in my mind and I know that I'm losing some of them because, you know, you have that really inspirational moment, umm, late at night before you go to bed and if you don't write that down, as good as it is and you think you're going to remember it the following day, a lot of times you don't. And so documenting all that stuff is a new regime for me as well. And I'll come back and look at things and totally forget—it's almost like another person wrote it. And I'm like, "Oh, I'm so glad that I wrote that down," because now I can take that concept which would've been lost and keep going. So, umm, you know, it's, uhh, yeah, interesting tools.

E: It's very interesting. So when you—when you received that feedback from the group that, "No, you're—this is great. This is great writing that you're doing—" how did that change the way you thought about yourself as an entrepreneur, as a business owner? Or even just as a person?

P: Umm, it—well—yeah. It, uhh, it—it put an immediate gag order on the critic in my brain that was saying, "You shouldn't even—you shouldn't even bother doing this because you're not really that good at it." Umm, so that shifted. Umm, and, uhh, and it—it basically gave me the comfort to just start doing it more... so it—it, you know, I mean, uhh, ultimately it gave me more confidence, you know, umm, and, uhh, kind of inspired me to—to do more of that.

Getting Permission (Lynn)

In this vignette, Lynn tells the story of a conversation that took place in her group a few months after she closed Tagsale.com down. She discusses the moment when her coaching group granted her permission to establish a new set of priorities, and what honoring those priorities now means to her.

L: Um, really the interest in the market shot up and skyrocketed. And the moment that I watched a football ad for a similar company, um, I went, "You know what? I

think I'm in the wrong business." And I decided to go ahead and close it down, and not too long after that Facebook came out with a competing product as well.

Uh, I remember we were filling out our—our goal sheets and [Julie] was asking us what, you know... "Put down here, what do you want for the next three months? What do you want—overall? What is the thing?" And I'm sitting there thinking, "Gosh, I just—I really don't wanna write this list of, like, you know, editing the website and—I don't—I don't really—I'm not focused on this right now. The sun is out and it's gorgeous and I really—I want my kids to be my priority."

And [Julie is] like, "So do it," you know? And I'm like, "Wait a minute. I just got permission! I just got permission to go have fun." You know, it felt like I was, like, fit in this little box before where, like, you have to get these things done and then, like, well, you know, "I could streamline the summer and I could just hit work a couple days a week and keep the ball rolling but not just be engrossed in it. And I could travel and go to the pool and just, you know, live the life that we have built so that I can."

E: Huh. Wow. That's pretty big.

L: Yeah. [laughs] It was, it was. To, you know, just to realize that, you know, "This is life, this is the life we lead, this is how we grow it, this is the hours that we have to dedicate to it, this is the choices that we've made, but what do we want to be the priority?" And our kids are definitely that. So I take that role. So if somebody needs to, you know, be out of school or go to a doctor's appointment or whatever, yes, we're entrepreneurs and yes, I have tons of things to do every single day, but I will choose them over doing—building the business.

Addicted to Change (Rigsby)

Rigsby's vignette begins with her description of having just come through a difficult and stressful period. She talks about "coming back into normal" after this time and looking for ways to learn from the experience. She receives some valuable insight from Wendy, one of her peers in the group, that fundamentally expands Rigsby's awareness of her own behavior.

R: Um, so I went through, like, a real rut last summer, um, where I was just—it was a

combination of health problems and stress and just feeling really burnt out. Um, and so I took, like, two or three weeks off and just didn't do anything and was trying to, like, soul search and whatever and try—and, you know, and so last fall was really me kinda coming back into normal. And—and the end of, you know, the fourth quarter was really, um, about realigning, figuring out why I got to that point, how can I do things that are gonna make it better, how can I be strong in the new year and kind of take some of these lessons and—and implement that. And Wendy, who I don't know if you're meeting with, um, she's a counselor, she's a therapist. And so, um, so she has a really cool perspective, you know, and so sometimes that therapy feel really comes from her.

And, so—um, so Julie was saying, "Well, maybe it's this, maybe it's this," and, uh, Wendy said, "I think that you're addicted to change." And I was like, "What do you mean?" Like I had never heard anyone say that before. And she was like, "Well, you know, everything you've described, part of the reason it started was because you felt like you were in a rut, like you didn't feel challenged, you were kind of losing your motivation, maybe you felt overworked or whatever." Um, she's like, "But then you moved your office in July and when you moved your office your mood kinda changed, you had something new to focus on, things were going differently." And so she kind of went through this, like, play-by-play and I was like, "Holy shit. Like, I think she's right." You know?

And I've really, like, that happened maybe four months ago and I've thought about that a lot because when I think about how I am as a person, as a business owner, as an entrepreneur, um, in all the facets, you know, sitting on a board, other stuff that I do. I really am, like—to me, I equate, um, being stagnant with just, like, boredom and, you know, um, just, like, hitting your head against a brick wall. You know, and, um, so yeah. So I think she's right that, you know, even if it's small things like, "Today I'm gonna take a half day," you know, "I'm just gonna finish up some things at the house and whatever," cool. That—that's exciting to me because it's different than, "Oh, I gotta work all day in the office." So that's really helped me to, um, kinda rethink the way that I do things and recognize the warning signs if I feel—if I'm sitting at the office and I start, like, checking Facebook or CNN or something, I'm like, "Just go home. You're done."

So—so things like that. I mean, it's—that's—that was a really defining moment for me recently, um, because it's really changed the way I think about my schedule, my business, everything.

E: Say a little bit more about that if you can. Like how has it changed your—your schedule and the way you're thinking about things?

R: Yeah, just, um, just recognizing the fact that—I love situations where I'm put in an unfamiliar territory or environment and then have to figure it out, right? Um, I love that kind of stuff. And so by her, like, bringing that to my focus and realizing that I'm like that, um, doing just randomly—like I got online the other day and just

randomly bought plane tickets to go visit a friend, you know? And it's like—things like that, like, really kinda just reshape the way that I think about things and then I don't feel so stagnant or trapped.

You know, I guess "stagnant's" not the right word. Trapped. I don't ever wanna feel like I'm trapped, like I'm going through the motions, you know? Um, so yeah, the things with our business, um, we put a bid in on another agency to purchase, um, two weeks ago. We don't know yet if it's gonna go through, but that would be a huge change for our business. It would almost double our business. We might have to hire somebody else, contacting all those new clients, like, it sounds like a pain in the ass to some people, but to me it's like, cool, like that's new, it's different. You know, how—how are we going to deal with this?

E: Something to figure out.

R: Exactly, yeah. It's a curveball. So yeah. So that's been really, um, really profound for me in the last couple of—of months.

Analysis. All three of these vignettes illustrate processes of learning and change related to receiving feedback from other group members. As in the previous section, these processes unfold over time and in relation to specific sequences of events. Pierre, Lynn, and Rigsby all learn from their experiences and apply their learning in specific ways. The vignettes show subtle variation in terms of the types of feedback the participants received from their peers, the content of their learning, and the impact(s) of their learning. However, they are alike in their illustrations of how participants defer to the feedback of their peers—even when it conflicts with their own previously held assumptions. In the section below, I discuss the differences, the similarities, and the overarching process moves evident in these participants' stories.

Types of feedback received. Meaningful feedback from peers can take many forms. The three vignettes above illustrate at least three different types of feedback: acknowledging latent skills, legitimizing personal values, and distinguishing habitual behavior.

Acknowledging latent skills. Pierre's group responds to the work he does as part of a group writing assignment. Much to his surprise, the group acknowledges the resonance of his words and encourages him to keep writing. This stands in stark contrast to Pierre's habitual way of thinking about his writing, making this a meaningful and impactful moment for him. He recalls expecting his essay to come off as "disjointed" and "not really cohesive," and describes the group's positive feedback as "amazing" to him. The feedback highlights a set of skills that Pierre didn't know he possessed.

In Pierre's view, the fact that the feedback reflected the consensus of the group, rather than the opinions of a single group member or his coach ("your mom's gonna think you're great"), was very significant. The group's consensus holds more weight and greater validity in his mind. It makes the feedback more believable.

Legitimizing personal values. In Lynn's case, her coach (Julie) initiates the feedback, though elsewhere in the interview she indicates that the rest of the group supported Julie's message ("They were like, 'Well yeah, I mean, if you can, why not? Just enjoy it'"). The group's feedback helps her legitimize her desire to focus on her family (rather than business) for the summer. This is something she wants to do but feels unable to do until the group gives her "permission." The language Lynn chooses conveys the fact that her desire is rooted in her personal values about family ("What do we want to be the priority?" "I will choose them [the kids] over doing—building the business"). The feedback she receives from her group enables her to reprioritize in a way that honors these values.

Distinguishing habitual behavior. The feedback that Rigsby receives from Wendy helps her distinguish a behavioral pattern of which Rigsby was previously unaware. In this case it is feedback from one individual group member (not the whole group or the coach) that

makes Rigsby aware of her "addiction" to change. Rigsby indicates that Wendy's professional expertise as a therapist appears to inform her view. The feedback is important to Rigsby because it helps place her past feelings and experiences in a new context. She describes Wendy's feedback as a "play-by-play" of Rigsby's circumstances and changing mood during the previous months.

Content of learning. As above, these vignettes show variation in terms of the content of participants' learning. The stories demonstrate learning about new strengths or capacities, achieving new clarity about priorities, and developing new self-awareness.

New strengths or capacities. Although Pierre's latent writing skills may not be new (they are previously undiscovered), they translate into what Pierre experiences as a newfound strength or capacity for writing. Pierre mentions, "It was an area where I didn't feel like I had a strength." But the group's feedback convinces him to embrace his work as a writer and develop it further ("keep working on that"). In other words, from this exchange Pierre learns that he can write effectively, and that his capacity for writing is valued by his peers.

New clarity about priorities. Lynn's interaction with her group helps uncloak and elevate personal values that for Lynn were already there but suppressed. As a result, she realizes that she wants her kids (not her business) to be her highest priority over the summer. The group's feedback gives her permission to embrace her new priorities. From a place of newfound clarity, she comments that although she is an entrepreneur and has "tons of things to do every single day," she will choose her kids over the business.

New self-awareness. Pierre, Lynn, and Rigsby each learn to see themselves in new ways as a result of receiving feedback from their groups. Pierre learns that he's able to put his ideas into writing effectively, which contradicts his previously held beliefs about himself.

Through the process of uncloaking and embracing her new priorities, Lynn learns that the role she wants to play for her family supersedes her obligation to the business. This new arrangement represents a challenge to her past assumptions about what was most important to her.

In response to Wendy's feedback, Rigsby fundamentally expands her awareness of her own behavior and what drives it. She describes how the experience caused her to realize that she needs stimulation in order to stay engaged with work. At the same time, this realization helped her understand why she feels burnt out or unmotivated when things become stagnant ("I equate... being stagnant with... boredom and, you know... hitting your head against a brick wall"). Rigsby indicates that she was not previously aware of these inclinations ("I had never heard anyone say that before"). In other words, Wendy's feedback helps her learn about a new facet of her professional identity.

Impact of learning. Learning through feedback leads to effective action. The impact of participants' learning is visible in the specific actions they take as a result of their group coaching experiences. Their actions illuminate the impact of their learning on their lives and businesses. Pierre is led to pursue a new business opportunity and initiates a new practice of reflective writing in his daily life. Lynn changes her work schedule for the summer. Rigsby finds new ways to keep her work fresh and different. In addition, all three negotiate their entrepreneurial identity claims differently as a result of their learning. I discuss each of these areas in detail below.

Pursuing a new business opportunity. According to Pierre, learning about his strengths as a writer gave him the confidence he needed to pursue a new business venture in which writing plays a central role. He says, "I'm having to dictate lesson plans, I'm having to

dictate procedure on a lot of stuff with this new company, and it's all gotta be written down." He credits his group coaching experience with giving him the confidence to "put those ideas into a format and... get it out." Ultimately, learning through feedback enabled him to silence any self-criticism that in the past might've prevented him from engaging in these activities.

Creating a reflective practice. Pierre also talks about creating "a feedback loop" by writing down his ideas at night before he goes to bed. In the past he would rely on his memory to keep track of ideas, often forgetting them by the morning. His newfound confidence in his writing abilities inspired him to document his ideas in writing so he can come back to them to develop them later.

Spending less time at work. As a result of Lynn's learning about priorities, she streamlines her work schedule for the summer in order to spend more time with her kids. She reduces the number of days each week that she spends at work—working enough to "keep the ball rolling" without becoming "engrossed in it." As a result, she is able to travel with her kids, take them to the pool, and so on. Lynn says her reprioritization allows her to "live the life that we have built so that I can [do these things]." Her comments suggest that the group's feedback has ultimately helped her capitalize on the entrepreneurial lifestyle she created—by taking advantage of the flexibility of her role.

Approaching work in new ways. As a result of her expanded self-awareness, Rigsby begins to approach her work in new ways in order to keep it fresh and exciting. She describes some of these changes as small, such as spontaneously working a half day and taking the rest of the day off, or booking a flight to see a friend, and so on. Others have had much broader implications for her business, such as putting a bid in on another agency. Rigsby says, "It sounds like a pain in the ass to some people, but to me it's like, cool, like

that's new, it's different." In addition, she mentions that after having her addiction to change brought to her attention, she has learned to recognize and respond to the warning signs of impending boredom. For instance, if she notices herself watching CNN or checking Facebook at work, she knows that it's time to go home, rather than struggle through the rest of the day.

Negotiating claims to entrepreneurial identity. The overarching progression of Pierre's story involves Pierre changing the way he sees himself because of the feedback he receives from the group. The group helps him see himself in a new way, and this leads him toward different choices and new opportunities. As a result, he enacts his entrepreneurial identity in new ways as well. By accepting a role in a new venture that relies heavily on his writing skills, he expands his sense of who he is as an entrepreneur and what he is capable of. This shift is illustrated by the significant changes to his self-narrative: "it put an immediate gag order on the critic in my brain that was saying, 'You shouldn't even—you shouldn't even bother doing this because you're not really that good at it.""

Lynn's shifting claims to entrepreneurial identity revolve around her decision to enact a new set of values and to subordinate others. The realization that she can reduce her role in the family business for the summer without sacrificing her entrepreneurial inclination entirely is itself an expansion in her understanding of what it means to be an entrepreneur. Where previously, being an entrepreneur meant putting business ahead of everything else, she narrates her identity differently after this group coaching experience: "Yes, we're entrepreneurs... but I will choose them [her kids] over doing—building the business."

Finally, Rigsby's experience leads her to construct her entrepreneurial identity in a way that includes her need to shake things up on a regular basis. She implies that her old

assumptions about being a business owner prohibited her from acting spontaneously ("Oh, I gotta work all day in the office"). As a result of Wendy's feedback, she too has expanded her sense of what it means to be an entrepreneur so that it includes this important aspect of her professional identity ("I love situations where I'm put in an unfamiliar territory... I don't ever want to feel like I'm trapped, like I'm going through the motions"). In other words, Rigsby's sense of who she is as an entrepreneur includes and embraces her addiction to change.

Deference to peer feedback. Although the circumstances differ, all three participants grant their peers in the group a level of power and authority that they are unable or unwilling to grant themselves. Lynn is unable to reprioritize until her group gives her permission. Pierre is unable to see himself as a skilled writer until his peers describe him this way. Rigsby is unaware of her attraction to change and unable to embrace it until someone else in the group distinguishes it for her. In each of these cases the participants subordinate their old assumptions about self and business and embrace new ways of framing their experiences. This suggests that peer feedback in a group coaching environment can be a potent lever for change.

Process moves related to learning from feedback. Entrepreneurs learn different things in different ways when receiving feedback from their fellow group members, but defer to their groups' feedback in similar ways. The type of feedback given and the content or products of participants' learning combine to form distinct but related process moves which all revolve around the notion of learning through feedback:

 Developing new strengths or capacities through receiving feedback that acknowledges latent skills.

- Achieving new clarity about priorities through receiving feedback that legitimizes personal values.
- Acquiring new self-awareness through receiving feedback that helps distinguish habitual behaviors.

As described earlier, these moves impact the actions and entrepreneurial trajectories of the participants in multiple ways, including (a) pursuit of a new business opportunity, (b) creation of a reflective practice, (c) more time spent with family and less at work, (d) new ways of approaching work, and (e) new claims to entrepreneurial identity. One common theme across all three vignettes is that the participants granted power and authority to their peers in the group that they denied themselves. They deferred to their peers' feedback even when it conflicted with their previously held assumptions, suggesting that feedback from other members in a coaching group can be a potent lever for learning and change.

Counter-Narratives

Entrepreneurs do not always learn or change in meaningful ways as a result of their group coaching experiences. Contrary to the previous six vignettes, neither Mila nor Ted recalled learning or changing significantly as a result of their group coaching experiences. As stated above, Mila felt her group's focus on goals and accountability was a poor fit for her needs at the time. Ted, on the other hand, showed a strong attachment to his group and clearly found his experience of belonging meaningful. However, neither described experiencing learning or meaningful change as a result of their participation. In the vignettes below, Mila contrasts her group coaching experiences with another group she belongs to that better matches her needs, while Ted struggles to describe how he benefits from participating in his group.

It's Just Not What I Needed (Mila)

M: Well, before I got into the group with, um, Julie, me and Rigsby were in a group of women of John Maxwell. Well, one of our friends did John Maxwell books, so we started to come together at every—for a couple of years we would do John Maxwells. And we did it in a group book study. Loved it. We—because we could share everything and stuff. And then Rigsby told me that she was in the one with Julie. I think I've been with Julie maybe four or five and we got one more. Not my cup of tea. I liked the book study thing a lot better... Um, Julie's an awesome person and I've known Julie for quite a bit and we've met work—at different events off and on. Not my cup of tea.

Nothing against her. It's just not my cup of tea. Because we're only meeting once a month and it's just not enough.

E: You need something more—more frequent?

M: At least once a week or something like that. With the book study we were meeting once a week. Loved it. We were going through the book, we read. And sometimes—I don't know if Rigsby mentioned, um, the book study, but sometimes we get off target and we're checking in with each other's business. So it was more than us doing that book study. So—so now we even still meet, uh, every two weeks for breakfast because we've developed a friendship and we've developed relationships, but we're steady checking in on businesses. With the one what I'm doing with Julie once a week, where are you at with your goals?

E: Doesn't do it for you.

M: Not doing it for me anymore. Which is not a bad thing, because you don't know that till you do it. Whenever you decide to go into a group, you don't know until you get to that group if this is gonna be the one for you or not. Because I've done so many different ones and I've done a lot of different goal-setting things and stuff like that, I probably should've went a different way than to that. I think that one would be better, uh, for somebody—different levels, beginners. Something like that, you know?

The point that I'm at now to get me to the next level I need the knowledge instead of that one-on-one check-in. Yeah, I'm looking for more knowledge. So I think with Julie's particular group, it's a good group, nice people in there. It's just not what I needed.

You gotta find a group that's gonna help you to get what you need, that—like my girls, I call them my girls, when we do our book studies and things like that, we are

such a diverse group, all at different levels, all in different businesses, but we developed a common bond of friendship in there also where we're more supportive to each other than more, uh, business.

The Only Takeaway (Ted)

E: Has [your participation in the coaching group] affected the way you think about your business?

T: It has affected the way I think about my business—only from the standpoint of that idea that I got from—the postcard idea [an idea for sending hand-written postcards to prospective clients]. That is the big one. That's the—that's the one that stands out. That's the defining one. And, um, that's really the only takeaway that I have.

E: That's fine.

T: Uh, that is the takeaway that I have. Because everything else is just—going back to the way I am, you know, you know, she'll, you know, Julie will write down on her whiteboard, you know, whatever the question is or whatever the goal is or whatever the—the deficiency is that we need to get better on, you know, and—and even though I'm verbalizing it and we're writing it down and we're taking notes, I mean, I know it. It's—it's—I didn't—I guess—I don't know if this is a pride thing, but I don't necessarily need this group to tell me that I have this deficiency or I excel in this area. But I guess what she's doing is she's bringing it to light so that others can keep you accountable, perhaps.

E: Yeah, that accountability piece, yeah. Huh. And do they? Do they hold you to account? Do they try? [laughs]

T: Actually, no. You know, I haven't had any conversations with any of them.

E: Huh. Okay.

Analysis. Mila and Ted describe their experiences in strikingly different terms than their counterparts. Mila indicates that she is not finding value in her coaching group and gives several reasons why. Ted dwells on his one takeaway—an idea he got from another

group member which he hadn't yet implemented at the time of the interview due to financial constraints.

Interestingly, Mila goes on to describe her book study group in ways that closely echo what others have said about their coaching groups. Indeed, many of the same background conditions appear to be present in the book study group. She speaks about being able to "share everything" with the book study group (commonality) and develop close friendships with her fellow group members (cohesiveness). She mentions how the group checks in on each other's businesses (social support), and she implies that the group uses books and dialogue to engage with new knowledge and perspectives (exchange). This suggests that different types of groups can support meaningful learning for entrepreneurs if they share similar background conditions. In Mila's case, the book study group provided a level of knowledge and friendship that her coaching group hadn't at the time of the interview.

In Mila's estimation, focusing narrowly on goals and accountability may suit novice entrepreneurs better, although overall this study suggests that entrepreneurs at many levels of experience can and do find a structure of accountability to be an important factor in their meaningful experiences. Ted conveyed similar feelings about accountability in his group ("I haven't had any conversations with them") although elsewhere in the interview he refers to a time when Julie tracked him down on Facebook to follow up on actions he committed to.

Ted states that he doesn't need the group "to tell me that I have this deficiency or I excel in this area." Although he acknowledges that the coaching exercises Julie leads help him verbalize and write down goals and/or areas of "deficiency," he doesn't seem to find these activities meaningful. He assesses his experience in the group primarily from the perspective of business ideas and business leads. This sets up a conflict between the value he

expects to find and the one aspect of the group that he actually does describe as meaningful: the experience of belonging with/to a group of peers. This conflict continues to play out in our interview (see Part 3 below) as I continue to press him on the question of how he benefits from his participation in the group.

Conditions and Process Moves: A Tentative Connection

Having discussed the process moves illustrated by participants' stories of meaningful group coaching experiences, I now turn to the relationship between the conditions described in Part 1 and the process moves described in Part 2. The data suggest there may be an important connection between these two different types of phenomena. The nature of their relationship is twofold.

First, individual member perceptions of background conditions appear to influence whether they experience opportunities for learning and change. For example, when a group member does not experience these conditions (even if others in the group may), she or he is unlikely to experience meaningful learning or change as a result of participating in group coaching. Such was the case for Mila, who described her coaching group as lacking the common bond of friendship and the relevant information that have made her book study group a more meaningful source of learning and change.

Second, the presence of particular background conditions doesn't on its own guarantee meaningful learning and change. Even for a member who does experience these conditions, such as Ted, learning and change may not take place. Despite the meaningful sense of belonging Ted experienced with his group, he struggled to recall any specific experiences which resulted in learning or change.

Mila and Ted's counter narratives suggest that additional factors (e.g., the group member's level of self-awareness, the degree of relevance of peers' experiences and feedback, etc.) may influence whether an individual learns from her or his experiences in group coaching. The conditions appear to set the stage, but do not automatically precipitate learning and change. Further research is needed to gain more insight into this relationship.

Conclusion of Part 2

The study revealed a range of possible process moves illustrated by participants' stories of their meaningful experiences in group coaching. The moves reflect individual and social processes of learning and change that unfold over time and through specific sequences of events. Two different categories of moves emerged from the data: those that demonstrate learning vicariously and those that demonstrate learning through feedback.

Participants' stories of learning vicariously varied across three dimensions: (a) their ways of engaging with peers' experiences, (b) the content of their learning, and (c) the impact of their learning. Three distinct process moves incorporating these elements are as follows:

- Learning new theories of effective action by engaging empathetically in another group member's transition.
- Learning about one's entrepreneurial "self" by observing or challenging another group member's idea or decision.
- Learning new business tactics by observing another group member's idea.

The impact(s) of these processes included (a) strengthening claims to entrepreneurial identity, (b) capitalizing on a new opportunity, and (c) developing new products.

Participants' stories of learning through feedback varied across three dimensions as

well: (a) the types of feedback they received from their peers, (b) the content of their learning, and (c) the impact of their learning. However, the stories were alike in their portrayal of participants' deference to the feedback of their peers. In each case the participants described examples of subordinating their old assumptions about self and business and embracing new ways of framing their experiences, all as a result of receiving feedback in their groups. This suggests that peer feedback in group coaching can be a potent lever for learning and change. Three distinct process moves incorporating these elements are as follows:

- Developing new strengths or capacities through receiving feedback that acknowledges latent skills.
- Achieving new clarity about priorities through receiving feedback that legitimizes personal values.
- Acquiring new self-awareness through receiving feedback that helps distinguish habitual behaviors.

The impact(s) of these processes included (a) pursuit of a new business opportunity, (b) creation of a reflective practice, (c) more time spent with family and less at work, (d) new ways of approaching work, and (e) new claims to entrepreneurial identity.

Furthermore, entrepreneurs do not always learn or change in meaningful ways as a result of their group coaching experiences. According to one counter-narrative in this study, the background conditions for meaningful learning (commonality, cohesiveness, social support, exchange) may be present in other types of groups, and finding the right fit with the right group at the right time is paramount. According to the other, coaching exercises or activities that provide structure and/or aid in personal reflection may not always benefit

group members in the way they are intended to. In addition, participants' expectations about the value they will receive from group coaching may not be aligned with what they actually value most about their group coaching experiences.

The data also suggest (but are insufficient to conclude) that meaningful learning and change has the potential to occur for group members when the background conditions distinguished in Part 1 are perceived as being present. Yet, the presence of the conditions alone doesn't necessarily guarantee meaningful learning and change. Further research is required to better understand this relationship. In Part 3 (of three) below, I present a series of vignettes illustrating the impact of the relational context of the interview itself on participants' constructions of their meaningful group coaching experiences.

Part 3: Relational Context of the Interview

The meaning of past experiences continues to evolve through the course of the interview. As stated in Chapter 3, individuals narrate or "perform" their experiences and their identities for specific audiences—in this case, the researcher. As they look backward from the present and reflect on past experiences, participants reconstruct the meaning of past events in the present context of the interview. These processes of reflection and reconstruction are important features of the social interaction between researcher and participant. By turning the lens around on these interactions, it is possible to examine their impact on participants' meaning making and entrepreneurial identity development.

In Part 3 below I present a series of vignettes which illustrate the impact of the relational context of the interview itself on participants' meaning making. I explore three types of exchanges between participant and interviewer: *negotiating belonging*, *co-creating*

successful entrepreneurship, and co-creating conscious learning. In each of these examples, the interaction between participant and interviewer influences the construction of events and their meaning. These "discursive performances" highlight the co-constructed nature of narrative data and the influence of the research interview on participants' meaning making and learning.

Discursive Performances

The following are three examples of speech acts or discursive performances through which participants came to view their experiences and/or themselves in new ways. The first picks up with Ted at a point in the interview where my line of questioning leads him to assert a new identity claim. In the second, Eleanor redefines herself as a successful entrepreneur. In the third, Lynn becomes newly conscious of something she has been learning through her group coaching experiences.

Negotiating belonging (Ted). At this point in my interview with Ted, he has described his initial skepticism about coaching, stemming from the fact that he already knows what he needs to do and doesn't need a coach to tell him. The idea of using handwritten postcards to follow up with clients and referral sources is the one major takeaway he can name, but he hasn't actually implemented this practice. Aside from this one idea, he seems to struggle to explain how his participation in the group has benefited him ("that's really the only takeaway that I have"). Despite these facts, he has spoken very clearly about his sense of belonging with his group and what that means to him. As an interviewer, this apparent conflict between Ted's feelings of belonging and his inability to name any distinct benefit from his participation left me somewhat perplexed. I began to wonder

whether my interview with him was making him realize that he wasn't receiving much value or benefit from his coaching group.

As I pressed him more directly about other ideas he might have gotten from the group, or other significant events that might've happened, and so on, he still couldn't think of anything, and I noticed a shift in his demeanor. Perhaps he was frustrated with my questioning or embarrassed that his answers didn't seem to satisfy me. In any case, I began to feel awkward and somewhat frustrated by the interview. I struggled to reconcile Ted's enthusiasm for the group with what seemed like a lack of any significant or impactful benefit.

Things finally come to a head in this next section of our exchange when my blunt questioning appears to catch him off guard.

E: Do they hold you to account? Do they try? [laughs]

T: Actually, no. You know, I haven't had any conversations with any of them.

E: Huh. Okay.

T: Yeah.

E: Huh. So what do you get out of this?

T: [laughs] I don't know. Maybe I'm still new enough that I haven't really experienced the full effect. Maybe that's it. Because, like I said, the thing that defines my experience there is that idea, that business idea that I got out of it. And I got a client out of it. Um, and at this point—I mean, I think this will be—

[long pause]

You know what? I think I will find more value in this when this new business endeavor is off the ground. Because some of the things that are talked about in the group from other people would be, "How do I deal with this employee situation?" "How do I deal with this vendor situation?" and I haven't got there yet. I'm gonna get there because I am—got three people getting ready to come on board hopefully, once I get some more money, and those things will happen. So perhaps once I get into this a little bit deeper, then—then I'm gonna start finding more value in this type of—this type of service.

E: Yeah. That makes total sense.

From this point forward, Ted begins to describe his relationship to his group in terms of the future instead of the past. He talks about how he will benefit from other group members' experiences as his business grows and he encounters similar challenges of his own.

Taken at his word, Ted seems to be reflecting out loud on how his business needs to get to a certain point before he would derive value from the group. However, narrative analysis involves "interrogating how talk among speakers is (dialogically) produced and performed as narrative" (Riessman, 2008, p. 105). In addition to considering *what* is said, this involves asking *who* (or to whom speech acts are directed), *when*, and *why* (or for what purpose)? From this perspective, a higher-order story of my exchange with Ted enters into view.

Ted's laughter and his long pause indicate that my questioning has caught him off guard—although this wasn't my intention. Consequently, my questions about the value of the group might've occurred like a threat or challenge to his sense of belonging. After all, Ted's earlier comments indicate that his experience of belonging to this group is very important to him. If he can't offer a rationale for his participation in the group that seems to satisfy me (the interviewer), how can he claim legitimacy as a member of the group? How can he argue that he truly belongs there? How does this then contribute to the meaning produced through our exchange? Ted's own words (described above), in combination with several contextual elements from the interview, seem to support this interpretation.

For example, the audio recording of my questions and Ted's answers during this part of the interview contains several pauses, awkward silences, and instances of nervous laughter. These can be indications that either the participant or the interview (or in this case,

both) are feeling uncomfortable. Our discomfort intensified while I continued to question Ted, and as it slowly became clearer that he wasn't able to point to any examples of significant learning or change. Though it is never said explicitly, all of these data taken together support as an explanation that Ted's sense of belonging or his legitimate belonging to the group is being challenged by our interaction.

Ted's mode of defense is to point to the business case for his participation in the group (the postcard idea, the one client referral, etc.), but this is rather thin. The long pause gives him time to abandon this tack and develop a new rationale—a new story about the value the group will hold for him in the future. At this point, he appears visibly relieved and sounds significantly more confident.

While this small shift in temporal focus seems very subtle, Ted's performance in this part of the interview is very important. Rather than allowing his interaction with me to convince him that the group holds little value, he grounds his rationale for participating in his aspirations for the future. He doubles down on the group, defends it, and defends his membership in the group. He states that as his new business idea takes off, the group will become more valuable to him as a resource for navigating new situations. My positive response to his comments ("That makes total sense") helps legitimize this new formulation, dialogically cementing Ted's claim to belonging.

An overt focus on the business case for Ted's participation in the group obscures the more profound performance taking place beneath the surface. In this performance, Ted negotiates his belonging (to the group) by reconstructing the group's value as a function of the future he desires. His articulation of this future amounts to an assertion of a new claim to entrepreneurial identity. He belongs in the group because of who he will be as an

entrepreneur. The higher-order story of Ted's entire interview is about the experience of belonging, how powerful it can be in a group like this, and how that power can also be invisible to those who experience it.

Co-creating successful entrepreneurship (**Eleanor**). At an earlier point in the interview, Eleanor talked about how she defines the word *entrepreneur*:

Someone who has... a vision to see a need that needs to be addressed... and [who] can figure out a way to make that happen... to fill that niche... to reach out into the marketplace that has that need or that desire and, um, bring all of their creativity into addressing that need or that—or filling that niche.

Where this vignette begins, she is discussing the impact of an idea she adapted from another group member's experience and implemented in her consulting practice. As we continue our conversation, I ask her a question that inadvertently prompts her to construct her entrepreneurial identity in a new way.

Er: Huh. Wow, that's cool. That's very cool to see how that develops. Um, did that—thinking about that experience, uh, did it affect or change the way you saw yourself as an entrepreneur?

El: Um, I think so. I think, um, you know, it was like, well, I could—you know, I really can do this. You know, I—I really can, um, do something other than just, um, coach my own clients, you know, in terms of, um, how they handle employee issues, um, or go in and do some transactional work for them or create their handbook or, um, you know, make responses to the unemployment claims that people are filing. I could do something that was, um, more foundational, um, something that they could use to really look at their business in a different way and, um, maybe head off some issues that, um, that they—if they had—they acknowledged to see that there were some of these issues in their future, there were ways they could handle them and, um, mitigate the—the pain that, you know, some of that can cause in the business.

Er: Mm-hmm. Wow. So—so if you're doing that, if you're kind of proactively, um, putting out this content that helps people, um, mitigate, you know, uh, future problems in their business, what kind of entrepreneur does that make you?

El: Successful? [laughs] I don't know. Well, um, you know, when we talked about my definition of—of entrepreneur, it's finding a problem and coming up with a creative solution to, um, address that problem. Well, then I would think that—that I would then fit my own definition.

In this example, the dialogue between participant and researcher produces a new identity claim for Eleanor—a claim to successful entrepreneurship. When I asked the question, "what kind of entrepreneur does that make you?" I had no idea what to expect. I just wanted to understand how Eleanor viewed herself in the context of the accomplishments she was describing. Her laughter in response to her own vocalization of the word "successful" conveys the newness of this claim and the tentative grasp with which it is held. Yet, she goes on to explain that by her own definition she is undeniably a successful entrepreneur.

In this case, Eleanor already had a definition of successful entrepreneurship in mind before our interview even began. What the interview process contributes to her meaning making is the co-construction of her identity *as* a successful entrepreneur. This connection that Eleanor makes in response to my line of questioning illustrates the influence of the participant-interviewer interaction on the construction of events and their meaning. Our conversation imparts Eleanor with a new sense of who she is as an entrepreneur.

Co-creating conscious learning (Lynn). In the example below, Lynn becomes consciously aware of her learning about holding on and letting go. At this point in our interview she had been talking about how the group helped her start Tagsale.com. She talks about the group's support and empathy throughout the ups and downs of establishing a business. I then ask her if the group's support through those times helped her learn anything from those experiences. I've traced this thread below through three different points in our conversation.

E: Did that help you learn as an entrepreneur? So there's this—there's—in other words, you're talking about how it—it helped boost your confidence to do it, um, to sort of support you when you had, uh, challenging times or—or issues, they shared in

your anger, uh, they shared in your victories. Did you learn from those experiences?

L: I don't know that I necessarily learned from the experience in the group. Um (p) simply because although we're getting together as a group, we have our own goal sheets in front of us. You know, you're editing it as you go, you're—you're filling out your own dreams and your own, uh, game plan and your—you know, what am I gonna do in the next 30 days? How am I gonna look at this situation differently? And it's—and it's all independent.

[Conversation continues...]

L: I mean, going back to the example of me deciding that I'm gonna embrace summertime. I mean, that really was a huge—it was a huge shift for me because I was coming straight out of closing my business... I was—I wasn't feeling, um, at a loss, but I was still carrying the weight of being overwhelmed by two businesses. So I wasn't giving myself the liberty of accepting that, "You know what? You don't have to carry this burden anymore. You can prioritize your children. And then you can streamline your workload to where you can accomplish both because you're not—you're no longer overwhelmed. You've... closed your online business, you are—you are just here for doing this marketing role and growing this family business which sustains you and raising kids. And raising kids can be okay."

[Conversation continues...]

E: So I'm wondering, it sounds like maybe, and I don't wanna, um, make a jump here that doesn't resonate with you, but it sounds like throughout those—those experiences with the group you're learning about how you hold onto things and then how to let them go. Is that...?

L: I think that's a really great way to condense it, yeah.

Like, things that I find very important to be a part of, there's no cut-off for me. It's like I just—I wanna continually be a part of them. And then something else adds on and then something else adds on.

Yeah. Helping you keep your priorities lined out to where you don't lose yourself in the mix or forget about the things that you really wanna do.

A shift in Lynn's awareness occurs in this vignette when I propose that she has been learning about how she holds onto things and how to let them go. Up until this point, she maintains that although the group is very supportive and has helped her through many difficult experiences, learning really isn't the point. She emphasizes that group members

tend to work individually on their own businesses and not each other's. Elsewhere in the interview she concedes that she has learned about how to use the group's connections to find new resources outside of her network, but she doesn't seem to consciously recognize that she is also learning about herself until we talk about it together.

Lynn confirms my understanding with her comments about having "no cut-off" and using the group to help keep her from losing herself in the mix. We then talk about her experience explicitly in terms of learning about these aspects of herself. In essence, we cocreate a moment of conscious learning through our exchange, in which Lynn begins to see the group as helping her learn about holding on and how to let go.

Conclusion of Part 3

As the three examples above illustrate, the meaning of past experiences continues to evolve through the course of the interview itself. The social interaction between participant and researcher influences the construction of past events and their meaning. As participants look back from the present and reflect on their experiences, they reconstruct the meaning of past events in the present context of the interview. In the process, they narrate their experiences and their identities in new ways. Presented in this section were three types of discursive exchanges between participant and researcher: negotiating belonging, co-creating successful entrepreneurship, and co-creating conscious learning.

Conclusion of Chapter 4

This study explored the impact of group coaching as a setting for entrepreneurial learning. The research question was, *Given the impact of social processes on learning and identity, what does it mean to entrepreneurs to navigate their learning-related challenges in*

the context of a coaching group? The study revealed three different types of phenomena that were central to participants' storied descriptions of meaningful group coaching experiences. First, the participants described several conditions or background characteristics that were present in their coaching groups and that contributed to their meaningful experiences. Second, a range of possible process moves were reflected in participants' stories of meaningful or defining experiences in group coaching. Finally, the relational context of the interview itself contributed to participants' meaning making, directly influencing their constructions of past events and their meaning.

Conditions

The background conditions that participants described in connection with their meaningful group coaching experiences fell into three categories: (a) characteristics of the social environment of the group, (b) characteristics of the social processes at work in the group, and (c) characteristics of the coach's presence in the group. Characteristics of the social environment fit into two main categories: descriptions of cohesiveness and descriptions of commonality. Participants' comments related to cohesiveness had to do with their warm and caring relationships with other group members, their fondness for the group itself, and their sense of belonging. Comments related to commonality reflected their feelings that their peers share similar goals and challenges, that they share a common bond with their peers in the group, and that they are not alone.

Three types of social processes emerged from the interviews: social support, exchange, and accountability. Social support encompasses the idea that the group can be a source of personal and/or emotional support and encouragement for members. Exchange refers to a reciprocal interchange of ideas, information, and feedback. Accountability refers

to the processes through which group members hold one another accountable for the actions and/or goals to which they commit. Finally, participants described the role and influence of their coaches in terms of applying cognitive models or frameworks (Naomi), asking the right questions (Susan), and managing accountability (Julie). Table 4 below provides a summary of these background conditions.

Table 4

Background Conditions

| Condition | Description | | |
|---|---|--|--|
| Characteristics of the social environment | | | |
| Cohesiveness | Warm and caring relationships with other group members, fondness for the group itself, sense of belonging. | | |
| Commonality | Feelings that their peers share similar goals and challenges, that they share a 'common bond' with their peers in the group, and that they are not alone. | | |
| Characteristics of the social processes | | | |
| Social support | The group can be a source of personal and/or emotional support and encouragement for members. | | |
| Exchange | A reciprocal interchange of ideas, information, and feedback. | | |
| Accountability | The processes through which group members hold one another accountable for the actions and/or goals to which they commit. | | |
| Characteristics of the coach's presence | | | |
| Applying cognitive models | Using various conceptual frames or lenses to introduce coaching activities and discussions in the group. | | |
| Asking the right questions | Asking questions that keep the discussion going and guide group members toward making their own conclusions. | | |
| Managing accountability | Following up on group members' goals and commitments, directing them toward actionable steps, holding them to account, etc. | | |

Process Moves

The study revealed a range of possible process moves illustrated by participants' stories of their meaningful experiences in group coaching. The moves reflect individual and social processes of learning and change that unfold over time and through specific sequences of events. Two different categories of moves emerged from the data: those that demonstrate learning vicariously and those that demonstrate learning through feedback.

Participants' stories of learning vicariously varied across three dimensions: their ways of engaging with peers' experiences, the content of their learning, and the impact of their learning. Their stories of learning through feedback varied across three dimensions as well: the types of feedback they received from their peers, the content of their learning, and the impact of their learning. However, all three stories of learning through feedback also shared a common theme of deference to peer feedback. These participants granted power and authority to their peers in the group that they denied themselves. They deferred to their peers' feedback even when it conflicted with their previously held assumptions, suggesting that feedback from other members in a coaching group can be a potent lever for learning and change in entrepreneurs. Table 5 below shows a typology of possible process moves and their impact(s).

Table 5

Typology of Process Moves

| Туре | Process Move | Impact(s) |
|---------------------------|--|---|
| Learning vicariously | Learning new theories of effective action by engaging empathetically in another group member's transition. | Capitalizing on a new opportunity. |
| Learning vicariously | Learning about one's entrepreneurial "self" by observing or challenging another group member's idea or decision. | Strengthening claims to entrepreneurial identity. |
| Learning vicariously | Learning new business tactics by observing another group member's idea. | Developing new products. |
| Learning through feedback | Developing new strengths or capacities through receiving feedback that acknowledges latent skills. | Pursuit of a new business opportunity. |
| | | Creation of a reflective process. |
| | | New claims to entrepreneurial identity. |
| Learning through feedback | Achieving new clarity about priorities through receiving feedback that legitimizes personal values. | More time spent with family and less at work. |
| | | New claims to entrepreneurial identity. |
| Learning through feedback | Acquiring new self-awareness through receiving feedback that helps distinguish habitual behaviors. | New ways of approaching work. |
| | | New claims to entrepreneurial identity. |
| | | |

Finally, entrepreneurs do not always learn or change in meaningful ways as a result of their group coaching experiences. Coaching exercises or activities that provide structure and aid in personal reflection may not always benefit group members in the way they are intended to. In addition, participants' expectations about the value they will receive from group coaching may not be aligned with what they actually value most about their group coaching experiences. For some entrepreneurs, similar background conditions (commonality, cohesiveness, social support, exchange) may be present in other types of groups, and finding the right fit with the right group at the right time is paramount.

Relational Context of the Interview

The meaning of past experiences continues to evolve through the course of the interview itself. The social interaction between participant and researcher influences the construction of past events and their meaning. As participants look back from the present and reflect on their experiences, they reconstruct the meaning of past events in the present context of the interview. In the process, they narrate their experiences and their identities in new ways. Presented in this section were three examples of meaningful discursive exchanges between participant and researcher: negotiating belonging, co-creating successful entrepreneurship, and co-creating conscious learning.

CHAPTER FIVE: DISCUSSION

The purpose of this study was to explore the experience of group coaching as a setting for individual learning and change in entrepreneurs. The research question asked what it meant to entrepreneurs to navigate challenges related to EL and identity construction in the context of a coaching group. To answer this question, I conducted in-depth narrative interviews with eight entrepreneurs about their meaningful or "defining" moments in group coaching.

In Chapter 4, I discussed three types of phenomena reflected in their stories. The first were common conditions characteristic of the coaching groups and their activities. These included *cohesiveness*, *commonality*, *social support*, *exchange*, and *accountability*, as well as three characteristics of the coach's role in the group: *applying cognitive frameworks*, *asking the right questions*, and *managing accountability*.

The second type of phenomena were a range of process moves on the part of participants which depicted unfolding learning and change. These fell into the broad categories of moves that demonstrate *learning vicariously* and moves that demonstrate *learning through feedback*. The third type of phenomena were discursive performances illustrating the influence of the research experience itself on participants' constructions of past events and their meaning. I described three examples of meaningful exchanges between participant and researcher that impacted participants' meaning making: *negotiating belonging*, *co-creating successful entrepreneurship*, and *co-creating conscious learning*. In this chapter, I discuss the significance of these findings and explore the study's contributions to the entrepreneurship and coaching literatures. I also explore the implications of this research for future research and practice.

Contributions to Literature

This study makes several contributions to the literature on coaching and EL. First, the results of this study show that group coaching can be a viable context for supporting entrepreneurial learning and change on multiple levels. This extends the knowledge base, answering Wang and Chugh's (2014) call for research that illuminates the various social contexts in which EL occurs. The study successfully applies EL theory to the new social context of group coaching, confirming several conclusions from past research and also addressing notable gaps.

Second, the study contributes to an understanding of where or under what conditions EL unfolds within group coaching. Participants in this study described seven common conditions or characteristics of the group coaching environment in connection with their meaningful experiences in group coaching. When present, these conditions support EL and entrepreneurial identity development. These findings shed light on the social environment and social processes that make group coaching conducive to EL. Many of these conditions are consistent with theory shown in the group psychotherapy literature (Foulkes, 1948, 1986; Yalom & Leszcz, 2005), which is not fully understood in the context of EL. This study begins to address this gap in the EL knowledge base.

Third, the study advances an understanding of *how* or *in what ways* participant entrepreneurs experience learning in this context. The stories participants told revealed a range of process moves illustrating learning and change through vicarious experience and direct feedback. While these results address Wang and Chugh's (2014) call for research that explores the social processes that support EL, the results also advance coaching knowledge

by showing how group coaching can facilitate experiential learning in entrepreneurs, and by further defining the subdiscipline of group coaching in relation to dyadic (one-on-one) coaching.

Finally, this study shows that the research experience itself can be seen as an extension or a continuation of the group coaching experience. Participants' stories are constructed for the interview context in ways that support, develop, or transform the meaning of past events. Their experiences are not necessarily fully processed and articulated in advance. The interview conversation parallels the coaching process by providing what Stelter et al. (2011) called, "space for the unfolding of narratives." I discuss each of these four major contributions in detail below.

Group Coaching Supports EL

Group coaching is an effective context for supporting learning and change in entrepreneurs. This study is the first to explore EL in a group coaching context and answers Wang and Chugh's (2014) call for research that can help illuminate the social processes involved in EL and the social contexts in which it occurs. Participants in this study described a range of learning processes and outcomes in connection with their meaningful or defining experiences in group coaching. Their stories were highly reflective of the experiential, organizational, and social learning perspectives on EL discussed in Chapter 2, and support several conclusions from past research in these areas.

Learning from experience. EL in a group coaching setting unfolds in relation to the lived experiences of group members. This study confirms the work of past scholars who described EL as highly experiential (Cope & Watts, 2000; Deakins & Freel, 1998; Higgins & Aspinall, 2011). The learning pathways reflected in the participants' stories closely

resembled Kolb's (1984) cycle of experiential learning. According to Kolb's theory, individuals engage with their concrete experiences through reflective observation, leading to the creation of new abstract concepts, which guide new actions and shape new experiences.

However, the participants' stories also reflect what may be their different learning styles. A learning style is essentially an individual's preference for engaging in different phases of the learning cycle (A. Y. Kolb & Kolb, 2005). For example, Eleanor's story about adapting Tamara's idea for her own business reflects the abstract conceptualization (AC) and active experimentation (AE) phases of the learning cycle, which are favored by people with a *convergent* learning style. These individuals tend to excel at the practical application of new ideas and focus on technical rather than interpersonal tasks.

Belinda's story about engaging in Lynn's life transition reflects a preference for the concrete experience (CE) and reflective observation (RO) phases of the cycle. Individuals who share these preferences are said to have a *divergent* learning style (A. Y. Kolb & Kolb, 2005), which is associated with emotionality, interest in people, and generating ideas in response to concrete situations. Finally, Pierre's story about "becoming" a skilled writer depicts learning through *assimilation*, which involves reflective observation (RO) and abstract conceptualization (AC). Individuals with an assimilating learning style tend to excel at putting new information into a logical form, and tend to gravitate toward ideas and abstract concepts.

Regardless of where they started the learning cycle, participants in this study repeatedly described navigating critical episodes or critical learning events in the context of their coaching groups, engaging in reflection and sense making, and taking different actions as a result. In addition, their stories revealed that experiential learning in this context can

involved learning from their own critical episodes, others described learning vicariously from events experienced by others in their groups. While learning in this setting is highly experiential, it doesn't necessarily depend on one's own experience. Echoing Zhang and Hamilton's (2009) findings, EL can and does occur vicariously when group members engage deeply in the experiences of others in their group.

Learning on multiple levels. The entrepreneurs in this study told stories illustrating processes of both lower- and higher-level learning from experience, which is consistent with the organizational perspective on experiential learning discussed in Chapter 2 (Argyris & Schön, 1978; Burgoyne & Hodgson, 1983). Participants reported learning new business ideas and tactics (lower-level), as well as new theories of effective action (higher-level) and new ways of understanding or relating to entrepreneurial identity (higher-level). I anticipated that their stories would reflect lower-level (adaptive) learning, as entrepreneurs frequently become adept at such learning (Higgins & Aspinall, 2011). On top of this, past research has shown that peer groups provide exposure to new ideas and information (Brett et al., 2012), and I assumed the coaching orientation of the groups in this study would help ensure a developmental focus.

More surprising, however, were the many instances in which participants engaged in exploratory (higher-level) learning. Such learning involves reflecting critically on one's values and assumptions, and searching for and discovering new solutions (Wang & Chugh, 2014). Burgoyne and Hodgson (1983) wrote that entrepreneurs rarely engage in experiences that lead to higher-level learning. However, they must learn to reflect critically in order for their firms to survive and grow (Higgins & Aspinall, 2011). Many of the entrepreneurs in

this study described situations in which their coaching groups helped them to reflect critically on their thoughts, feelings, experiences, and assumptions. In these cases, the participants learned new ways of viewing their situations and themselves, and took new actions as a result.

These results are important, given Shane and Venkataraman's (2000) call for research that contributes to an understanding of how entrepreneurs develop the skills and resources needed for exploratory learning. This study suggests that group coaching can help entrepreneurs develop these skills and resources by (a) introducing new information and perspectives that stimulate critical reflection, (b) creating a supportive atmosphere that nurtures introspection and insight, and (c) providing encouraging feedback from peers that can legitimize new insight and self-knowledge. These components are analogous to Mezirow's process of transformative learning (Mezirow, 1991).

The study also addresses Wang and Chugh's (2014) related questions about what and how entrepreneurs engage in "unlearning" (the intentional discarding of practices). The participants in this study most notably engaged in unlearning about themselves. In other words, by critically reflecting on their assumptions about their entrepreneurial selves, several of the participants deconstructed their past notions about who they were and what they were capable of, which in turn led to new constructions of entrepreneurial identity. As above, this process is consistent with the notion of transformative learning described by Mezirow (1991). This type of learning is comparatively rare, which suggests that group coaching can be a valuable developmental setting for entrepreneurs.

Learning with and from other entrepreneurs. In a group coaching context, learning is a highly social phenomenon. This study found that entrepreneurs learn with and

from their peers in the coaching group by exchanging ideas, information, and feedback; and by vicariously engaging in each other's experiences. In some cases these social processes led to the acquisition of practical knowledge, while in others they stimulated critical reflection that led to higher-level learning. These findings confirm the outcomes of past research on entrepreneurial peer learning (EPL).

Previous studies of EPL, for example, have found that critical reflection is enhanced by exposure to alternative perspectives (Zhang & Hamilton, 2009) and questioning about individuals' behaviors and assumptions (Florén, 2003). Entrepreneurial peer networks can be a source of specialized knowledge and can foster the exchange of new ideas (Brett et al., 2012; Kuhn & Galloway, 2015). As mentioned above, learning can also be triggered by external events, such as the experiences of peers (Zhang & Hamilton, 2009). This study extends the knowledge base to the social context of group coaching, showing that group coaching can be an effective context for supporting EPL.

It is important to note, however, that in order for this learning to occur, certain conditions must be present in a group. In the section below, I discuss these conditions and their connections to the literature on group psychotherapy.

Conditions Needed to Achieve EL

This study contributes to an understanding of *where* or under what conditions EL unfolds in a group coaching context. It revealed that certain characteristics of the social environment of the group, the social processes at work in the group, and the coach's presence in the group, create an environment that supports EL and entrepreneurial identity development. Many of the conditions identified are consistent with theory shown in the group psychotherapy literature (Foulkes, 1948, 1986; Yalom & Leszcz, 2005) and adapted by

group coaching scholars (Kets de Vries, 2011, 2014; Thornton, 2010). Similar concepts have been explored by researchers of EL (Brett et al., 2012; Cope, 2005; Florén, 2003; Kuhn et al., 2016; Zhang & Hamilton, 2009) and entrepreneurship education (Pittaway, Matlay, & Edwards, 2012; Preedy & Jones, 2017), however group psychotherapeutic theory has not been fully explored in these contexts. This study begins to address that gap.

Cohesiveness and commonality. For example, participants in this study highlighted the roles of *cohesiveness* and *commonality* in shaping their meaningful experiences that led to learning. As stated in Chapter 2, *group cohesiveness* is one of several group psychotherapeutic factors identified by Yalom and Leszcz (2005). It refers to "the attraction that members have for their group and for the other members" (p. 75). Kets de Vries (2014) noted that the state of connectedness and belonging associated with group cohesiveness acts as a major catalyst for change. Fusco et al. (2015), who studied group coaching for senior organizational leaders, referred to group cohesion as "the bedrock upon which all further individual and group work was to take place" (p. 137). The current study suggests that group cohesiveness can be a catalyst for entrepreneurial learning and identity development as well.

Past EL research has shown that social bonding and friendship play a key role in supporting social learning among students of entrepreneurship (Preedy & Jones, 2017); and that long-term, stable peer groups help members overcome their competitive mentalities and form strong relationships that foster information sharing (Zhang & Hamilton, 2009). Furthermore, the close relationships that form through group work promote group social processes that may serve as a foundation for individual learning (Preedy & Jones, 2017). This study confirms these findings and suggests that such relationships bridge the divide between business and personal support. In addition, this study shows that these friendships

and caring relationships can develop and support learning despite some group members' considerable reluctance and/or skepticism (initially) about joining a peer group.

Likewise, the condition of *commonality* described in Chapter 4 closely resembles the psychotherapeutic factor of *universality* (Yalom & Leszcz, 2005) mentioned in Chapter 2. Past research has shown that peer learning networks or groups can help entrepreneurs overcome barriers to learning by reducing their isolation. This happens precisely because entrepreneurs share the same types of challenges and can relate to one another's experiences (Kuhn et al., 2016; Zhang & Hamilton, 2009). The present study supports these findings and suggests that the rich personal connections group members form with one another over time contribute to a sense of commonality or a common bond.

Social support and exchange. The conditions of *social support* and *exchange* discussed in Chapter 4 closely resemble the psychotherapeutic mechanisms of *holding* (Winnicott, 1971) and *exchange* (Foulkes, 1948, 1986) outlined in Chapter 2. As Thornton (2010) explained, these two mechanisms facilitate learning and change in a group coaching setting. Sufficient levels of safety and trust (holding) allow group members to engage openly with difference and the unknown (exchange). EL researchers have acknowledged that EL is a social phenomenon (Cope, 2005) and that entrepreneurs often learn from their peers (Taylor & Thorpe, 2004). Social learning has also been described as an important aspect of entrepreneurship education (Pittaway et al., 2012). However, social interaction with peers can also provide a source of emotional support, nurturing, and/or encouragement (Preedy & Jones, 2017).

Participants in this study explained that the emotional support and encouragement they received from their groups allowed them to view group coaching as a resource for support and helpful information, rather than as an evaluative, critical, or competitive environment. This safe and encouraging atmosphere led to a reciprocal interchange of ideas, information, and feedback (exchange) between group members. This kind of exchange of ideas, perspectives, and information among trusted peers has been discussed previously by Collins et al. (2006), Brett et al. (2012), and Zhang and Hamilton (2009).

Together, these findings support the views of Thornton (2010) and Kets de Vries (2011, 2014) that group psychotherapeutic theory is especially pertinent to the study and practice of group coaching. However, the study adds to their views by showing that these same psychotherapeutic mechanisms also help facilitate experiences that lead to both lower-and higher-level learning in entrepreneurs. This helps illuminate the relationship between group psychotherapeutic theory and EL, and establishes this relationship as a potential focus for future EL research. For example, group psychotherapeutic theory may help explain why entrepreneurs learn in certain types of group environments and not in others (Zhang & Hamilton, 2009). Moving forward, a group psychotherapeutic lens can help researchers identify and further explore the complex social processes that facilitate learning and change in entrepreneurs.

Different coaching approaches, similar group conditions. Finally, similar background conditions were found in connection with participants' meaningful group coaching experiences regardless of which groups they belonged to. As discussed in Chapter 4, the conditions were present despite the coaches' apparent differences in coaching style/approach. This shows that certain properties of groups or "group-ness" have an impact

on learning beyond the effects of the coaching itself. In other words, when the right conditions are present, coaching is enhanced by the presence of a peer group in ways that are simply not available in a dyadic coaching environment. In the following section, I discuss this study's contributions to knowledge about *how* or *in what ways* entrepreneurs experience learning in a group coaching context. I place these findings in relation to the literatures on coaching and EL.

Different Processes of Learning and Change

This study advances an understanding of *how* or *in what ways* entrepreneurs experience learning in a group coaching context. Group members navigate different processes of learning and change, which unfold over time and in relation to specific sequences of events. In this study, two overarching types of process moves characterized learning in this context: learning from feedback and learning vicariously. Both types led to a variety of learning content and outcomes described in detail in Chapter 4. These findings contribute to emergent conversations in the entrepreneurship and coaching literatures. I discuss these contributions below.

Emergent conversations in entrepreneurship. As mentioned in Chapter 2 above, much EL research has focused exclusively on individual cognition, while the social processes and contexts that contribute to an individual's learning are often ignored (Fayolle et al., 2014; Wang & Chugh, 2014). The process moves outlined in Chapter 4 shed light on the social processes that facilitate learning in a group coaching context. In particular, these findings help address Wang and Chugh's (2014) questions about what and how entrepreneurs learn from the successes and failures of other entrepreneurs, and how entrepreneurs acquire and integrate external information through the learning process. In addition, these findings

contribute to the literature's emerging thread on identity formation and identity work in entrepreneurship (Leitch & Harrison, 2016).

Learning from others' successes and failures. Vicarious experience is known to be a rich source of learning and personal growth (Holmes & Kivlighan, 2000; Kets de Vries, 2014; Thornton, 2010). In the context of entrepreneurship, Zhang and Hamilton (2009) found that opportunities to observe or reflect on others' experiences contribute to the value of peer learning groups. They suggested that peer learning may lower the costs associated with experiential learning by allowing peers to learn from the mistakes and failures of others. This study supports these conclusions, and helps identify what and how entrepreneurs learn from others' successes and failures in a group coaching setting.

First, this study shows that engaging vicariously in others' successes and failures can result in both lower- and higher-level learning, as described in Chapter 4. Examples include learning new business tactics, learning new theories of effective action, and learning about one's entrepreneurial "self." In Eleanor's case, another group member's success at implementing a new business tactic led Eleanor to adapt the tactic for use in her own business (lower-level learning). Later on, she describes how this experience leads her to develop multiple new products. Ultimately, this makes her work with clients deeper and more fulfilling, and changes how she sees herself as an entrepreneur (higher-level learning). Her example shows that what entrepreneurs learn vicariously from other group members' experiences may begin as lower-level learning, but may continue to unfold over time in ways that lead to higher-level learning and identity development.

Second, in addition to explaining *what* participants learned by engaging vicariously in other group members' successes and failures, this study highlights *how* they learned from

these experiences. As outlined in Chapter 4, participants engaged with their peers' experiences in three distinct ways: through empathy, through observation, and through challenge. These could be described as representing the concrete experience phase of Kolb's (1984) experiential learning model, except that the experiences originate with events taking place in the lives of other group members.

As participants engaged with their peers' experiences, however, these experiences became shared; they became the participants' experiences as well. This is evidenced by Scott's story about challenging Rebecca after her failure to pursue the entrepreneurial opportunity the group helped her create. His reaction to her experience became an important moment in his own entrepreneurial development. In essence, Rebecca's story became Scott's story, too. In summary, group coaching fosters learning vicariously from the successes and failures of other group members. The content of this learning varies, but can be either lower-or higher-level, and learning that begins as lower-level may lead to higher-level learning over time. In addition, the successes and failures of individual group members can become shared experiences for the group, leading to secondary (vicarious) learning and change in other group members.

Acquiring and integrating external information. As discussed in Chapter 4, Wang and Chugh (2014) drew a distinction between sensing (external) and intuitive (internal) learning, calling on researchers to explore the roles of each and the social processes that support them. One question they posed is how entrepreneurs search for and acquire external information, and how they make sense of this information through the learning process. As illustrated above, vicarious experience is one channel through which group members acquire external information in a group coaching setting. Such information can take the form of new

ideas or business tactics, for example, which can be adapted to fit a new business situation or context. Over time, adaptive learning of this nature can lead to higher-level intuitive learning, as it did for Eleanor when her success at implementing a new business idea eventually changed the way she thought of herself as an entrepreneur.

However, learning through feedback, as represented by this study, intertwines the roles of sensing and intuitive learning. The feedback that participants received could be considered a form of external information taken in through the senses, but it wasn't always information about the external business environment. In some cases, what they heard from their peers were observations about their own internal or personal intuitive worlds.

For example, Rigsby learned from Wendy's observations that she (Rigsby) is addicted to change. As indicated in Chapter 4, participants deferred to these socially constructed observations more or less as facts, assimilating them in ways that led to meaningful learning and change on multiple levels. For Rigsby, the external information led to intuitive learning. This learning changed how she understood herself as an entrepreneur and created a new possibility of approaching work in ways that were more consistent with her entrepreneurial identity.

Rigsby's example shows how the roles of sensing and intuitive learning become more complex in a group coaching environment. What is external to one individual can still be internal to the larger group, particularly when sufficient levels of safety and cohesiveness support a collective spirit of inquiry. In other words, although Rigsby received external information from Wendy, the learning process was still collectively intuitive. Likewise, what the group senses about an individual may stimulate an intuitive process for the individual. Such was the case for Pierre, whose group's observations about his writing triggered a huge

shift in awareness for him that led to the pursuit of a new business opportunity. These examples, though limited by sample size and specific to these particular coaching groups, help illuminate the roles of sensing and intuitive learning, and the social processes that support them in this context.

Entrepreneurial identity construction and maintenance. As discussed in Chapter 2, EL involves more than the acquisition of knowledge. It also involves the construction and maintenance of entrepreneurial identity (Higgins & Aspinall, 2011). The study of entrepreneurial identity is not entirely new. However, most existing research adopts an essentialist orientation, which views identity as a relatively static and objectively definable phenomenon (Leitch & Harrison, 2016). Leitch and Harrison advocated for more research that recognizes entrepreneurial identity as dynamic and fluid, and that explores the processes through which entrepreneurial identities are constructed and negotiated. This processoriented view emphasizes the "temporally and contextually constrained domain of identity creation" (p. 187).

The process moves outlined in Chapter 4 support Leitch and Harrison's (2016) view and begin to address this gap in the literature. First, these findings tell retrospective and descriptive stories of entrepreneurial identity construction-in-motion. In several cases, participants' learning from their group coaching experiences resulted in the creation of new claims to entrepreneurial identity. For example, Pierre claimed his strength as a writer and used it to pursue a new business opportunity. Eleanor *became* a successful entrepreneur by creating products that made her work fundamentally more satisfying. Rigsby claimed and integrated her addiction to change—an aspect of her personality that had previously been unconscious and in conflict with her entrepreneurship.

Second, it is interesting to note that despite their relevance and applicability to an entrepreneurial context, not all of these constructions reflect a hegemonic "discourse of enterprise" as described by Mallett and Wapshott (2015). Instead, group members drew from a variety of discursive resources to construct and alter their entrepreneurial identities in relation to the specific situations that arose in their groups. This supports Watson's (2009) view that identity work is relational and dialogic, and that entrepreneurs use multiple discursive resources in multiple ways to make sense of what happens in their businesses, and to negotiate their identity claims with others.

Third, this study describes the processes through which entrepreneurs in a group coaching context negotiate and maintain changes in entrepreneurial identity. In essence, group members negotiate changes to their identities through their action and behavior consistent with Sveningsson and Alvesson's notion of identity work (2003). In each of the examples above, the participants enacted their changed identities through subsequent changes to their business activities. Whether pursuing new opportunities, launching new products, or injecting spontaneity into tired routines, group members performed these new aspects of their identities outside of group meetings and within their businesses. Within their groups, the accountability-holding condition of the social environment promotes reporting back after action and helps ensure that group members do actually enact these changes. Scott's story about Rebecca indicates that entrepreneurial identity negotiation fails in the group when group members fail to stay the course of action or fail to enact their changed identities in ways their groups consider legitimate.

To summarize, this study answers Leitch and Harrison's (2016) call for research that explores the processes involved in entrepreneurial identity construction and maintenance.

The process moves detailed in Chapter Four illustrate identity construction-in-motion within a group coaching context. Participants' identity constructions pulled from a variety of discursive resources, rather than from one hegemonic and all-encompassing enterprise discourse. The moves also demonstrate how entrepreneurial identity claims are negotiated in the coaching group through action and social interaction with group members. In the next section, I discuss how the process moves identified in this study contribute to emergent conversations in coaching research.

Emergent conversations in coaching research. The process moves described in Chapter 4 contribute to the coaching literature in three main ways. First, they help illustrate how group coaching facilitates experiential learning and identity construction in entrepreneurs. Research on group coaching is limited (Stelter, 2012; Van Dyke, 2012), and researchers have given much more attention to the study of organizational team coaching than to other types of unaffiliated coaching groups. This study is the first to explore unaffiliated group coaching in an entrepreneurial context, and to demonstrate the viability of group coaching as a platform for supporting EL and entrepreneurial identity construction.

Second, these findings contribute to an ongoing debate in the literature as to whether single-day or short-term interventions such as those studied by Barrett (2006), Kets de Vries (2005, 2011, 2014), and Ward (2008), should actually be considered group coaching.

Although intervention styles such as these promote quick results or "change in a single session" (Ward, 2008, p. 73), others have defined group coaching as something that specifically happens over time. Thornton (2010), for example, stated that a multi-session format is necessary in order to reinforce and build on previous learning through continued reflection. Brown and Grant (2010) also stressed the iterative nature of "idea development"

and refinement" through multiple sessions (p. 41), and Stelter et al. (2011) noted that engaging in multiple sessions over time helped participants develop durable social networks with their peers in the group.

This study builds on the latter, long-term perspective. It supports the idea that multiple sessions over time allow for certain experiential and social learning processes to unfold that cannot possibly unfold in a single session. This is not to say that change can't happen in a single session. Indeed, several of the participants in this study experienced sudden changes in perspective within specific coaching sessions. Many of these were the coaching moments they remembered most vividly and recounted through their stories.

However, these moments were often the culmination of experiential processes that began much earlier, such as Lynn's founding and eventual closing down of her business, or Rigsby's period of intense burnout. These experiences happened over time and involved recursive sequences of action, reflection, and meaning making supported by the coaching group. They were aided by warm and caring relationships with other group members, which were also developed over time and through shared experience.

In essence, this study supports an understanding of group coaching as an experiential and recursively organized phenomenon that allows for (a) the unfolding of experience over time and (b) the revisiting of experience and its meaning by group members. In this setting, learning and meaning making also unfold and evolve over time (as illustrated in Chapter 4), in some cases even transcending the boundaries of the coaching relationship, as noted by Eleanor and Pierre. This supports Spence's (2017, October) view that the "sleeper effects" (or cumulative learning effects) of coaching may continue after the coaching relationship has ended. The study helps establish a foundation for continued research in this area.

Third, the process moves described in Chapter 4 help to further distinguish the subdiscipline of group coaching relative to dyadic (one-on-one) coaching. Knowledge of group coaching continues to lag despite recent growth in the number of theoretical works and empirical studies on dyadic (one-on-one) coaching (Grant, 2009, May; Passmore & Fillery-Travis, 2011). At issue are the distinctions that make group coaching uniquely itself. In other words, what distinguishes group coaching from dyadic coaching, other than the fact that it happens in a group?

In answer to this question, this study shows that a number of social processes support or enhance coaching in this context. Most importantly, participants' meaningful experiences in group coaching almost exclusively involved learning from peer feedback or learning vicariously by engaging in peers' experiences. In other words, these defining moments stemmed from group members' interactions with each other, as opposed to their interactions with their coaches alone. This again underlines the appropriateness of using group psychotherapeutic theory (Holmes & Kivlighan, 2000; Yalom & Leszcz, 2005) as a lens for the study of group coaching, and builds on the work of Kets de Vries (2014) and Thornton (2010) in this vein. In short, group coaching provides wider opportunities for reflection and exchange, and allows for more direct and less threatening feedback between individuals who are relatively equal in power (Thornton, 2010).

To summarize, the process moves outlined in this study make three main contributions to the coaching literature. First, they address a gap in the coaching literature by helping to illustrate how group coaching facilitates experiential learning and identity construction in entrepreneurs. Second, they support a long-term view of group coaching (Stelter et al., 2011; Thornton, 2010) in which experiential and social learning processes

unfold over time and across multiple coaching sessions. Third, they help to further define the subdiscipline of group coaching in relation to dyadic (one-on-one) coaching by highlighting important mechanisms of learning and change that are specific to groups (Kets de Vries, 2014; Thornton, 2010). In the next section, I discuss findings related to the recursive nature of the interview experience itself.

The Research Process as a Continuation of the Coaching Experience

Finally, this study suggests that the research experience itself can be seen as part of the coaching experience—a continuation or culmination of the meaning-making processes that begin in group coaching. As shown in Chapter 4, the meaning of group members' past experiences continued to evolve through the course of their interviews. Participants reflected on their experiences and reconstructed the meaning of past events for the present context. These constructions were inevitably influenced by the interaction between narrator and researcher, as all narratives are fundamentally co-constructed between narrator and audience (Salmon & Riessman, 2008). In this sense, the interview conversations paralleled the coaching process by providing what Stelter et al. (2011) called, "space for the unfolding of narratives."

Instead of being fully formed already, the meaning of past group coaching experiences *found* new form through the dialogic and performative processes inherent in narrative interviewing (Riessman, 2008). In other words, most participants' meaningful experiences weren't sitting ready and well-defined, their meaning fully processed and articulated. In most cases, some additional conversation needed to occur in order for these experiences to take shape in ways that sustained their developmental power.

Importantly, these conversations can be viewed as part of the participants' group

coaching experiences—and as an extension or continuation of the meaning-making processes that began with the unfolding of actual events. These things really happened, but part of their developmental potency lies in their narration or re-narration in a new context. As Polkinghorne (1988) and others have argued, narratives lend meaning to human experience. This study shows that narrative about (and learning from) group coaching experiences continues to evolve over time and through subsequent dialogic inquiry.

These conclusions are consistent with Stelter's (2012, 2014) model of *third-generation coaching*, which emphasizes a collaborative partnership between coach and client, the purpose of which is to promote reflection, generate meaning, and invent new narratives that impact on identity and self-concept. However, this study extends the context of third-generation coaching by including the research interview itself as a continuation of the coaching process. This notion of *the coaching interview* (mentioned above in Chapter 3) presents rich opportunities for future research. Narrative interviewing could itself be considered its own type of coaching interaction, either in concert with or independent of group coaching, with important implications for practice.

This idea is not entirely new. White and Epston (1990) pioneered the application of narrative principles in family therapy. More recently, Drake (2007, 2014), Stelter (2009), and Vogel (2012) have each explored narrative approaches to coaching practice. However, there is some debate as to whether the goal of narrative practice should be to help clients externalize and re-author their "problem" narratives or to simply raise their awareness of how and what stories shape their perception of reality (Vogel, 2012). The coaching interview, as it is conceptualized above, leans toward the latter position, while also allowing for what Drake (2007) described as the client's development of a more evolved narrative repertoire.

The conceptual basis for these explorations into the influence of the research experience itself lies in an expanding notion of the role of reflexivity in research. In most interpretive research, reflexivity is dealt with by acknowledging the researcher's biases and assumptions that may affect the research project and its conclusions. However, as stated in Chapter 3, issues of reflexivity in this study go beyond the usual treatment. Here, they also include cultivating awareness of and attention to the reciprocal social interaction between researcher and participant, as well as the influence of that interaction on the investigative process and its results (Steier, 1991).

Viewed through this lens, there is a reflexive quality inherent in the relationship between the content of an interview about group coaching and what may be viewed as the parallel process of the interview itself. Steier (1995) referred to this phenomenon as "mutual mirroring," which is the idea that the researcher's communication processes and/or relationships may come to mirror and be mirrored by those that he or she is engaged in studying. The interviews in this study, for example, *may* have helped open reflective spaces for participants' experiences precisely because, from the participants' point of view, the interview process invoked or echoed the coaching relationship. Therefore, reflexivity can also be about acknowledging or even fostering these parallel processes that may emerge between content and process. By positioning these phenomena within the domain of inquiry, this study contributes to an evolving understanding of the nature of reflexivity in research.

In summary, this study makes several contributions to the literature on coaching and EL. First, the results of this study show that group coaching is a viable context for supporting entrepreneurial learning and change on multiple levels. Second, the study contributes to an understanding of *where* or *under what conditions* EL unfolds. Third, the

study advances an understanding of *how* or *in what ways* entrepreneurs experience learning in this context. And finally, this study shows that the research experience itself can be seen as an extension or a continuation of the group coaching experience. In the next sections below, I discuss the study's limitations, recommendations for future research, and implications for practice.

Limitations

Even with careful planning, all research studies have their limitations. Some limitations are inherent to particular methods or modes of inquiry, while others may be specific to the present research context. One limitation of this study is its small sample size. Although the purpose of narrative research is to explore the particularities of a given context, rather than to generalize to a broader population (Creswell, 2009; Josselson & Lieblich, 2003), the sample in this study was limited by access. Group coaching for entrepreneurs is still a new phenomenon. Finding willing participants who met the study criteria was extremely challenging. A larger sample might have strengthened the study by allowing for a greater diversity of experiences and more robustly supported themes.

Another limitation involved the small number of groups studied and the distribution of group members across these groups. Again, due to challenges with access, this study included only four distinct coaching groups run by three different coaches. Given the wide variation in group coaching practices from one program to the next, choosing group members from across a wider range of groups might have made their similarities and differences more apparent. Additionally, six of the eight participants in this study were coached by the same coach even though they belonged to two different groups. A more even distribution of

individuals to groups to coaches could have been achieved by interviewing one individual from each of eight different groups run by eight different coaches, or two individuals from each of four run by four, and so on.

This study took a single interview, narrative-retrospective approach to exploring entrepreneurs' experiences in group coaching. While this design produced rich and detailed stories of lived experience, it did not allow me to observe participants' changing experiences, perspectives, or attitudes as they evolved over time. A longitudinal component would strengthen the study, were it to be repeated. Multiple interviews at different stages of the group coaching journey, for example, might reveal different factors or patterns of learning and change, as well as any variability that might shape these factors and patterns over time.

Finally, as discussed in Chapter 3, interpretive research is subject to implicit bias (Creswell, 2009). This study is no exception. My own experiences as a coach, and specifically as a coach who regularly coaches groups of entrepreneurs, enters into both the study design and my interpretations of the data. My biases about the effectiveness of group coaching as an intervention for entrepreneurs, about what constitutes effective coaching and consultation, and so on, played a role in guiding my curiosity in the interview setting and in data analysis. In line with these personal beliefs and assumptions, I intentionally took an appreciative view of group coaching by exploring the social processes that *support* EL and entrepreneurial identity, versus the social processes that disrupt or obstruct learning. This does not detract from the importance of this study's findings. However, it does make evident the need for future research that could add to this study by exploring these other social processes.

Recommendations for Future Research

As this study is the first to explore the intersection of group coaching and entrepreneurial learning, it establishes a groundwork for additional research in both of these areas. In the following paragraphs, I suggest several avenues for future entrepreneurship and coaching research based on the conclusions outlined above.

Entrepreneurship Research

First, repetition of this study is necessary in order to confirm these findings. In particular, studies that involve larger sample sizes and a diversity of group coaching settings may help strengthen the claims made in this study. In addition, the dual methods of analysis (thematic and narrative) employed above are especially suited to studying these phenomena and could provide a useful framework for future researchers.

Second, this study helps to establish group psychotherapeutic theory as an appropriate lens for exploring EL in group settings. Moving forward, a group psychotherapeutic lens can help researchers identify and further explore the complex social processes that facilitate learning and change in entrepreneurs. In addition, given that the presence of the specific conditions described above only sets the stage for EL and doesn't guarantee it, what other factors are involved in supporting learning?

Third, the roles of sensing (external) and intuitive (internal) learning were explored in this study, but the findings suggest that the social processes involved in *learning through feedback* intertwine them and distort their boundaries in complex ways. For example, what is external to one individual can still be internal to the larger group, and what the group collectively senses may stimulate an intuitive process for one or more individuals. Simply put, internal and external, as descriptors of learning types, acquire additional nuance and

complexity in groups. Further research is needed to better understand the interaction *between* these learning types in group settings where peer feedback is viewed as a mechanism of learning and change.

Another opportunity for entrepreneurship research lies in further exploration of the process of entrepreneurial identity negotiation in group settings such as group coaching. In this study, group members negotiated changes to their identities through their action and behavior both in and out of the group. The accountability structure of the coaching group seemed to support this process, while failure to enact new identity claims appeared to compromise their legitimacy in the eyes of other group members. Further research is needed to better understand these dynamics. How do individual entrepreneurs negotiate their evolving identities in the context of a dedicated peer learning (or coaching) group, and what social mechanisms support or inhibit this process? How and to what extent does the social mechanism of accountability support or inhibit the negotiation of entrepreneurial identity?

Coaching Research

Coaching researchers have only recently begun to explore the possibilities of group coaching, so the opportunities for future research in this area are vast. More research is needed, for example, in order to find out (a) how coaches are already using work with groups to enhance their practices, (b) how members of these groups experience their participation and its impact, and (c) what mechanisms of learning and change (including and/or beyond those explored in this study) help shape group members' experiences.

In particular, future research should aim to cultivate a more complete understanding of coaching in unaffiliated group settings, given the potential of this modality for fostering learning and change. For example, what populations, situations, or specific problem

constellations stand to benefit most from this type of intervention? In what ways do they benefit (or not)? Also, what approaches, techniques, and/or theoretical perspectives are most relevant and important to practice in this setting? How, if at all, do these differ from coaching in organizations, work teams, or dyadic settings?

As discussed above, this study supports an understanding of group coaching as an experiential and recursively organized phenomenon which allows for (a) the unfolding of experience over time and (b) the revisiting of experience and its meaning by group members. Given that this is so, an opportunity exists for researchers who would study the unfolding and/or evolving effects of group coaching over time. In other words, if learning might not be "fully hatched" in the group, how can coaches support this process and encourage further hatching? Is learning from group coaching ever fully hatched? Or, does it constantly evolve through its own ongoing narration in various relationships and settings?

In addition, if learning in group coaching is viewed recursively, then presumably it benefits from additional "stirring." In other words, learning in this context appears to unfold through somewhat recursive arcs that are sustained by ongoing dialogic inquiry. If this is true, how can group coaches intentionally support these learning processes in an ongoing way? What form can and do these recursive arcs take both in and out of the group setting? What other dialogic contexts can support the evolving narratives of group members?

Implications for Practice

Having reviewed contributions to theory and recommendations for future research, I now turn toward implications for practice. This study offers several practical insights for coaches, and some for entrepreneurs as well.

Coaching

First, a psychological perspective was highly useful for interpreting and understanding participants' group coaching experiences. This suggests that coaches who wish to practice in the group domain would do well to familiarize themselves with the literatures on group counseling and group psychotherapy. Group counseling also deals with the group as a context for learning and problem-solving. Unlike most group psychotherapy, counseling groups tend to focus on conscious problems and short-term issues rather than severe psychological problems (Corey, Corey, & Corey, 2010). However, as discussed above, the group psychotherapy knowledge base also includes a rich and illuminating array of resources for learning to work in unaffiliated group settings. These include Yalom and Leszcz' (2005) ideas on group psychotherapeutic factors, and Winnicott's (1971) notion of the holding environment. Coaching educators and others involved in coach training and education should also consider incorporating these resources into their curriculum designs where group coaching is concerned.

Second, my sense about the purpose and potential of group coaching aligns with Stelter's (2012, 2014) view. The role of the group coach includes collaborating with group members to promote critical reflection, meaning generation, and the invention of new narratives that impact on identity and self-concept. Part of this process involves helping group members reflect on and make sense of their learning over time. Some might argue that not everyone needs help to fully process their learning. However, this study suggests that at

least some people do, and that group members' learning may continue to unfold or evolve over time and through further dialogic inquiry.

In fact, a related implication for coaches is that a long-term view of the group coaching process seems appropriate for supporting this unfolding of learning over time. Practitioners may wish to design their group coaching programs in ways that allow for revisiting and supporting learning and its evolution. At the very least, group coaching should encompass multiple learning cycles such as those D. A. Kolb (1984) describes, including the phases of action in the world, concrete experience resulting from action, reflection on experience, and conceptualization that leads to further action. Shorter-term interventions may not allow for the same richness of learning and identity development that longer ones do. In addition, this study suggests that coaches should strive to revisit the meaning of past experiences through recursive exchanges that engage group members' collective resources for meaning making. In other words, they should revisit learning in the group in ways that lead to new collective understandings of an individual's experience and identity.

Others might argue that what appears to be an unfolding of learning over time may actually be a kind of performance aimed at negotiating one's identity with a new audience. However, these perspectives are not mutually exclusive. As this study shows, when individuals narrate their identities for new audiences, their understanding of the meaning of past events can change and/or evolve, resulting in new forms of conceptualization. In this way, the processes of identity negotiation and learning are intimately connected. The important point for coaches is that group coaching holds the potential to foster these interrelated processes.

A final implication for coaches concerns the influence of the research experience itself on participants' constructions of past events and their meaning. As discussed above, the research experience could be viewed as part of the coaching experience—a continuation or culmination of the meaning-making processes that begin in group coaching. This is in part due to the ability of narrative interviewing to help group members process their learning from their meaningful experiences in the group. This supports the notion of "the coaching interview" discussed in Chapter 3 and suggests that this type of interview could potentially constitute its own type of coaching interaction.

In other words, coaches may wish to consider incorporating narrative interviewing techniques into their group coaching programs—perhaps as an adjunct or complementary service. Doing so could help support the experiential, social, and recursive learning processes stimulated by clients' meaningful experiences in the group. The interview format can help clients explore and further conceptualize the meaning of these experiences, contributing to further learning and identity development.

Entrepreneurship

Two further practical implications concern entrepreneurs. First, this study demonstrates that group coaching can be a valuable resource for learning and development in entrepreneurs. In short, group coaching works and holds great potential. Those engaged in entrepreneurial paths may wish to consider participating in a group coaching program in order to more effectively respond to the distinct challenges of entrepreneurship.

By helping group members learn (and learn to learn) from their experience, overcome isolation, and develop their entrepreneurial identities, group coaching can contribute greatly to their entrepreneurial trajectories. Those who do choose to explore group coaching need to

take into consideration the variability of group coaching approaches. This study suggests that longer-term programs with a focus on facilitating higher-level learning may be of greater value to entrepreneurs than other types of programs.

Second, this study reveals something about the nature of group coaching that for some may be counterintuitive. Namely, the most profound effects of participating in this type of group have less to do with obtaining specific advice or "nuggets" from the coach, and more to do with the social processes involved in simply talking through various challenges in a safe and supportive peer group. In other words, the informational content of a group coaching program doesn't always deliver the most meaningful results. Instead, it's the social interaction between group members, the special bond of shared experience, and the spirit of collective inquiry that can make group coaching such a meaningful platform for learning and development. This may run counter to some individuals' expectations about the kinds of programs that would benefit them. However, group coaching appears capable of contributing in ways that run contrary to implicit knowledge or expectation.

Conclusion

The purpose of this narrative inquiry was to examine the impact of group coaching as a setting for individual learning and change in entrepreneurs. The study explored eight individual entrepreneurs' experiences bringing issues and challenges that they might otherwise engage with in isolation into a group coaching setting—a phenomenon I have defined as "coming in from the cold." It is the first study to investigate the intersection of group coaching and entrepreneurship, and as such, it advances scholars' understanding of the

social processes that shape entrepreneurial learning and identity construction in a group coaching context.

The study showed that group coaching is a viable platform for supporting entrepreneurial learning and change on multiple levels. In addition, it contributed to an understanding of *where* or *under what conditions* EL unfolds, and *how* or *in what ways* entrepreneurs experience learning in this context. Finally, the study demonstrated that the research experience itself can be seen as an extension or a continuation of the group coaching experience.

Rich, detailed stories of lived experience undergird these findings, stories that at once reveal the moving fabric of entrepreneurial lives and the social and historical contexts in which these lives are embedded. At their heart, these stories are tales of coming in from the cold. However, they are also stories about acquiring the resources to navigate successfully once back out *in* the cold. Fortified by shared experience and a sense of belonging, broadened by an exchange of knowledge and ideas, and elevated through ongoing learning about self and business, the protagonists in these stories find new expression in their entrepreneurship and in the world.

REFERENCES

- Alstete, J. W. (2008). Aspects of entrepreneurial success. *Journal of Small Business and Enterprise Development*, 15(3), 584-594. doi: 10.1108/14626000810892364
- Argyris, C., & Schön, D. A. (1978). *Organisational learning: A theory of action perspective*. Reading, MA: Addison-Wesley.
- Bailey, D. M., & Jackson, J. M. (2003). Qualitative data analysis: Challenges and dilemmas related to theory and method. *The American Journal of Occupational Therapy*, *57*(1), 57-65.
- Barrett, P. T. (2006). The effects of group coaching on executive health and team

 effectiveness: A quasi-experimental field study (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from

 ProQuest Dissertations and Theses database. (UMI No. 3227469)
- Bateson, G. (1972). The logical categories of learning and communication. In *Steps to an ecology of mind: Collected essays in anthropology, psychiatry, evolution and epistemology* (pp. 279-308). Chicago, IL: University of Chicago Press.
- Baum, J. R., & Locke, E. A. (2004). The relationship of entrepreneurial traits, skill, and motivation to subsequent venture growth. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 89(4), 587-598.
- Beech, N. (2008). On the nature of dialogic identity work. *Organization*, 15(1), 51-74. doi: 10.1177/1350508407084485
- Bell, S. E. (1999). Narratives and lives: Women's health politics and the diagnosis of cancer for DES daughters. *Narrative Inquiry*, *9*(2), 347-389.
- Berger, P. L., & Luckmann, T. (1966). The social construction of reality: A treatise in the sociology of knowledge. Garden City, NY: Doubleday.

- Bion, W. R. (1961). Experiences in groups and other papers. London, UK: Tavistock.
- Boyd, D. P., & Gumpert, D. E. (1983). Coping with entrepreneurial stress. *Harvard Business Review*, 61, 44-64.
- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2006). Using thematic analysis in psychology. *Qualitative Research* in *Psychology*, 3(2), 77-101.
- Brett, V., Mullally, M., O'Gorman, B., & Fuller-Love, N. (2012). The role of action research in the development of learning networks for entrepreneurs. *Action Learning:**Research and Practice, 9(2), 125-143. doi: 10.1080/14767333.2012.685699
- Britton, J. J. (2010). Effective group coaching: Tried and tested tools and resources for optimum coaching results. Mississauga, Ontario: John Wiley & Sons Canada.
- Britton, J. J. (2013). From one to many: Best practices for team and group coaching.

 Somerset, NJ: John Wiley & Sons.
- Brown, S. W., & Grant, A. M. (2010). From GROW to GROUP: Theoretical issues and a practical model for group coaching in organisations. *Coaching: An International Journal of Theory, Research and Practice*, 3(1), 30-45.
- Bruner, J. (1986). Actual minds, possible worlds. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- Bruner, J. (1990). Acts of meaning. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- Bruner, J. (1997). A narrative model of self-construction. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, 818(1), 145-161.
- Buenstorf, G. (2007). Creation and pursuit of entrepreneurial opportunities: An evolutionary economics perspective. *Small Business Economics*, 28(1), 323-337.

- Burgoyne, J. G., & Hodgson, V. E. (1983). Natural learning and managerial action: A phenomenological study in the field setting. *Journal of Management Studies*, 20(3), 387-399.
- Chase, S. E. (2003). Learning to listen: Narrative principles in a qualitative research methods course. In R. Josselson, A. Lieblich & D. P. McAdams (Eds.), *Up close and personal:*The teaching and learning of narrative research (pp. 79-99). Washington, DC:

 American Psychological Association.
- Churchill, N. C., & Lewis, V. L. (1983). The five stages of small business growth. *Harvard Business Review*, 61(3), 30-50. https://hbr.org/1983/05/the-five-stages-of-small-business-growth
- Clandinin, D. J. (2007). Preface. In D. J. Clandinin (Ed.), *Handbook of narrative inquiry: Mapping a methodology*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Coaching FAQs. (n.d.). *International Coach Federation*. Retrieved November 4, 2017, from <a href="http://www.coachfederation.org/need/landing.cfm?ItemNumber=978&navItemNumbe
- Cocker, F., Martin, A., Scott, J., Venn, A., & Sanderson, K. (2012). Psychological distress and related work attendance among small-to-medium enterprise owner/managers:

 Literature review and research agenda. *International Journal of Mental Health Promotion*, 14(4), 219-236. doi: 10.1080/14623730.2013.771036
- Cockerham, G. (2011). *Group coaching: A comprehensive blueprint*. Bloomington, IN: iUniverse.
- Collins, L. A., Smith, A. J., & Hannon, P. D. (2006). Applying a synergistic learning approach in entrepreneurship education. *Management Learning*, *37*(3), 335-353.

- Cope, J. (2003). Entrepreneurial learning and critical reflection: Discontinuous events as triggers for 'higher-level' learning. *Management Learning*, *34*(4), 429-449.
- Cope, J. (2005). Toward a dynamic learning perspective of entrepreneurship.

 Entrepreneurship: Theory & Practice, 29(4), 373-397.
- Cope, J., & Watts, G. (2000). Learning by doing An exploration of experience, critical incidents and reflection in entrepreneurial learning. *International Journal of Entrepreneurial Behavior & Research*, 6(3), 104-124. doi: 10.1108/13552550010346208
- Corey, M. S., Corey, G., & Corey, C. (2010). *Groups: Process and practice* (8th ed.). Belmont, CA: Brooks/Cole.
- Creswell, J. W. (2009). Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches. Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications.
- Curtin, M., & Fossey, E. (2007). Appraising the trustworthiness of qualitative studies:

 Guidelines for occupational therapists. *Australian Occupational Therapy Journal*,

 54(2), 88-94. doi: 10.1111/j.1440-1630.2007.00661.x
- Danino, M., & Shechtman, Z. (2012). Superiority of group counseling to individual coaching for parents of children with learning disabilities. *Psychotherapy Research*, 22(5), 592-603.
- Dannreuther, C., & Perren, L. (2013). Uncertain states: The political construction of the small firm, the individualisation of risk and the financial crisis. *Capital & Class*, 37(1), 37-64. doi: 10.1177/0309816812473955
- Deakins, D., & Freel, M. (1998). Entrepreneurial learning and the growth process in SMEs.

 The Learning Organization, 5(3), 144-155. doi: 10.1108/09696479810223428

- Deakins, D., & Freel, M. (2012). *Entrepreneurship and small firms* (6th ed.). Maidenhead, UK: McGraw-Hill.
- Denzin, N. K., & Lincoln, Y. S. (Eds.). (2011). *The SAGE handbook of qualitative research*.

 Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications.
- Down, S., & Warren, L. (2008). Constructing narratives of enterprise: Clichés and entrepreneurial self-identity. *International Journal of Entrepreneurial Behavior & Research*, *14*(1), 4-23. doi: 10.1108/13552550810852802
- Downing, S. (2005). The social construction of entrepreneurship: Narrative and dramatic processes in the coproduction of organizations and identities. *Entrepreneurship:*Theory & Practice, 29(2), 185-204.
- Drake, D. B. (2007). The art of thinking narratively: Implications for coaching psychology and practice. *Australian Psychologist*, 42(4), 283-294. doi: 10.1080/00050060701648159
- Drake, D. B. (2014). Narrative coaching. In E. Cox, T. Bachkirova & D. Clutterbuck (Eds.), *The complete handbook of coaching* (2nd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage

 Publications.
- Fayolle, A., Pittaway, L., Politis, D., & Toutain, O. (2014). Entrepreneurial learning:

 Diversity of education practices and complexity of learning processes.

 Entrepreneurship & Regional Development, 26(3-4), 398-400. doi:

 10.1080/08985626.2014.911426
- Fenwick, T. J. (2002). Transgressive desires: New enterprising selves in the new capitalism. Work, Employment & Society, 16(4), 703-723.

- Florén, H. (2003). Collaborative approaches to management learning in small firms. *Journal* of Workplace Learning, 15(5), 203-216.
- Florent-Treacy, E. (2009). Behind the scenes in the identity laboratory: Participants' narratives of identity transition through group coaching in a leadership development programme. *International Coaching Psychology Review*, 4(1), 71-85.
- Foulkes, S. H. (1948). Introduction to group analytic psychotherapy. In S. L. Garfield & A. E. Bergin (Eds.), *Handbook of psychotherapy and behaviour change* (3rd ed.). New York, NY: Wiley.
- Foulkes, S. H. (1986). *Group analytic psychotherapy: Method and principles*. London, UK: Karnac Books.
- Foulkes, S. H. (1990). *Selected papers: Psychoanalysis and group analysis* (E. Foulkes, Ed.). London, UK: Karnac Books.
- Fournies, F. F. (1987). *Coaching for improved work performance*. Blue Ridge Summit, PA: Liberty House.
- Fusco, T., O'Riordan, S., & Palmer, S. (2015). Authentic leaders are... conscious, competent, confident, and congruent: A grounded theory of group coaching authentic leadership development. *International Coaching Psychology Review*, 10(2), 131-148.
- Gartner, W. B. (1988). "Who is an entrepreneur?" Is the wrong question. *American Journal of Small Business*, 12(4), 11-32.
- Gibb, A. A. (1997). Small firms' training and competitiveness: Building upon the small business as a learning organisation. *International Small Business Journal*, 15(13), 13-29.
- Goffman, E. (1959). The presentation of self in everyday life. New York, NY: Anchor Books.

- Goffman, E. (1982). *Interaction ritual Essays on face-to-face behavior*. New York, NY: Pantheon.
- Grant, A. M. (2006). An integrative goal-focused approach to executive coaching. In D. R. Stober & A. M. Grant (Eds.), *Evidence based coaching handbook: Putting best practices to work for your clients*. Hoboken, NJ: John Wiley & Sons.
- Grant, A. M. (2009, May). Workplace, executive and life coaching: An annotated bibliography from the behavioural science and business literature. Coaching Psychology Unit, University of Sydney, Australia.
- Green, L. S., Oades, L. G., & Grant, A. M. (2006). Cognitive-behavioral, solution-focused life coaching: Enhancing goal striving, well-being, and hope. *The Journal of Positive Psychology*, *1*(3), 142-149.
- Gumpert, D. E., & Boyd, D. P. (1984). The loneliness of the small-business owner. *Harvard Business Review*, 62, 18-24.
- Hackman, J. R., & Wageman, R. (2005). A theory of team coaching. *Academy of Management Review*, 30(2), 269-287.
- Hamilton, E. (2006). Narratives of enterprise as epic tragedy. *Management Decision*, 44(4), 536-550.
- Hamilton, E. (2014). Entrepreneurial narrative identity and gender: A double epistemological shift. *Journal of Small Business Management*, 52(4), 703-712. doi: 10.1111/jsbm.12127
- Harrison, R. T., & Leitch, C. M. (2005). Entrepreneurial learning: Researching the interface between learning and the entrepreneurial context. *Entrepreneurship Theory and Practice*, 29(4), 351-371.

- Hatch, M. J., & Cunliffe, A. L. (2013). Organization theory: Modern, symbolic and postmodern perspectives. Oxford, UK: OUP.
- Hauser, L. L. (2012). Shape-shifting: A conceptual framework for coaching work teams.(Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from ProQuest Dissertations and Theses database.(UMI No. 3543873)
- Higgins, D., & Aspinall, C. (2011). Learning to learn: A case for developing small firm owner/managers. *Journal of Small Business and Enterprise Development*, 18(1), 43-57. doi: 10.1108/14626001111106424
- Higgins, D., Mirza, M., & Drozynska, A. (2013). Power, politics & learning: A social enactment of the SME owner/manager. *Journal of Small Business and Enterprise Development*, 20(3), 470-483. doi: 10.1108/jsbed-04-2013-0050
- Holmes, S. E., & Kivlighan, D. M. (2000). Comparison of therapeutic factors in group and individual treatment processes. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, 47(4), 478-484. doi: 10.1037/W022-OI67.47.4.478
- Isaacs, W. (1999). Dialogue: The art of thinking together. New York, NY: Crown Business.
- Jamal, M. (1997). Job stress, satisfaction, and mental health: An empirical examination of self-employed and non-self-employed Canadians. *Journal of Small Business Management*, 35(4), 48-57.
- Jamal, M. (2009). Self-employment and quality of work and nonwork life: A study in cross-cultural management. *Journal of Small Business and Entrepreneurship*, 22(4), 455-466.

- Jarvis, P. (2009). Learning to be a person in society. In K. Illeris (Ed.), *Contemporary theories of learning: Learning theorists... in their own words*. New York, NY: Routledge.
- Jarvis, P. (2012). Adult learning in the social context. New York, NY: Routledge.
- Jones, C., & Spicer, A. (2005). The sublime object of entrepreneurship. *Organization*, 12(2), 223-246.
- Jorgenson, J. (1995). Re-relationalizing rapport in interpersonal settings. In W. Leeds-Hurwitz (Ed.), *Social approaches to communication*. New York, NY: The Guilford Press.
- Josselson, R. (2006). Narrative research and the challenge of accumulating knowledge.

 Narrative Inquiry, 16(1), 3-10.
- Josselson, R., & Lieblich, A. (2003). A framework for narrative research proposals in psychology. In R. Josselson, A. Lieblich & D. P. McAdams (Eds.), *Up close and personal: The teaching and learning of narrative research* (pp. 259-274).

 Washington, DC: American Psychological Association.
- Jung, C. G. (1971). Psychological types (G. Adler & R. F. C. Hull, Eds., Vol. 6). Princeton,
 NJ: Princeton University Press.
- Kets de Vries, M. F. R. (2005). Leadership group coaching in action: The Zen of creating high performance teams. *Academy of Management Executive*, 19(1), 61-76.
- Kets de Vries, M. F. R. (2011). The hedgehog effect: The secrets of building high performance teams. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Kets de Vries, M. F. R. (2014). The group coaching conundrum. *International Journal of Evidence Based Coaching and Mentoring*, 12(1), 79-91.

- Kilburg, R. R. (1996). Toward a conceptual understanding and definition of executive coaching. *Consulting Psychology Journal: Practice and Research*, 48(2), 134-144.
- Kivlighan, D. M. (2011). Individual and group perceptions of therapeutic factors and session evaluation: An actor–partner interdependence analysis. *Group Dynamics: Theory,**Research, and Practice, 15(2), 147-160.
- Kolb, A. Y., & Kolb, D. A. (2005). Learning styles and learning spaces: Enhancing experiential learning in higher education *Academy of Management Learning & Education*, 4(2), 193-212.
- Kolb, D. A. (1984). Experiential learning: Experience as the source of learning and development. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall.
- Kroll, J. R. (2015). Exploring effective peer group mentoring: A qualitative narrative study of executive-level professional women. (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from ProQuest Dissertations and Theses database. (UMI No. 3686742)
- Kuhn, K. M., & Galloway, T. L. (2015). With a little help from my competitors: Peer networking among artisan entrepreneurs. *Entrepreneurship Theory and Practice*, 39(3), 571-600. doi: 10.1111/etap.12053
- Kuhn, K. M., Galloway, T. L., & Collins-Williams, M. (2016). Near, far, and online: Small business owners' advice-seeking from peers. *Journal of Small Business and Enterprise Development*, 23(1), 189-206. doi: 10.1108/jsbed-03-2015-0037
- Kvale, S. (2007). *Doing interviews*. Los Angeles, CA: Sage.
- Lave, J., & Wenger, E. (1991). Situated learning: Legitimate peripheral participation.

 Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press.

- Leitch, C. M., & Harrison, R. T. (2016). Identity, identity formation and identity work in entrepreneurship: Conceptual developments and empirical applications.

 *Entrepreneurship & Regional Development, 28(3-4), 177-190.
- Lewin, K., & Lewin, G. W. (1948). Resolving social conflicts: Selected papers on group dynamics. New York, NY: Harper.
- Lieblich, A., Tuval-Mashiach, R., & Zilber, T. (1998). *Narrative research: Reading, analysis and interpretation*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Mallett, O., & Wapshott, R. (2015). Making sense of self-employment in late career:

 Understanding the identity work of olderpreneurs. *Work, Employment & Society*,

 29(2), 250-266. doi: 10.1177/0950017014546666
- Maxwell, J. A. (2013). *Qualitative research design: An interactive approach* (3rd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications.
- McKelvie, A., & Wikland, J. (2010). Advancing firm growth research: A focus on growth mode instead of growth rate. *Entrepreneurship Theory and Practice*, 34(2), 261-288.
- Mezirow, J. (1991). *Transformative dimensions of adult learning*. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Mezirow, J. (2003). Transformative learning as discourse. *Journal of Transformative Education*, 1(1), 58-63. doi: 10.1177/1541344603252172
- Miller, W. R., & Rollnick, S. (2002). *Motivational interviewing: Preparing people for change* (2nd ed.). New York, NY: The Guilford Press.
- Mishler, E. G. (1986). *Research interviewing: Context and narrative*. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.

- Neuman, W. L. (2012). *Basics of social research: Qualitative and quantitative approaches* (3rd ed.). Boston, MA: Pearson.
- Nicholson, L., & Anderson, A. (2005). News and nuances of the entrepreneurial myth and metaphor: Linguistic games in entrepreneurial sense-making and sense-giving.

 Entrepreneurship Theory and Practice, 29(2), 153-172.
- O'Connor, S., & Cavanagh, M. (2017). Group and team coaching. In T. Bachkirova, G. Spence & D. Drake (Eds.), *The Sage handbook of coaching*. Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications.
- Passmore, J., & Fillery-Travis, A. (2011). A critical review of executive coaching research:

 A decade of progress and what's to come. *Coaching: An International Journal of Theory, Research and Practice*, 4(2), 70-88.
- Pinnegar, S., & Daynes, J. G. (2007). Locating narrative inquiry historically. In D. J.

 Clandinin (Ed.), *Handbook of narrative inquiry: Mapping a methodology*. Thousand

 Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Pittaway, L., Matlay, H., & Edwards, C. (2012). Assessment: Examining practice in entrepreneurship education. *Education + Training*, *54*(8/9), 778-800. doi: 10.1108/00400911211274882
- Polkinghorne, D. E. (1988). *Narrative knowing and the human sciences*. Albany, NY: State University of New York Press.
- Polkinghorne, D. E. (1995). Narrative configuration in qualitative analysis. *International Journal of Qualitative Studies in Education*, 8(1), 5-23.
- Polkinghorne, D. E. (2007). Validity issues in narrative research. *Qualitative Inquiry*, 13(4), 471-486.

- Polkinghorne, D. E. (2010). The practice of narrative. *Narrative Inquiry*, 20(2), 392-396. doi: 10.1075/ni.20.2.11pol
- Preedy, S., & Jones, P. (2017). Student-led enterprise groups and entrepreneurial learning. *Industry and Higher Education*, 31(2), 101-112. doi: 10.1177/0950422216689349
- Quinn, R. E., & Cameron, K. (1983). Organizational life cycles and shifting criteria of effectiveness: Some preliminary evidence. *Management Science*, 29(1), 33.
- Rae, D. (2000). Understanding entrepreneurial learning: A question of how? *International Journal of Entrepreneurial Behavior & Research*, 6(3), 145-159. doi: 10.1108/13552550010346497
- Rae, D. (2006). Entrepreneurial learning: A conceptual framework for technology-based enterprise. *Technology Analysis and Strategic Management*, 18(1), 39-56.
- Rae, D., & Carswell, M. (2001). Towards a conceptual understanding of entrepreneurial learning. *Journal of Small Business and Enterprise Development*, 8(2), 150-158. doi: 10.1108/eum0000000006816
- Riessman, C. K. (2003). Narrative analysis. In M. S. Lewis-Beck, A. Bryman & T. Futing Liao (Eds.), *The Sage encyclopedia of social science research methods* (Vol. 1-3). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Riessman, C. K. (2008). *Narrative methods for the human sciences*. Los Angeles, CA: Sage Publications.
- Riessman, C. K., & Quinney, L. (2005). Narrative in social work: A critical review.

 *Qualitative Social Work, 4(4), 391-412.
- Rousseau, V., Aubé, C., & Tremblay, S. (2013). Team coaching and innovation in work teams: An examination of the motivational and behavioral intervening mechanisms.

- Leadership & Organization Development Journal, 34(4), 344-364. doi: 10.1108/lodj-08-2011-0073
- Salmon, P., & Riessman, C. K. (2008). Looking back on narrative research: An exchange. InM. Andrews, C. Squire & M. Tamboukou (Eds.), *Doing narrative research*.Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications.
- Scamardo, M., & Harnden, S. C. (2007). A manager coaching group model. *Journal of Workplace Behavioral Health*, 22(2-3), 127-143.
- Scharmer, C. O. (2009). *Theory U: Leading from the future as it emerges*. San Francisco, CA: Berrett-Koehler.
- Schön, D. A. (1983). *The reflective practitioner: How professionals think in action*. New York, NY: Basic Books.
- Seth, S. (2014, September 25). Entrepreneur vs. small business owner, defined.

 http://www.investopedia.com/articles/investing/092514/entrepreneur-vs-small-business-owner-defined.asp
- Shane, S., & Venkataraman, S. (2000). The promise of entrepreneurship as a field of research. *Academy of Management Review*, 25(1), 217-226.
- Spence, G. (2017, October). Sleeper effects in executive coaching: A new direction for coaching research? Paper presented at the meeting of the Institute of Coaching: Coaching in Leadership and Healthcare, Boston, MA.
- Steier, F. (1991). Research as self-reflexivity, self-reflexivity as social process. In F. Steier (Ed.), *Research and reflexivity: Inquiries in social construction* (pp. 1-11). Newbury Park, CA: Sage Publications.

- Steier, F. (1995). Reflexivity, interpersonal communication, and interpersonal communication research. In W. Leeds-Hurwitz (Ed.), *Social approaches to communication* (pp. 63-87). New York, NY: The Guilford Press.
- Stelter, R. (2007). Coaching: A process of personal and social meaning making. *International Coaching Psychology Review*, 2(2), 191-201.
- Stelter, R. (2009). *Narrative coaching Towards personal and social meaning-making*. Paper presented at the Constructing Worlds Conference, August 20-23, 2009, Copenhagen, Denmark.
- Stelter, R. (2012). A guide to third generation coaching: Narrative-collaborative theory and practice. Dordrecht, The Netherlands: Springer.
- Stelter, R. (2014). Third generation coaching: Reconstructing dialogues through collaborative practice and a focus on values. *International Coaching Psychology Review*, 9(1), 51-66.
- Stelter, R., Nielsen, G., & Wikman, J. M. (2011). Narrative-collaborative group coaching develops social capital a randomised control trial and further implications of the social impact of the intervention. *Coaching: An International Journal of Theory,**Research and Practice, 4(2), 123-137.
- Stern, L. R. (2004). Executive coaching: A working definition. *Coaching Psychology Journal: Practice and Research*, 56(3), 154-162.
- Storey, J., Salaman, G., & Platman, K. (2005). Living with enterprise in an enterprise economy: Freelance and contract workers in the media. *Human Relations*, 58(8), 1033-1054.

- Sveningsson, S., & Alvesson, M. (2003). Managing managerial identities: Organizational fragmentation, discourse and identity struggle. *Human Relations*, 56(10), 1163-1193.
- Taylor, D. W., & Thorpe, R. (2004). Entrepreneurial learning: A process of co-participation.
 Journal of Small Business and Enterprise Development, 11(2), 203-211.
- Thornton, C. (2010). *Group and team coaching: The essential guide*. New York, NY: Routledge.
- Tuckman, B. W. (1965). Developmental sequence in small groups. *Psychological Bulletin*, 63(6), 384-399.
- Tuckman, B. W., & Jensen, M. A. C. (1977). Stages of small-group development revisited. *Group & Organization Management*, 2(4), 419-427.
- U.S. Small Business Administration. (2016). Summary of size standards by industry sector.
 Retrieved September 20, 2017, from https://www.sba.gov/contracting/getting-started-contractor/make-sure-you-meet-sba-size-standards/summary-size-standards-industry-sector
- Van Dyke, P. (2012). Virtual group coaching: The experience of business professionals in the process. (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from ProQuest Dissertations and Theses database. (UMI No. 3546895)
- Van Dyke, P. (2014). Virtual group coaching: A curriculum for coaches and educators. *Journal of Psychological Issues in Organizational Culture*, 5(2), 72-86.
- Vogel, M. (2012). Story matters: An inquiry into the role of narrative in coaching.

 International Journal of Evidence Based Coaching and Mentoring, 10(1), 1-13.

- Wang, C. L., & Chugh, H. (2014). Entrepreneurial learning: Past research and future challenges. *International Journal of Management Reviews*, 16(1), 24-61. doi: 10.1111/ijmr.12007
- Ward, G. (2008). Towards executive change: A psychodynamic group coaching model for short executive programmes. *International Journal of Evidence Based Coaching and Mentoring*, 6(1), 67-78.
- Watson, T. J. (2009). Entrepreneurial action, identity work and the use of multiple discursive resources: The case of a rapidly changing family business. *International Small Business Journal*, 27(3), 251-274.
- Weick, K. E. (1995). Sensemaking in organizations. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Weick, K. E., Sutcliffe, K. M., & Obstfeld, D. (2005). Organizing and the process of sensemaking. *Organization Science*, *16*(4), 409-421.
- Wenger, E. (1999). *Communities of practice: Learning, meaning and identity*. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press.
- Wenger, E. (2009). A social theory of learning. In K. Illeris (Ed.), *Contemporary theories of learning: Learning theorists... in their own words*. New York, NY: Routledge.
- White, M., & Epston, D. (1990). *Narrative means to therapeutic ends*. New York, NY: W. W. Norton.
- Whitley, S. (2013). Group coaching as support for changing lifestyle for those diagnosed with a long-term condition. *International Journal of Evidence Based Coaching and Mentoring*(Special Issue 7), 82-89.
- Whitmore, J. (2009). Coaching for performance: Growing human potential and purpose.

 Boston, MA: Nicholas Brealey.

- Winnicott, D. W. (1971). Playing and reality. London, UK: Penguin.
- Yalom, I. D. (1995). *The theory and practice of group psychotherapy* (4th ed.). New York, NY: Basic Books.
- Yalom, I. D., & Leszcz, M. (2005). The theory and practice of group psychotherapy. New York, NY: Basic Books.
- Zahra, S. A., Abdelgawad, S. G., & Tsang, E. W. K. (2011). Emerging multinationals venturing into developed economies: Implications for learning, unlearning, and entrepreneurial capability. *Journal of Management Inquiry*, 20(3), 323-330.
- Zhang, J., & Hamilton, E. (2009). A process model of small business owner-managers' learning in peer networks. *Education + Training*, *51*(8/9), 607-623.

THE EXPERIENCE OF GROUP COACHING

233

Appendix A: Colleague Recruitment Email

To:

Cc:

Subject: Doctoral research on group coaching and entrepreneurship

From: eostrowski@email.fielding.edu

Dear Colleague,

I am conducting doctoral research on entrepreneurs' experiences navigating entrepreneurial challenges in a group coaching context. This research will be used to fulfill the requirements for a PhD in Human and Organizational Systems at Fielding Graduate University. I am writing to ask for your help recruiting participants for my study.

I am looking for individuals who are currently participating in a group coaching program for entrepreneurs or business owners, and who may be interested in participating in the study.

Participation in the study will consist of one, 60-90 minute audio-taped interview.

Please contact me directly (at 617-460-2729 or via email at eostrowski@email.fielding.edu) if you are interested in learning more, if you would be willing to participate, or if you know someone else who may be interested.

Many Thanks,

Erek Ostrowski

Appendix B: Recruitment Flyer

BACKGROUND:

The challenges of entrepreneurship make learning integral to success. Business owners tend to experience three types of learning-related challenges: (a) challenges related to overcoming isolation, (b) challenges related to 'learning how to learn', and (c) challenges related to creating and managing a sense of an entrepreneurial self.

The purpose of this study is to explore entrepreneurs' experiences of navigating these challenges in a group coaching context.

REQUIREMENTS:

Participation will involve one, 60-90 minute recorded interview, scheduled at your convenience. The interviews are confidential and all identifying information will be removed from the final report.

POTENTIAL BENEFITS:

Engage in critical reflection that leads to insight and learning.

Consolidate learning from past experiences.

Further support your growth, development, and trajectory as an entrepreneur.

Enrich your understanding of group coaching and its value.

Business Owners...

Do you participate in group coaching?



Participants needed for a research study on business owners' experiences in group coaching

For more information, call: (617) 460-2729

Ask for Erek

This research is being conducted by Erek Ostrowski (eostrowski@email.fielding.edu), a doctoral student at Fielding Graduate University, and a professional certified coach (www.vervecoaching.com).

The research will be used to fulfill the requirements for a PhD in Human and Organizational Systems.

Appendix C: Participant Setup Checklist

Coming in from the Cold: Navigating Entrepreneurial Challenges through Group Coaching

When a qualified respondent has contacted me to participate in the study (by referral from a coach, or any other source), these are the items that need to get communicated in our initial conversation:

PURPOSE

| I UKI USE |
|---|
| The purpose of this study is to explore entrepreneurs' experiences navigating |
| business challenges in a group coaching setting |

| | Thank you for your interest in the study |
|----------|--|
| | Say who I am and what the research is for |
| | Overview of the interview process: |
| | Purpose of the study |
| | Determine eligibility |
| | Go over logistics: |
| | o Skype/Zoom |
| | Recording equipment |
| | Length of interview |
| | Types of questions I will ask |
| | Discuss Informed Consent |
| | Description of the study |
| | Benefits and risks |
| | Measures to ensure confidentiality and anonymity |
| | Schedule Interview |
| | Forms I will send |
| | |
| Criteria | a for inclusion of individual participants (REVISED): |
| | |
| | Must own and operate their own business |
| | o 1-50 employees |
| _ | \$15 million or less in gross annual revenue |
| Ш | If a startup, owner must have considerable financial investment at stake (not venture- |
| _ | funded) |
| Ц | Must have actively participated in an eligible group coaching program for 2 or more |
| | months, and at least 3 group sessions |

Appendix D: Informed Consent Form

Fielding Graduate University Informed Consent Form

Coming in from the Cold: Navigating Entrepreneurial Challenges through Group Coaching

Introduction/Purpose

You have been invited to participate in an interview for a research study conducted by Erek Ostrowski as part of his doctoral research at Fielding Graduate University in Santa Barbara, CA. The purpose of this study is to explore entrepreneurs' experiences of navigating learning-related challenges in a group coaching setting.

The challenges of entrepreneurship make learning integral to entrepreneurial success. Entrepreneurial learning (EL) is characterized not only by the acquisition of knowledge, but also the acquisition of identity, or learning who one can be, as an entrepreneur. Entrepreneurs tend to engage with three types of learning-related challenges: (a) challenges related to overcoming isolation, (b) challenges related to learning how to learn, and (c) challenges related to constructing and negotiating an entrepreneurial identity.

Social processes contribute to entrepreneurial learning and identity in important ways. While researchers have begun to explore the impact of social processes on EL, the intersection of group coaching and EL has yet to be explored. Further research is needed to understand how the social and experiential processes of EL unfold for entrepreneurs, specifically in relation to their group coaching experiences. This research seeks to address that gap. The results of this research will be published as a dissertation and may subsequently be published in journals, books or professional presentations.

Participation

You have been asked to participate in this study because you meet the selection criteria established for the research:

- 1. You own and operate your own small business or entrepreneurial venture
- 2. You have actively participated in an eligible group coaching program for at least two months, and at least three group sessions over time.

Your name was either known to the researcher, or given to him by mutual colleagues (your coach, another participant, etc.).

Interview

This study involves one interview, which is expected to last approximately 60-90 minutes, to be arranged at your convenience. The interview will be audio taped and

transcribed. The recordings and transcription material will then be separated from any identifying information. You will be asked to choose a pseudonym to replace your name within the transcriptions and any interview material used in the final report.

All participants who complete the interview will be offered the opportunity to review, comment on, and revise their interview transcript. If you decide to validate the transcription of your interview and/or suggest any changes that may be necessary, it is expected that you will need no more than 30 minutes to do so.

Potential Risks

The risks of participating in this study are considered minimal. You may experience emotional discomfort. Interviews may include questions that lead to the discussion of cognitive or emotional processes, memories of past events, or feelings associated with those memories, etc. You may decide that you do not wish to reveal this information and withdraw from the study at any time.

Benefits

Research has shown that entrepreneurs may benefit from situations that foster critical reflection and that facilitate sense making. The interview process may help you to reflect on and make sense of difficult situations and/or to learn from past experiences. Past studies of entrepreneurship have shown that the research interview itself has the potential to help foster reflection and consolidate learning. In addition, you may develop greater awareness of your entrepreneurial identity, as well as your sense of how you have evolved and grown as an entrepreneur over time, and what this means to you. You may develop further insights into your own entrepreneurial journey, and/or into how your participation in group coaching has helped facilitate that journey.

This research is part of a larger body of knowledge that explores entrepreneurial learning and identity, as well as coaching theory and practice. Participating in the study may include intrinsic benefit to you as results will assist individuals and groups in developing the necessary tools and perspectives to address complex issues with broad social and organizational ramifications.

Voluntary Participation

Your participation in this study is voluntary, and you have the right to withdraw from the study at any time without penalty or negative consequences. At any time, you may request that previously provided information be removed from the study. If you decide to withdraw from the study, please contact Erek Ostrowski to inform him of your decision.

Financial Considerations and Compensation

Participation in this study involves no cost to participants. Participants will not be compensated for their time.

Confidentiality

Study related records will be held in confidence. All responses will be confidential as allowed by the communication or delivery method used. Your consent to participate in this study includes consent for the researcher, supervising faculty, and possibly a confidential Research Assistant who may also see your data. Your research records may also be inspected by authorized representatives of the Fielding Graduate University, including members of the Institutional Review Board or their designees. They may inspect, and photocopy as needed, your records for study monitoring or auditing purposes. In addition, parts of your record may be photocopied.

Your anonymity will be protected by asking you to select a pseudonym which will be used in all documentation. This informed consent form and any identifying information will be stored on a secure, cloud-based drive separate from the rest of the study materials and data. Paper copies will reside in a locked document safe in the researcher's office.

All collected data will be stored electronically on the researcher's secure hard drive, as well as on a backup password-protected external drive. All research data gathered will be destroyed within three years following the completion of the study.

The published results of this research including the final dissertation, subsequent journal articles, books or professional presentations may include the use of direct quotes from this interview. Please be assured that all identifying information will be removed. Direct quotes will be attributed to the pseudonym of your choice.

You may request a copy of the summary of the final results by indicating your interest at the end of this form.

Additional Information

If you have any questions about any aspect of this study or your involvement, please tell the Researcher before signing this form. You may also contact the supervising faculty if you have questions or concerns about your participation in this study. The supervising faculty has provided contact information at the bottom of this form.

You may also ask questions at any time during your participation in this study.

If at any time you have questions or concerns about your rights as a research participant, contact the Fielding Graduate University IRB by email at irb@fielding.edu or by telephone at 805-898-4034.

Please sign this informed consent form, indicating you have read, understood, and agree to participate in this research, then return the signed form to the researcher and keep a copy for your files. The Institutional Review Board of Fielding Graduate University retains the right to access the signed informed consent forms and study documents.

I have read the above informed consent document and have had the opportunity to ask questions about this study. I have been told my rights as a research participant, and I voluntarily consent to participate in this study. By signing this form, I agree to participate in this research study. I shall receive a signed and dated copy of this consent.

| NAME OF PARTICIPANT (please print) | |
|--|--|
| SIGNATURE OF PARTICIPANT | |
| DATE | |
| Dr. Steven Schapiro, Dissertation Chair sschapiro@fielding.edu | Erek J. Ostrowski eostrowski@email.fielding.edu |
| Fielding Graduate University 2020 De La Vina Street Santa Barbara, CA 93105-3814 | 16 Myrtle Avenue Wakefield, MA 01880 |
| 800-340-1099 | 617-460-2729 |
| Yes, please send a summary of the study result (optional) provided below: | s to the email address or postal address |
| NAME (please print) | Email Address (please print) |
| Street Address | |
| City, State, Zip | |

Appendix E: Interview Guide

Coming in from the Cold: Navigating Entrepreneurial Challenges through Group Coaching

The focus of the interview will be to learn about entrepreneurs' experiences navigating challenges related to learning and identity in the context of a coaching group. In particular, how do these experiences influence or contribute to the way individuals make sense of entrepreneurship? In what way do these experiences influence or shape what it means to be an entrepreneur?

The in-depth, open-ended format of this interview is intended to allow participant's stories to emerge naturally and conversationally. The interview guide below is intended to help me, as the researcher, to stay connected to specific lines of inquiry. However, I do not plan to ask this entire series of questions—nor to ask them in this order. My goal in conducting the interviews is to stay as close as possible to each individual's own understanding of her or his experiences.

H

mind?

| Histor | ${f y}$ | | |
|--|--|--|--|
| Please | tell me a little bit about your business | | |
| | | | |
| | Size of business – gross annual revenue | | |
| | Size of business - # employees | | |
| | Years in business | | |
| | | | |
| Entrepreneurial Identity | | | |
| Please tell me the story of how you became an entrepreneur | | | |
| | | | |
| | How did your friends/family respond? How did you feel about it at the time? | | |
| | Who influenced your decision? | | |
| | What other influences (e.g., role models, education, life experience) contributed to | | |
| | your decision? | | |
| | When you think of your 'self' as an entrepreneur or a business owner, what comes to | | |

Overcoming Isolation

| Tell m | e the story of how you became involved with this group coaching program |
|-----------|--|
| | What was happening at the time? |
| | Think of a defining moment the moment when you decided to join this group |
| | What motivated you to join the group? |
| | What do you remember noticing about the group that made you want to be a part of it? |
| | Tell me about the moment you realized that you'd made the right choice |
| | Did you ever have doubts or second thoughts about the group? |
| | Tell me about a moment that illustrates what it's like having a coaching group |
| Thinki | ing How to Learn ing back across your experiences in this coaching group, what is one defining moment ally stands out to you? Tell me what happened, starting from the beginning |
| | How did the group contribute? |
| | In that moment, what were you thinking? How did you respond? |
| | How did the situation resolve? |
| | How did you grow or change as a result? How did your business change? |
| Windi | ng Down |
| Ц | Is there anything else that you would like to tell me about your group coaching |
| | experiences, about being an entrepreneur, or about your entrepreneurial journey? What are you taking away from our conversation today? |
| Wrap □ | Up May I follow up with you if I have any questions about what you've said today? |
| Coach | ing group characteristics: |
| | How many group members? |

| | How frequently did you meet, and for how long? | | | | |
|-----------------------|--|--|--|--|--|
| | Over what length of time did the group continue to meet together? | | | | |
| | ☐ Was the membership consistent from session to session, or did people rotate in | | | | |
| | out of the group? | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| Personal/Demographic: | | | | | |
| | Age | | | | |
| | Pseudonym | | | | |

Appendix F: CITI Certificate of Completion

COLLABORATIVE INSTITUTIONAL TRAINING INITIATIVE (CITI PROGRAM) COURSEWORK REQUIREMENTS REPORT*

* NOTE: Scores on this Requirements Report reflect quiz completions at the time all requirements for the course were met. See list below for details. See separate Transcript Report for more recent quiz scores, including those on optional (supplemental) course elements.

Name: Erek Ostrowski (ID: 5672243)
 Email: eostrowski@email.fielding.edu
 Institution Affiliation: Fielding Graduate University (ID: 708)

• **Phone**: 617-460-2729

Curriculum Group: Human Research
 Course Learner Group: Fielding Researchers
 Stage: Stage 1 - Basic Course

• Report ID: 20282006
• Completion Date: 07/21/2016
• Expiration Date: N/A
• Minimum Passing: 80
• Reported Score*: 97

| REQUIRED AND ELECTIVE MODULES ONLY | DATE COMPLETED |
|--|----------------|
| Belmont Report and CITI Course Introduction (ID: 1127) | 07/20/16 |
| History and Ethical Principles - SBE (ID: 490) | 07/20/16 |
| Defining Research with Human Subjects - SBE (ID: 491) | 07/20/16 |
| The Federal Regulations - SBE (ID: 502) | 07/20/16 |
| Assessing Risk - SBE (ID: 503) | 07/21/16 |
| Informed Consent - SBE (ID: 504) | 07/21/16 |
| Privacy and Confidentiality - SBE (ID: 505) | 07/21/16 |
| | |

For this Report to be valid, the learner identified above must have had a valid affiliation with the CITI Program subscribing institution identified above or have been a paid Independent Learner.

CITI Program

Email: citisupport@miami.edu
Phone: 305-243-7970
Web: https://www.citiprogram.org